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PART I

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015

2014 2015 2014

Interest income:

TradiNg SECUITIES......cuiieiie ettt e
ShOrt-tErM INVESIMENTS ......vviiieie ettt sr e sre e s s e s srae e s eaes

TOtal INTEFESt EXPENSE......ecveeveereeteceeereete e eeeeeeee e e e e e ereetesaestestesteseeseseenneneeseas
NEL INEErESE INCOME ...ttt
Provision for Credit [0SSES.........oiiiiirenrenee s
Net interest income after provision for credit [0SSeS........ccccveveieviececviceenene,

Other revenues:

Credit Card fEES ..o
Trust and investment management fEES..........ovvvvrvrrinei e
Other feesand COMMISSIONS ........cccireireirieererere e
Trading revenuE (EXPENSE) ......ccuevuereereeieeeeetesesse e s e saesre e sressessesaeseeneeseenes
Net other-than-temporary impairment 10sses™............cco.oovvervenrvsreeineinnenn.
Other SecuritieS gaiNs, NEL.......o.eoeiereeeeeeer e
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........ccocevvvnecineiinecncee,
Residential mortgage banking reVeNUE. ..o
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives
OthEr TNCOME.......cuiieeiiicrie et
TOtal OtNEE FEVENUES.......ceiieeeireeirieses et

Operating expenses:

Salaries and employee DENEFItS........coocrireree e
Support services from HSBC affiliates.........coovevvenninneeceeeeeeee
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL ... i ieeeiieeesie e seeee e ete e see e e aeeeesneeeesneeeens
OthEr EXPENSES .....ccvecieiieciecte ettt st s sr e te st se e e eae e eneeneas
Total OPErating EXPENSES......cceieirierecieirereeeeree e e ee e reste e sresbestesaeseaeaeneesens
Income (10SS) bEfore iNCOME taX........coccererierererer s
Income tax expense (DENEFIL) ..o
Ny AT o SRS

(in millions)

$ 539 $ 483 $ 1555 $ 1418
234 182 657 583
75 63 261 176
30 22 78 58
15 9 44 31
893 759 2595 2,266
77 37 177 108
13 11 35 27
184 165 524 487
2 3 10 (91)
276 216 746 531
617 543 1,849 1,735
47 23 94 124
570 520 1,755 1611
11 13 32 40
46 35 127 98
188 186 560 541
(34) ) 23 139
— 4 — (11)
11 27 69 42
53 53 162 151
16 17 50 87
165 36 306 20
75 32 69 40
531 386 1,398 1,147
254 226 767 664
361 388 1,098 1127
57 59 172 168
114 261 376 601
786 934 ~ 2413 2,560
315 (28) 740 198
111 (29) 285 (86)

$ 204 $

1 $ 455 $ 284

@ During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, there were no other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") |osses on securities recognized in
other revenues and no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of securities recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI"), net
of tax. During thethreeand ninemonthsended September 30, 2014, OT TI |osseson securitiesheld-to-maturity totaling $4 million and $11 million, respectively,
were recognized in other revenues. There were no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of such impaired securities recognized in AOCI, net of tax.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
NEL INCOME .. ..evteteececeetct ettt e e ss s s s s s s e e e s s s s enen e $ 204 $ 1 $ 455 $ 284
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:
INVESEMENT SECUMTIES ...ttt st 5 (87) (236) 218
Other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity.............cccee.e. — 6 — 9
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges........oeovveevieineinenscence e (32) (5) (20) (40)
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans..........ccoccveeneiieinenseneee — — 1 —
Total other comprehensive iINCOME (10SS).......ccuviueiuiereereieeerecteceeeeeeeee e 27 (86) (255) 187
Comprenensive iNCOME (I0SS) .......cvcvcueieiiieerie ittt st se e nens $ 1717 $ (89 200 $ 471

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions, except share data)

Assets®
Cash and dUue fromM DANKS .........c.ceiriieieriece st $ 914 % 891
Interest bearing deposits With Banks ...........cccoccvieieiiicccee e 22,300 30,807
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell 20,423 1,413
TrAOING BSSELS. .. v e iviieriiteectirt ettt b et e et e st seste e ebeseeneste e be e neee 15,652 21,092
SECUNTIES AVAI AN E-FOM-SAIE .....ecveeeee bbbttt 35,937 30,140
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.8 billion and $13.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively) 14,479 13,469
0 SRR 84,942 77,741
Less— dlowance for credit losses 678 680
Loans, net 84,264 77,061
Loans held for sale (includes $175 million and $384 million designated under fair value option at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, reSPECLIVEIY) ...cvivrueuiriririeirrieieererie st 368 612
Properties and QUIPMENT, NMEL ........cooiiiieeeeee ettt e et e et e e e e s e e e eae st enese e e eaeseenesteneeneseeneaen 232 247
INEANQIDIE @SSELS, NEL.......ee ettt b et e e e e b e s e e me et e e ebeseenese et ebeseeneseeneeneseeneaen 172 206
1000 11 1 U 1,612 1,612
(041 = 55 PP 8,013 7,989
TOLAL BSSBES ... vveeeereeeeee et et etees et et eee et eeseeeeseeeeeeas et eseaseteaseneeeeaseseaeeneneeaseneaeentasennentneeneenenneneeseeenenneneareneenensennanennenen $ 204,366 $ 185539
Liabilities™
Debt:
Domestic deposits:
NONINEEIESt DEAING....vcvcviveieteretereteiete ettt ettt b et be bbb bbb e b e s et et ebesetebebesesebebesetebeseseseteranas $ 33,956 $ 29,715
Interest bearing (includes $6.5 billion and $7.3 billion designated under fair value option at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, reSPECHVEY) ......c.cvrveevceeeeeeeeeee e, 79,503 71,191
Foreign deposits:
NONINEENESE DEAIING . ..cve vttt ettt e e e e e s b e e e be st e be s b e s ebessesessensebessensssensesea 747 850
DR L= ==l o= ] oo TSRO PRSPPRRR 17,244 14,362
TOAl EPOSIES ....vevvvieieieieie ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt bbbt et bbb e b b e b et b e bbb et e s et b b et et b ebebebebebebebebebesetebetnsas 131,450 116,118
Short-term borrowings (includes $2.1 billion designated under fair value option at September 30, 2015). 8,948 12,795
Long-term debt (includes $8.6 billion and $8.8 billion designated under fair value option at September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, rESPECHIVEIY) ....c.vruererreiecieieieeie ettt et be s 33,018 27,524
LI = 1 L= o SRS 173,416 156,437
QLI o[0T T =TT L 1= PP 6,336 8,164
Interest, taxes and OthEr [HADIIITIES. ........c..iieeiiecee ettt e st e st e st e e beeteenbeenreerseeneeeneens 3,794 3,971
B0 1= LI LT oL 1T 183,546 168,572
Shareholders' equity
L S L= (= 0 I (o o: TR 1,265 1,565
Common shareholders equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 and 713 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively) — —
Additional paid-in Capital........cccoerreeenririeere s 18,173 14,170
REtAINEd EAIMINGS.......coveiiiiieeicieiee et b e enan 1,638 1,233
Accumulated other cOmpPrehenSIVE [0SS........coveuiirrieeeeer s (256) (0]
Total common shareholders' EQUILY..........coevrreiirreesre e 19,555 15,402
Total ShAreNOIdErS” EOUILY.......ccvciiviieiitee ettt ettt sa bt se b e e be st e e be s esesbeseenan 20,820 16,967
Total liabilities and Shareholders” BQUILY..........ccciucuiiiieieeeeice ettt ettt $ 204,366 $ 185,539

@ Thefollowing table summarizes assetsand liabilitiesrelated to our consolidated variableinterest entities ("V1Es") as of September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assetsand liabilities excludeintercompany balancesthat eliminatein consolidation. See Note 16, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.
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September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Assets
$ 338 % 380
$ 338 % 380
Liabilities
[0 To o 1= 440 (= o TR $ 92 % 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities... 69 75
QLI0 L N T o 3OoUPTTTT $ 161 $ 167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

2014

(in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning Of PEMOG. ...ttt ee et e se e s ene e sennnen $ 1565 $ 1,565
Preferred StOCK redEMPLION. ......c..i ettt sttt b e sttt e e ae st e e b e e enesbeneebe e eneen (300) —
2F = aTorcT A= oo ol 1= o o H SRS 1,265 1,565
Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEITOA ........c.ciiiiiiniee bbb e — —
Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning Of PEITOA. ... ...couiiiieee ettt sttt ae st b e e ne e e e b e e ne e 14,170 14,106
Capital CONLIIDULION FrOM PAIENT ........ceiereeeeerre et 4,000 —
EMPIOYee DENEFIT PIANS ...ttt 3 3
2 F = aTorcT = g o ol 1= o o H OSSPSR 18,173 14,109
Retained earnings

Balance at beginning Of PEITOA.........co.iiiiee ettt b et b et b e b b e es 1,233 952
[N = T o USRS 455 284
Cash dividends declared 0N Preferred StOCK ..o e (50) (55)
2 F = aTorcT A= g o ol = o o SRS 1,638 1,181
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOU. ...ttt ettt ene s 1) (159)
Other comprehensive inCome (10SS), NEL Of 18X ......voueiriririrerereeereree ettt neees (255) 187
2 T =0T [ 0 4 oo OSSP (256) 28
Total common shareholders' equity 19,555 15,318
Total SHArENOIAEIS’ EOUILY ......eiviieiisiciee ettt se b b e e e s b e e es e s e sessenentensenenean $ 20,820 $ 16,883

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

2014

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities

N B 00T OSSP $ 455 $ 284
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 122 87

Provision for credit 10SSes........c.cocovvrrneviriene, 94 124

Other-than-temporary impairment related to securities held-to-Maturity .........ccoveerrneinnneireer e — 11

Net realized gains on securities availabl - fOr-SAlE.........couecirrieeirree e (69) (42

Net change in other assets and [HahilitIES ..........cvririreeererr e e en (463) 338

Net changein loans held for sale:

Originations and purchases of 10aNS Neld fOr SAlE ..o s (1,823) (1,040)
Sales and collections of 10aNS hEld fOr SAIE ..o 1,974 1,004

Net changein trading assetS and [HabiliTtIES...........ccvviieiiicice e 3,612 5,097

Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for Sale..........cciiieicininnieneeee 15 2

Loss (gain) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives. (306) (20)
Net cash provided by Operating @CtiVItIES .........c.ciiiiieiirrieerre bbbt 3,611 5,841
Cash flows from investing activities
Net changein interest bearing deposits With DanKS..........co.ociiiii e 8,507 (6,765)
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementSto resell ..........ccoeveereinennieneenenieens (19,010) 1,023
Securities available-for-sale:

Purchases of securities available-fOr-Sale ..o s (17,435) (11,775)

Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale 9,882 23,600

Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-Sale...........cccuiiiiiiiiiiccrce e 1,596 3,037
Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of seCuritieS NElO-t0-MEEUNILY .........ceriiririreereee ettt e ee s s (2,890) —

Proceeds from maturities of securities held-t0-MELUIILY ..o 1,856 305
Changeinloans:

Originations, NEL OF COHBCLIONS ........cuiiiiiieiiiririet ettt ettt b b e bt (7,229) (6,707)

[0z g 1R o) Lo B (ol { gl o o 7= 1= SRTERSTTOTRSN — 790
Net cash used for acquisitions of Properties and EQUIPIMENE ..........cocorreirrreerriee et sbe e (29) (23)
OENET, NMEL ...t ettt st e e bt ebe s b e seebe st eseebeasebe s ese et ensebeseessebensebeseeneebeseebesbeneebeseetestenneteeenin (384) 34
Net cash provided by (Used in) INVESIING 8CHVITIES........ccuvieeerireeeerreee et (25,136) 3,519
Cash flows from financing activities
INEL ChANGE TN JEPOSIES. ...tttk b bbb bt E bt e b bt st b bRt e b e bt et bebe e et ne e e 15,358 (4,048)
Debt:

Net change in Short-terM DOMTOWINGS.......c.ccioiiiiiieicieiee ettt et b e s se st e e esesseneas (3,851) (7,271)

1SSUANCE OF [ONG-TEIMN GBI ...ttt b et b et b et b b e e e b et e e ebesneneas 15,775 4,984

Repayment of long-term debt (9,387) (2,921)
Preferred StOCK FEAEMPLION. ..ottt ae st e b et e se e b e e e sessese b e e esesbeneesensesessanessensanens (300) —
Capital CONLIIDULTION FrOM PAIENT .......coviveiiieeiec ettt bbbt b ekt ne b e et 4,000 —
Other increases (decreases) in Capital SUMPIUS........cviiiiiriciericie et r e e b b neebe e enas 3 3
DIVIAENAS PEIG........vevertetetetet ittt bbb bbb bbb e bbb b bR b b e bbb e e b s e bbb e e b s e s (50) (55)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 21,548 (9,308)
Net change in cash and due frOmM DANKS..........co.eoiiireee et b e e et snene s 23 52
Cash and due from banks at beginning Of PEFOM............ceiriiiir s 891 961
Cash and due from banks at eNd OF PEFIOU............cciieiiirieierieie ettt besae e be e enas $ 914 $ 1,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financia statements.
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1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, isaNew York State based bank holding company and
anindirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North AmericaHoldingsInc. ("HSBC North America'), whichisanindirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC USA and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financia
information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, aswell asin accordance with predominant
practices within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all norma and recurring
adjustments considered necessary for afair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods have been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we", "us" or
"our". These unaudited interim consolidated financial statementsshould beread in conjunctionwith our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for theyear ended December 31, 2014 (the"2014 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been madeto prior period amounts
to conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of resultsin future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Trading assets:
U.S. TIEASUIY ....vvieeiieteee ettt ettt ettt sttt se et bese e s b ebesess s et eb et s ebebese s esebebensssabebens s eresenin $ 2,869 $ 2,675
U.S. Government agency issued Or QUAraNtEEA .........cc.ecuevuereeieeieeee e sttt s 10 3
U.S. Government SpoNSored ENtENPHISES™Y...........owurveeeeieresseesseeesesesssessssssesessssssesessssssess e 156 45
Obligations of U.S. states and political SUDAIVISIONS..........coeereirinininniree e 572 591
ASSEL DACKE SECUNTIES ...t 440 481
Corporate and fOreign DONGS............coiiiriiie e e 5,559 9,681
Ot SECUMTIES . ...viuteeieeeeeeee ettt sttt e e e e e e e e s e e e e seesessesaesbestesaeseenteeenennsenseneennenens 18 22
PrECIOUS MELAIS ...ttt ettt r et n s 1,893 1,992
D A7 (A= o1 USRS 4,135 5,602
TOtal trAdiNG @SSELS.....cocueiiveteeiicieieteeetee ettt sttt et e et et eae s st et e s e bebe e s seseseneas $ 15652 $ 21,092
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, NOt YEL PUICNESEM...........ccouiveieiceeice et bbb $ 717 % 683
Payables for PreCioUS MELAIS..........cor i — 22
DIENVALIVES, NEL ...ttt b bbbt e e b bt ber et nenens 5,619 7,459
Total trading [18DIITIES........ceiee bbb $ 6,336 $ 8,164

@ Consists of mortgage backed securities of $156 million and $45 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $5,714 million
and $4,811 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master
netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilitiesis net of $1,681 million
and $1,724 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments,” for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.

10
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
September 30, 2015 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. TTEBSUIY ...ttt sttt sttt sttt et et $ 12,656 $ 190 $  (177) $ 12,669
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES ..o, 677 3 4) 676
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccereienenerieneere e 159 — (1) 158
Direct agency Obligations.........cccuvveireieiesiesiesesese e seeseeee e eesesesnens 4,145 159 a7 4,287
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........ccvveiiiiiiicicic e, 12,785 67 (112) 12,740
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccereienenerieneere e 736 12 (1) 747
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........cccoveeininiennnn, 763 9 4) 768
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
CommeErcCial MOMGAgES .. .evveveereeiereereeeeere s e e e e e eeseeresnesnens 22 — — 22
HOME BQUITY ..ot 87 — 8 79
(@111 TSRS 111 — (18) 93
FOreign AEDt SECUIMTIESD ...t es e ee e 3,551 5 (24) 3,532
EQUITY SECUFTIES.......iiiiieieceeece ettt 164 3 1) 166
Total available-for-Sal@ SECUMTIES. ........ccviieeiiee et $ 35856 $ 448 $ (367) $ 35,937
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........c.cueeveeeereeeeceteeee et $ 4871 $ 146 $ (5) $ 5,012
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES ..o 3,404 33 (3) 3,434
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........c.coeverenenesienieieseeeeereeeeans 6,177 116 1) 6,292
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........ccccceevevvevereeriennnns 19 1 — 20
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 8 1 — 9
Total held-to-maturity SECUMTIES........cccveveveeeeeeeeteeeeee et $ 14479 $ 297 $ 9) $ 14,767
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Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2014 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TIEASUMNY ...veveeireteteeses e teese st te e sessssesesessete e e s sesassssssssasesessesasessssnsesens $11,793 $ 276 $ (58) $ 12,011
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUMTIES..........ccovuieiciieiicic e 520 5 ) 524

Collateralized mortgage obligations...........cevvevenenerenereeereeeeese e 35 — — 35

Direct agency obligationS..........cccceveeeieiesesie e seee et snens 3,995 217 (6) 4,206
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES........ccivviieie et eneas 7,985 101 27 8,059

Collateralized mortgage obligations..........ccevvevirerenenereeereeeeese s 329 3 2 330
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccceevvvvevenienennnns 661 10 (4) 667
Asset backed securities collateralized by:

CommeErcial MOMGAgES. ....cveiereeeeieeee s e ste e sre et sae e e e e resresaesnens 43 — — 43

[ [0 TC =0 1] RN 97 — (8 89

@ 13T T 110 — (16) 9%
Foreign debt SECUMIESD).............eoeeeeeeeee e eeee e 3921 6 (12) 3915
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...t s 165 3 (N} 167

Total available-for-sale SECUNTIES........oiviirire e $29654 $ 621 $ (135) $ 30,140

Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES........ccivviiere et eneas $ 4868 $ 120 $ () $ 4,987

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES........cciiieiere et eneas 3,700 53 (D 3,752
Collateralized mortgage obligations..........c.ceovveverererenereeeereeeeese e 4,867 54 (1 4,920
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccceevvvveveniennnnnns 23 1 — 24
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 11 1 — 12
Total held-to-mMaturity SECUFTIES........cccviiieice e $ 13469 $ 229 $ (3 $ 13,695

@ Includes securities at amortized cost of $803 million and $521 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, and $33 million and $34 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively.

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, foreign debt securities consisted of $559 million and $689 million, respectively, of securities fully backed
by foreign governments. The remainder of foreign debt securities represents public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

®  Includes securities at amortized cost of $3,289 million and $3,185 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, and $1,582 million and $1,683 million issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Net unrealized gains decreased within the available-for-sal e portfolio in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily
to rising yields on longer-term U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities coupled with increased
investmentsin these securities aswell as sales of U.S. Treasury securitiesthat were in anet unrealized gain position at December
31, 2014.
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The following table summarizes gross unrealized losses and related fair values as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014
classified asto the length of time the losses have existed:

September 30, 2015

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ......co.c.....

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Asset backed securities.
Foreign debt securities..
Equity securities............

Securities available-for-sale..........ccocvvveeenennee.

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Securities held-to-maturity

December 31, 2014

(dollars are in millions)

33 $ (162 $ 5,187 4 $ (15) $ 358
149 (19) 1,137 18 3) 192
41 (106) 8,061 3 7) 106
17 (2) 173 17 2) 156
— — — 9 (26) 185
7 (24) 2,412 1 — 192
(1) 158 — — —
248 $ (314) $ 17,128 52 $ (53) $ 1,189
138 % (5) $ 564 47 % — $ —
93 (4) 1,051 676 — 4
— — — 3 —
231 $ 9 $ 1,615 726 $ — 3
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

Securities available-for-sa e:

U.S Treasury ................

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Asset backed securities.
Foreign debt securities..
Equity securities............

Securities available-for-sale...........coccocveeinen.

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Securities held-to-maturity

(dollars are in millions)

6 $ (47 $ 3459 4 $ (1) $ 1546
2 (1) 128 24 (6) 391
30 (20) 2,046 10 ) 213
34 2 146 23 2 194
1 — 3 9 (24) 199
5 ©) 1,805 3 ©) 898
1 (1) 158 — — —
79 $ (80) $ 7,745 73 % (55 $ 3441

144 $ @ $ 394 47 $ — 3 —
103 ) 985 800 — 2
— — — 3 — 1
247 $ 3 $ 1,379 850 $ — $ 3

Although the fair value of aparticular security is below its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in acredit loss and hence
an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, theilliquidity of the market.
We have reviewed the securities for which there isan unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance with our
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accounting policies, discussed further below. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we do not consider any of our debt
securitiesto be other-than-temporarily impaired aswe expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor expect
to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual maturities.
However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periodsif the credit quality of the securities deteriorates.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On aquarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
eventsor economic circumstancesto indicate that asecurity with an unrealized | oss has suffered other-than-temporary impairment.
A debt security is considered impaired if itsfair value is less than its amortized cost at the reporting date. If impaired, we assess
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. Animpairment isalso considered other-than-temporary if acredit lossexists(i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flowsisless than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit |oss exists, the credit 1oss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit lossis recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (l10ss).

For al securities held in the avail able-for-sal e or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized |osses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a compl ete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 5, "Securities,”" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no material changesin our process
for assessing impairment during 2015.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, none of our debt securities were determined to have either initial
other-than-temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment estimates relating to the credit
component, as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, none of our debt securities were determined to have initial other-
than-temporary impairment whiletwo hel d-to-maturity asset-backed debt securities, which werepreviously determined to be other-
than-temporarily impaired, had changes to their other-than-temporary impairment estimates related to the credit component. The
additional credit loss associated with the impaired debt securities, which reflects the excess of amortized cost over the present
value of expected future cash flows, was $4 million and $11 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014,
respectively, and was recorded as a component of net other-than-temporary impairment losses in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income.

The following table summarizes the rollforward of credit |osses which have been recognized in income on other-than-temporary
impaired securities that we do not intend to sell nor will likely be required to sell:

Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014

(in millions)
Beginning balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
COMPrehensive iNCOME (I0SS) .....c.urueuiiririeiirerieiee sttt $ 68 $ 61
Increase in credit losses for which an other-than-temporary impairment was
Previously FECOGNIZEM ........c.eiveiiieeirieerieer ettt ettt ene e 4 11
Ending balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
COMPrehensive iNCoME (I0SS) ........cueiiiiiieeiieiteee sttt saens $ 72 $ 72

Certain asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio have an embedded financial guarantee provided by monoline
insurers. Because thefinancial guaranteeis not a separate and distinct contract from the asset-backed security, they are considered
asingle unit of account for fair value measurement and impairment assessment purposes. In evaluating the degree of reliance to
be placed on the financial guarantee of a monoline insurer when estimating the cash flows to be collected for the purpose of
recognizing and measuring impairment loss, consideration is given to our assessment of the creditworthiness of the monoline and
other market factors. Based on the information available, including any actions undertaken by the regulatory agencies over the
monoline insurers and their published financial results, we perform both a credit as well as aliquidity analysis on the monoline
insurers each quarter. Our analysis also includes a review of market-based credit default spreads, when available, to assess the
appropriateness of our assessment of the monoline insurer’s creditworthiness. A credit downgrade to non-investment grade iskey
but not the only factor in determining themonolineinsurer’sability to fulfill itscontractual obligation under thefinancial guarantee.
Although amonoline may have been downgraded by the credit rating agenciesor ordered to commuteitsoperationsby theinsurance
commissioners, it may retain the ability and the obligation to continue to pay claims in the near term.
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At September 30, 2015, we held 13 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $173 million of
the total aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $194 million at September 30, 2015. The gross unrealized losses on
these monoline wrapped securities were $26 million at September 30, 2015. We did not take into consideration the value of the
monoline wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers as of September 30, 2015 and, therefore, we only considered the
financial guarantee of monoline insurers on securities for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impairment on securities
with afair value of $79 million.

At December 31, 2014, we held 15 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $183 million of
thetotal aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $226 million at December 31, 2014. The gross unrealized losses on these
monoline wrapped securitieswere $23 million at December 31, 2014. We did not take into consideration the val ue of the monoline
wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers as of December 31, 2014 and, therefore, we only considered the financial
guarantee of monoline insurers on securities with a fair value of $89 million for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary
impairment.

Other securities gains (losses), net Thefollowing table summarizesrealized gainsand | osses on investment securitiestransactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
(€0 (o= =0 o 13T $ 13 $ 45 $ 86 $ 113
Gross realized [0SSES.........ccviiiii 3] (18) (%)) (71)
N = 2= o [ T T $ 11 $ 27 $ 69 $ 42
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Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sale and securities held-to-maturity at September 30, 2015 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual
maturitiesbecauseborrowershavetheright to prepay obligationswithout prepay ment penaltiesin certain cases. Securitiesavail able-
for-sale amounts exclude equity securities as they do not have stated maturities. The table below also reflects the distribution of
maturities of debt securities held at September 30, 2015, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of the portfalio.
Theyields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization
of premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at September 30, 2015. Yields on tax-exempt obligations have been
computed on a taxable equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury.....coeeveereecneenesenesenennes $ 1,321 83% $ 4540 114% $ 3539 227% $ 3256 3.01%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLENPrISES ..ovveveeeeerieerieesiees e — — 2,753 2.98 1,201 242 1,027 2.96
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........ccveeereeerrieneseneenes — — 6 420 35 388 13,480 2.62
Obligations of U.S. states and political
sSubdivisions.........cccccecevieiiecices — — 72 421 249 262 442  3.36
Asset backed securities.........ccocovevenee. — — — — — — 220 3.26
Foreign debt securities..........ccocvvvvennene 378 1.78 3,173 133 — - — _
Total amortized COSt.........ccvveeevvveeeriiieinenne $ 1699 1.04% $ 10544 170% $ 5024 234% $ 18425 2.73%
Total fair value......ccocoeeevicececececeies $ 1,704 $ 10,663 $ 5117 $ 18,287

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENLEIPIISES cvuviuriseererieree et $ — —% $ 92 140% $ 618 262% $ 4,161 2.95%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........ccveeereereieneneneenes — — 1 775 43 3.02 9,537 238
Obligations of U.S. states and political
sSubdivisions .........cccoceceeiieiecece, 2 404 7 4.09 5 341 5 532
Asset backed securities.........coovveevenens — — — — — — 8 6.50
Total amortized COSt.......ccooveevvieiiceieene $ 2 404% $ 100 167% $ 666 266% $ 13,711 2.55%
Total fair value.......cccceeveeeeeeecieiececece s $ 2 $ 102 $ 685 $ 13,978

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of $323 million and $632 million, respectively,
were included in other assets at September 30, 2015. Investmentsin Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank
stock of $108 million and $483 million, respectively, were included in other assets at December 31, 2014.
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4, Loans

L oans consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESEALE........ccccvviie e $ 12,096 $ 10,300
Business and corporate Danking .............cciiiiceee s 19,514 17,819
GIOBE DANKING™ ...ttt ee st s e eeees e se e es e seeesseeees 29,808 26,387
(@107 ool 001001 (o - TS 3,334 3,581
QI = oo 010 - 64,752 58,087
Consumer loans:
RESIAENtIAI MOMGAGES ......eeevieetirieieriet ettt bbbt et es 17,460 16,661
HOME EQUILY MOIGAJES .......coeuiieeeieieie st 1,639 1,784
(@=L =0 OSSR 682 720
(@107 ol 1S U 0 R 409 489
QI o0 101 U011 20,190 19,654
TOUE [OBNS. ... $ 84942 $ 77,741

@ Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on aglobal basis. Also includes |oans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See Note 13, "Related Party Transactions,” for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination fees totaled $61 million and $34 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. At
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $13 million and $10 million,
respectively.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans Thefollowing table summarizesthe past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The aging of past due amountsis determined based on the contractual delinquency
status of payments under theloan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been
made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices
such asre-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due
Total Past Due
At September 30, 2015 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate.........cceeveeevveeeeeeesveenn, $ 15 $ 5 % 20 $ 12,076 $ 12,096
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeerienenienenennn 10 24 34 19,480 19,514
Global banKing.........ccoevievierieiercereeee e — — — 29,808 29,808
Other COMMEICIA .......ceveiieie e 3 6 9 3,325 3,334
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoevieeiecieeecee e 28 35 63 64,689 64,752
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgagesS......covvverevererereereeesesreseseseeseenees 373 800 1,173 16,287 17,460
Home equity MOMgagES. ... ..cvrverereeereeerieeseeeseeeseeseeseseenes 14 49 63 1,576 1,639
(O o ] o o S 10 9 19 663 682
Other CONSUMET ......ooeiiieie et 7 8 15 394 409
TOtal CONSUMEY......ccoiiieeiieiteeite ettt ettt sre e 404 866 1,270 18,920 20,190
TOtal |0ANS ...ttt bt $ 432 $ 901 $ 1,333 $ 83,609 $ 84,942
Past Due

Total Past Due
At December 31, 2014 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate..........cooveeveveeieecesnenns $ 25 3 2 $ 47 $ 10,253 $ 10,300
Business and corporate banking ..........cccccceeeeeeeererereneennn. 32 9 41 17,778 17,819
Global banKing..........cccceieviiieveceereee e — — — 26,387 26,387
Other COMMEICIAl ....cveeeveiereeeee e 15 6 21 3,560 3,581
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoeiieectecieceeeere e 72 37 109 57,978 58,087
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages.......ccooveeveveeieriereeeeeseee e 390 931 1,321 15,340 16,661
Home equity MOIgages..........ccoveeirriceenenscee s 21 56 77 1,707 1,784
Credit Cards.... .o 11 10 21 699 720
Other CONSUMEY ......ccccvieitieeteeeieeeteeeee e sre e sreseereeeseeennes 9 9 18 471 489
TOtal CONSUMES.......c.viitie ittt ettt st see e 431 1,006 1,437 18,217 19,654
TOtal |OANS ......cciceiceee e $ 503 $ 1,043 $ 1546 $ 76,195 $ 77,741

@ Loanslessthan 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate 49 $ 65
Business and corporate banking ..........ccceveveieiereeienieseses e se e este s e se e se s sesresresaesresteseesnens 74 74
GlODEI DANKING ...t e et e ettt sb e b e et s b b e e neas 21 —
Commercial nonaccrual 10anS held fOr SAlE........cuviciiiiicecccec e e 58 43
TOA COMMEITIAL. ...ttt ettt sttt sttt et et e et e seebese et e seebeseeneneenens 202 182
Consumer:
Residential mortgages®®® 790 847
Home equity mortgages'®® 67 68
Consumer nonaccrual 10anS held fOr SAlE.......iiiciiiececcc e 3 4
TOLAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt et e et e e aeesbe e e e sbeeaaesbeeatesbeesbesbeenbesbeenbeeaeeseeneesseeneesaeensesaenn 860 919
Total NONACCIUING J0ANS........cciieeceeeeee e et re st e s resresresbeseesrenen 1,062 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and Corporate Banking ..........coceeeeeerieeeserieseseseseeseessesseseeseeseeseeseesessessessessesssssessesseseens 1 1
TOLAl COMMIBICIAL.......eiueeeieieeeet ettt b e bt e b b e et e e et et ebeeb e s bt ebesbeseeseennan 1 1
Consumer:
CIEOIt CAIUS ...ttt et ettt e bt b e st b e bbb et sttt e s 9 10
(@107 ol g 1S 1 0= r TSP PO 10 10
TOtAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt et et e e e e e ae e ae e steeaeesbeeatesbeesbeebeenbesaeenseeaeesseeanesseeneesaeensesaean 19 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOYe..........ccccceveeceeeriencesesiese e 20 21
Total NONPEITOrMING J0ANS......c.iiiicceceee et be et e e besae b e besresrennan $ 1,082 $ 1,122

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include $740 million and $817 million, respectively, of loansthat are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loansinclude all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter
7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association
("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual oans had been

current in accordance with contractual terms during the period..........cccoeeveevvierveennne. $ 21 $ 23 $ 65 $ 77
Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest
iNCOME dUiNG the PO ..o e 5 6 17 20
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide
for termsthat are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower’s financia condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial |oans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, achangeininterest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal or accrued interest . A substantial amount of our modificationsinvolveinterest rate reductionswhich lower the amount
of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive in future periods. Through lowering the interest rate and other loan term
changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from the loan, given the
borrower’s financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for either based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rates which generally resultsin a higher reserve requirement for these loans or
in the case of certain secured loans, the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Once a consumer loan is classified asa
TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off or charged-off. For commercia loans, if subsequent performance
isin accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014 there were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014 and as aresult of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and Other real ESLALE..............cccvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ — % — 3 4 & —
Business and corporate banking..........ccocceeeerererienene e 87 5 137 16
Global DANKING......coveiieiiii s — — 13 —
Other COMMEICIAL.......ccuiieicieie s e eresreers — — — 10
Total COMMEICIAL......ccueiieeiectieeee ettt e b et s ae e eesreesreeneas 87 5 154 26
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMQAgES......cocvieieieeee et resre e 47 38 117 117
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES ... coeeueeuerieeieeiesie sttt s sbe e 1 1 2 3
Credit CAIOS ...c.vieeeecteceecte ettt sttt e e ae e be e e sbeeaesaeetesbeentesreens 1 1 3 4
1= o001 U101 49 40 122 124

TOUBL ... $ 136 $ 45 $ 276 $ 150

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 was 1.62 percent and 1.76 percent, respectively, compared with 1.64 percent and 1.55
percent during thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. The wei ghted-average contractual rate reduction
for commercial loans was not significant in either the number of loans or rate.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

September 30, 2015

December 31, 2014

Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying  Principal
Value Balance Value Balance
(in millions)
TDR Loans?®:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real etate...........cooveceeieecie e $ 104 $ 115 $ 186 $ 201
Business and corporate Danking ............ccceeeererenenenene e 145 160 24 51
Global DANKING. .....cecvieie e 21 22 — —
Total COMMEICIA ......c.eeiecieeecee et a e re s 270 297 210 252
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrgages™...........coooivrreieeieeeeeseeesessee e sess s seeseseens 1,055 1,226 972 1,139
HOME €qUItY MOMGAGES™ .........ocveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeesees e es st 22 49 20 44
L= [ o= o S 5 5 6 6
TOLAl CONSUMEN........oeieeeeceeeteeeeeeeeee et e e et te e e ste et e s testestesteseseenseseeneeaeeseeaeeseereeses 1,082 1,280 908 1,189
Total TDR LOBNS™........ooooeeoeeeeeeeeeseeeseeese s sesssssssesneses $ 1,352 $ 1577 $ 1208 $ 1,441
Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans®®: -
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real etate..........ccoeeceeieecieiicececeeeeeeee e $ — $ 4
Business and corporate Danking ..........c.ccceeeerenenenenenie e 3 5
Global DANKING. .....cccveieeiie e — —
Total COMMEICIA ......c.eeieieeecee et a e re s 3 9
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMQAQES.......coivieeieriererere et sae et te e entesnaens 38 43
HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES ....c.eeveeetereete sttt ettt 2
L= [ o= o S 2
TOtAl CONSUMEY........eiitieiecieete ettt et e et ste s e besaee st e eaeesbeeaeesbeenresreenns 40 47
Total alowance for credit [0ssesfor TDR LOANS......ccvivieeeiiieiecceec et $ 43 $ 56

(0]

TDR Loansareconsidered to beimpaired | oans. For consumer loans, all suchloansare considered impaired loansregardlessof accrual status. For commercial
loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $62 million and $85 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,

2014, respectively.

The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated
loans, partia charge-offs and premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the carrying value reflected above includes $858 million and $763 million, respectively, of loans that are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the carrying value reflected above includes $520 million and $485 million, respectively, of loans which

are classified as nonaccrual .
Included in the alowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real ESate..........c.cceeveeeireeecece e $ 112 $ 202 $ 147 $ 233
Business and corporate Danking...........coccverrennineeneeese e 106 29 70 24
Global banKiNG .......cceieiieesee e e 17 — 12 13
Other COMMENCIE .......cceieieie ettt s aeereens — — — 9
Total COMMEICIAL........cueeieiieecee e st teeneens 235 231 229 279
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMgagES........covvuerireerieiriereeseses et 1,037 949 1,004 935
HOME EQUILY MOMQBOES ....cveveeeierieierteerie ettt sttt ebe e 22 19 20 19
(@0 ] oo 6 8 6 8
TOt@Al CONSUMEY ......oeeieieecie ettt et e e s te e eesaeeeesreestesae e sesanetenneans 1,065 976 1,030 962
Total average balance of TDR LOANS........ccccucuiieiirerieiicieeteee et $ 1,300 $ 1207 $ 1,259 $ 1241

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans;
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real EStaLe..........ccvevevereeeiiieecreeeceeeeee e $ 1 % 2 3 3 3 9
Business and corporate banking...........cocoverrinninnieneeseese s 1 — 2 —
TOtal COMMEICIAL ... be e en 2 2 5 9
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMtgagES.........cvrueireirieiriereese et 9 9 27 26
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES .....coeeuerierieeienierie ettt sre e se — — 1 1
TOtAl CONSUMEY ......oieeeiieecte ettt ettt et e re e s aeeaesbeestesaeesbesanetesneens 9 9 28 27
Total interest income recognized 0N TDR LOANS.......cccvvieeviceriee e $ 1 $ 11 $ 33 $ 36

The following table presents loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which for commercial
loans became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent or for consumer loansbecame 60 daysor greater contractually delinquent
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESLALE..............cccvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ — % — 3 2 $ 12

Business and corporate DanKing............coeceerrenneneeneeseenee e 7 — 10 —

QLI oo 0= o - 7 — 12 12
Consumer loans:

ReSidential MOMGAgES.......c.ucerveuerieirieistee ettt ere e 6 10 23 27

HOME EQUILY MOMQAOES ......cveueevereeeeetese e te e see st e e s e e e ene s ssesnesrenes 1 — 1 —

TOtAl CONSUMEY ......cvieieiiieie sttt et e et e e s e s e e s te e e et e esseere e s e eneesesneesneennas 7 10 24 27
L0, ST ROTSTTTRRIN $ 14 3 10 $ 336 $ 39
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Impaired commercial loans Thefollowing table presentsinformation about impaired commercial loansand therelated impairment
reserve for impaired commercial loans:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment  Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves® Reserves® Loans®® Reserve Balance
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015
Construction and other real estate.........c.cccoeveeveveveveeevnenee. $ 2 $ 114 $ 116 $ 1 3 136
Business and corporate banking...........ccccceeveereneneneseenens 59 130 189 14 226
Global banKing ........ccooeveveiereecce s — 21 21 — 22
Other COMMEXCial ........ccoveeeeiceceeee s — 6 6 — 6
Total COMMENCIAl........ccveeeecierceeece e $ 61 $ 271 $ 332 $ 15 $ 390
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and other real estate.......cccoovevvcvvcenvivneeenne $ 18 $ 179 $ 197 $ 5 % 224
Business and corporate banking..........cccccveeeveeeeneseennene 72 18 90 24 122
Global banKing .........ccoeevrereinere e — — — — —
Other CoOMMErCial ........ccoveeeeeeiiieee e 2 6 8 1 8
Total COMMECIAl......ccoeeieeeeeeeee e $ 92 % 203 $ 295 $ 30 % 354

@ Reflectsthe carrying value of impaired commercial oansand includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred fees
and costs on originated loans and any premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

@ Includesimpaired commercial loansthat areal so considered TDR L oanswhich totaled $270 million and $210 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.
The following table presents information about average impaired commercia loans and interest income recognized on impaired
commercia loans;

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Construction and other real ESEALE..........ovvrrrrrrrrrerr e $ 124 $ 208 $ 161 $ 252
Business and corporate banking...........coceveeerererienene e 139 40 116 37
Global DANKING ......coveiieiie s 17 — 12 16
Other COMMENTIA .......covvereiirerrereeer s 7 10 7 21
Total average balance of impaired commercial [0ans...........cccoceeeeeeeeceeeenns $ 287 $ 258 $ 296 $ 326
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Construction and Other real BSALE..........ccuerereerererreee e $ 1 % 2 $ 3 % 9
Business and corporate banking...........coceveeerererienene e 2 — 3 —
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercia loans..........ccccoceveverenes $ 3 % 2 % 6 $ 9
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan

portfolio:

Criticized loans Ciriticized loan classifications are based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. Problem loans are assigned
variouscriticized facility grades. We al so assign obligor grades which are used under our allowance for credit |osses methodol ogy.

The following facility grades are deemed to be criticized:

»  Special Mention — generally includes loans that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but
are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken our

credit position at some future date.

»  Substandard —includes loans that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of
the customer. These loans present a distinct possibility that we will sustain some lossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

»  Doubtful —includes loans that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard loans, with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, although the possibility
of lossis extremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision

to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.
The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Construction and other real estate.........c.c.cceveeeeeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 119 $ 193 $ — 3 312
Business and corporate banking............cocceoerereneneneneneneeeeeenene 1,031 578 16 1,625
Global BanKing.........ccoverrinrieneee e 2,424 634 — 3,058
Other COMMENCIal.........ccouiiieeeee e 2 6 — 8
Total COMMEICIAl ....c.coeeeeeeeeceeece e $ 3576 $ 1,411 $ 16 $ 5,003
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and other real estate.........ccceveeeeeeerceeeeeeeeeeee e $ 310 $ 230 $ 7 % 547
Business and corporate banking..........ccccooeeeernienseneeneeeeeee 1,001 238 22 1,261
Global banKing.......ccccoeveeiererecece e 1,770 202 — 1,972
Other COMMENCIal.........ccoiieeeeee et 1 6 — 7
Total COMMEICIAl ....ceeeeeeeeeeeeecece e w $—676 $—29 m
Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Construction and other real estate........cccceveveveeeveccee s $ 12,047 $ 49 $ — % 12,096
Business and corporate banking ..........cccceeeeerenenenenenesennns 19,439 74 1 19,514
Global banKing ........cccceevieieieieese e 29,787 21 — 29,808
Other COMMEICIA .......oooeeiieeie e 3,334 — — 3,334
Total COMMECIA .......ccoeeieeice e $ 64,607 $ 144 $ 1 % 64,752
At December 31, 2014

Construction and other real estate........cccceeeveeeeeceeceeceeieee $ 10,235 $ 65 $ — % 10,300
Business and corporate banking .........ccccceeeeeeieniesenesesesennns 17,744 74 1 17,819
Global BanKing .........cccoeeviiiie e 26,387 — — 26,387
Other COMMEICIal .......cocecviiiiceeese e 3,581 — —_ 3,581
Total COMMECIAl .......ocoeeireeceeeecee e $ 57,947 $ 139 $ 1 % 58,087
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercia loan portfolio:

Non-
|nvestm%nt Investment
Grade( ) Grade Total

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Construction and Other real EEALE .........cceecveiiececeee e e $ 9674 $ 2422 $ 12,096
Business and corporate DanKinNg ..........cccoeveereereereresee e 10,896 8,618 19,514
GlObEl BANKING ... e e eneas 23,632 6,176 29,808
OthEr COMIMEICIAL .....c.eivieitieetee ettt 1,851 1,483 3,334
TOtal COMMEICIAL ......cccveiieeieceecte ettt st e s st e e e st e e st e sbeenseebeenneereennas $ 46,053 $ 18,699 $ 64,752
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and Other real EStAE ........cocvrereee e e $ 7820 $ 2480 $ 10,300
Business and corporate DanKiNg ..........coeeererererieneeeeeerese st e 8,835 8,984 17,819
Global BANKING .....cvevieicicieccee e es 23,400 2,987 26,387
Other COMMEICIAL .....ooveecieectee ettt et e ree e ae e sae e e ebeeeaeeebeeeneeenreesans 1,873 1,708 3,581
TOtal COMMEICIAL .......cveieeeiececte ettt sttt e et e st e e nreebeereeneennas $ 41928 $ 16,159 $ 58,087
(6]

Investment grade includes commercial 1oans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total
loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Delinquent Delinquency Delinquent Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio
(dollars are in millions)
Residential Mortgages™®@ ... $ 868 497% $ 1,013 6.07%
Home equity Mortgages™@ ..., 54 3.29 62 3.48
(O 0[] oo 13 191 14 1.94
(@191 g o015 U 0 1= S 13 2.64 14 2.52
TOtAl CONSUMET .......oieeieeeee ettt ettt ettt et te e es st eesbe e tesaeesbesreesteereeaes $ 948 467% $ 1,103 5.59%

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $794 million and $936 million, respectively, of loans that
are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loans include $598 million and $658 million, respectively, of loans that were in the
process of foreclosure.

@
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Residential MOrtgagesS......cocvveriererererereereeereee s $ 16,670 $ 790 $ — $ 17,460
HOME eqUIity MOMGBgES .....ceveeereeerereeiereeeeseeesr e 1,572 67 — 1,639
(O o ] oo S 673 — 9 682
(@115 e 010150 11 SR 399 — 10 409
TOtal CONSUMES ...t e e see e sresne e neas $ 19314 $ 857 $ 19 $ 20,190
At December 31, 2014 - -
Residential MOrtgagesS......ccoovvvrererenerereereeeeee e $ 15814 $ 847 $ — $ 16,661
Home equity MOMQAgES .......cceiereereeiee e 1,716 68 — 1,784
Credit CardS .....ccueceeeieceececeee e e 710 — 10 720
(@101 e 01015111 0= SR 479 — 10 489
TOtAl CONSUMES ...ttt ettt ettt e saee e $ 18,719 $ 915 $ 20 $ 19,654

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our loan portfolio included interest-only residential
mortgage loans totaling $3,640 million and $3,531 million, respectively. An interest-only residential mortgage loan allows a
customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for aperiod of time which resultsin lower payments during the
initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect the ability of customers to
repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of thisloan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changesin the allowance for credit losses by product and the related |oan balance by product
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PEXIOT ..o $ 8 $ 260 $ 130 $ 18 $ 83 $ 27 $ 33 $ 8 $ 648
Provision charged (credited) to income.... ?3) 32 16 1 3) 2) 7 1 47
Charge offs.......cocevncenenieereeeeenes — (11) — — (3) 1) (8) 1) (24)
RECOVENES ... 1 2 — — 2 1 1 — 7
Net (charge offs) recoveries.........cceuune. 1 9) — — (1) — 7 1) @an
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PENIOU ..o $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 $ 79 $ 25 $ 33 $ 8 $ 678
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PENIOO cooooo $ 94 $ 180 $ 9% $ 13 $ 149 $ 42 % 39 % 11 $ 624
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 9) 36 — 1 (11) (5) 9 2 23
Charge offS.......cccevneeenenicereeeens — (5) — — 9) 3) (10) 2 (29)
Recoveries 1 2 — 3 2 2 — 13
Net (charge offs) recoveries 1 (©)] — (6) 1) ()] 2 (16)
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PEMIOO. .o $ 86 $ 213 $ 9 $ 17 $ 132 $ 3 $ 40 $ 11 $ 631
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PEXIOT ..o $ 8 $ 275 $ 107 $ 21 $ 107 $ 32 $ 39 $ 10 $ 680
Provision charged (credited) to income.... (4) 54 39 ?3) 9) 4) 14 7% 94
Charge offS......ccceueeeeereceeeeeeeas ) (55) — 1) 27) (6) (24) (11) (126)
RECOVENTES ... 4 9 — — 8 3 4 2 30
Net (charge offs) recoveries...........cccuuu... 2 (46) — 1) (19) ®3) (20) 9) (96)
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PEITOO ..o $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 $ 79 $ 25 $ 33 $ 8 $ 678
Ending balance: collectively evaluated
for impairment .........ccccoeeeeeevevenennnn. $ 86 $ 269 $ 146 $ 17 $ 41 3 24 $ 32 % 8 $ 623
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ..........cccooeeevereennrennns 1 14 — — 38 1 1 — 55
Total allowance for credit losses.............. $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 3 79 $ 25 $ 33 % 8 $ 678
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment®.. ¢ 11,980 $ 19,325 $29,787 $ 3328 $ 15801 $ 1561 $ 677 $ 409 $82,868
Individually evaluated for impairment® .. 116 189 21 6 214 5 5 — 556
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair valuelesscost to sell ..o — — — — 1,445 73 — — 1,518

Total [0aNS........ccocvvieicrene $ 12,096 $ 19,514 $29,808 $ 3,334 $ 17,460 $ 1639 $ 682 $ 409 $84,942
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Allowance for credit losses — beginning

(o)1 7< 1o o [T $ 108 $ 112 $ 68 $ 20 $ 186 $ 49 $ 50 $ 13 $ 606
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 1) 111 36 (12) (20) (11) 18 3 124

Charge offs ... (24) (16) 3 — (45) (11) (33) (7) (144)

RECOVENES.....oeeveiiieiciieceeeeeee 3 6 — 9 11 9 5 2 45
Net (charge offs) recoveries.........cccceuu... (21) (10) 8) 9 (34) (@) (28) 5) (99)
Allowance for credit losses — end of

PENOA ..o $ 86 $ 213 $ 9% $ 17 % 132 3 36 $ 40 $ 11 $ 631
Ending balance: collectively evaluated

for impairment ... $ 84 $ 206 $ 9% $ 16 $ 81 $ 34 $ 38 $ 11 $ 566
Ending balance: individually evaluated

forimpairment .........ccccoeeeeveveveeeevenennne 2 7 — 1 51 2 2 — 65
Total alowance for credit losses.............. $ 86 $ 213 $ 9% $ 17 3 132 3 36 $ 40 $ 11 $ 631
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment®.. $ 9459 $ 17,318 $24001 $ 3035 $ 14662 $ 1753 $ 679 $ 465 $71,372
Individually evaluated for impairment® .. 202 37 — 10 224 5 7 — 485
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair valuelesscost to sell ..o — — — — 1,516 66 — — 1,582

Total loans $ 9661 $ 17,355 $24001 $ 3045 $ 16402 $ 1824 $ 686 $ 465 $73,439

@ Global Banking includes loans to HSBC affiliates totaling $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively,
for which we do not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Eachloanisindividually identified asaTDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR L oanswith similar characteristics. Thediscounted
cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair valueof thecollateral lesscost to sell which totaled $858 million and $741 million at September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015

2014
(in millions)

COMMECIAI JOANS ....c.eveciee ettt ettt et e s s b e e b e e be e sabeebeesabeesbeesabeesbeesnseebessabeeneesanes $ 269 $ 528
Consumer loans:

RESIENLI Al MOTTGAGES ....eveeeeete ettt e e ettt be b bt ebe st e saesaesbesbesnens 16 18

ONEE CONSUMIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt s et e st et e eaeesbeeaeesbeeasesbeensesaeessesaeesbesaeebesseebesseetenes 83 66

BI0 = 00 1 o = SR 99 84

Total |0aNS NEIA FOF SAE......ciiciectececece ettt e re et e sae e be e aeesreeneesbeennesaean $ 368 $ 612

We originate commercia loans in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent of
selling the loans to unaffiliated third parties. We also purchase commercial |oans from the secondary market and hold theloans as
hedges against our exposureto certain total return swaps. The commercial loans under these programs are classified ascommercial
loans held for sale and we have elected to designate these loans under the fair value option. The fair value of these commercial
loans held for sale was $175 million and $384 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See Note 10,
"Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Commercial loans held for sale also included $27 million and $44 million of global banking loans at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively, aswell as commercial real estate loans totaling $67 million and $100 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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We sell all our agency eligible residential mortgage loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation
("PHH Mortgage"). Gainsand lossesfrom the sal e of residential mortgageloansarereflected asacomponent of residential mortgage
banking revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale
are subprime residential mortgage loans with afair value of $3 million and $4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively which were acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance")
with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. PHH Mortgage is obligated to purchase agency eligible loans
from us as of the earlier of when the customer locks the mortgage |oan pricing or when the mortgage loan application is approved.
As such, we retain none of the risk of market changesin mortgage rates for these loans.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercia loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance
on consumer loans held for sale was $14 million and $15 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Thevaluation allowance on commercial loansheld for salewas $21 million and $5 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015

2014
(in millions)
MOrtQage SENVICING FIONES ....cveieeeiiieicie ettt sttt sttt st se et e et e seebenaeseseenens $ 130 $ 159
Purchased credit card relationShiPS.........coeeererieeeeeeeer e se e e 42 47
Total INtANGIDIE BSSELS......eeciieeiiet et $ 172 $ 206

Mortgage Servicing Rights (""MSRs") A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually
specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the
financial assets. We recognize the right to service mortgage loans as a separate and distinct asset at the time they are acquired or
when originated loans are sold.

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these
economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to
offset changesin thefair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involvestrading activity, risk isquantified and managed using
anumber of risk assessment techniques.

MSRs areinitially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are sold and remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date. Changes in fair value of MSRs are reflected in residential mortgage banking revenue in the period in which the changes
occur. Fair valueis determined based upon the application of valuation models and other inputs. The valuation modelsincorporate
assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows. The reasonableness of these valuation models is
periodically validated by reference to external independent broker valuations and industry surveys.

The following table summarizes the critical assumptions used to calculate the fair value of MSRs:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Annualized constant prepayment rate ("CPR™)......cooi i 16.5% 15.9%
CONSLANT ISCOUNT FAEE.......ccteteieeetee sttt ettt et e e ee e e e e e e e e e eaeeaeeaeebesbesaesbesbesenseens 13.5% 14.1%
Weighted average life (IN YEarS) ......cv et 4.0 41
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The following table summarizes M SRs activity:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
BeginNiNg DAlANCE .....c.cveieieeeeceeee e $ 158 $ 186 $ 159 $ 227
Changes in fair value due to changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions... (21) 2 (13) (22
Reductions related to CUSIOMET PAYMENES ....c.vcvviriereeeriee e @) (6) (16) (23)
ENAING DAlANCE .....cvierereeieiecceceeic ettt enneeeas $ 130 $ 182 $ 130 $ 182

The outstanding principa balance of serviced for others mortgages, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $20,266 million and $23,101 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue and totaled $13 million and $43 million during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $17 million and $52 million during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

During 2013, we completed the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage. Under the
terms of the agreement, PHH Mortgage provides us with mortgage origination processing services as well as the sub-servicing of
our portfolio of owned and serviced for others mortgages with an outstanding principal balance of $38,786 million and $40,889
million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Although we continue to own both the mortgages on our
balance sheet and the mortgage servicing rights associated with the serviced loans at the time of conversion, we now sell our
agency eligible originations to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis which results in no new mortgage servicing rights
being recognized.

Purchased credit card relationships 1n 2012, we purchased from HSBC Finance the account rel ationships associated with $746
million of credit card receivables which were not included in the sale to Capital One Financial Corporation at afair value of $108
million. Approximately $43 million of thisvaluewasassociated with the credit card receivablessold to First NiagaraBank, National
Association and was written off at the time of sale. The remaining $65 million was included in intangible assets and is being
amortized over the estimated useful life of the credit card relationships which isten years.

8. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,612 million at both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Included in goodwill for these periods were
accumulated impairment losses of $670 million.

During the third quarter of 2015, we completed our annual impairment test of goodwill and determined that the fair value of all
of our reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts, with the book value of each reporting unit, including allocated goodwill,
being 72 percent or less of fair value.

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (@) financial
instruments held for trading, (b) hedging instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting
principles or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

Thefollowing table presentsthefair value of derivative contracts by major product type on agrossbasis. Grossfair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting aswell as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, aswell as
cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreements that do not meet the criteria for
netting. Derivative assetsand liabilitieswhich are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to anetting
agreement where an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceabl e has not been either sought or obtained,
have not been netted in the table bel ow. Wherewe havereceived or posted collateral under netting agreementswhere an appropriate
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legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related collateral also has
not been netted in the table below.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
assets liabilities assets liabilities

(in millions)
Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges®

OTC-CEAEAD ......c.ooooeeeeeee e eesssssssones $ 3 3 353 $ 18 206
Bilaeral OTCP . ... eesseeeees s ssssseseeesssss s sssss s sssssssenssssssss e 2 287 4 268
INEEreSt Fate CONTIACES .......ccciiiieceiceeteee et s s e nenns 35 640 5 474
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges®
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® .............coovvoeeveeeeeeseeeeeseeeeeeseeeseeseesseeeseees 100 — 45 —
OTC-CIEAEID ...t s s ssssssssesensssssssannessses 6 9 8 6
Bilateral OTC? 1 160 — 161
Interest rate contracts 7 169 8 167
Total derivatives accounted for as hedges............ccoeueueieieeeieieeeieeeceee e 142 809 58 641
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXChBNGELIA0EAD ...t s s ee s ses s see e ees e s s s eeseeseee s ses s 52 66 46 43
OTC-CEAEAD ... seeeseenn 24,067 23,155 16,862 17,557
BilGteral OTCP ... ees s ees s eesssess s 23,276 24,136 28,370 28,398
INEErESt FAE CONTIACTS .......c.vcvecviiteeceetectee ettt b e e be et enesnennere e 47,395 47,357 45,278 45,998
EXChBNGEIA0EUP ..ot eeeees s eee s sse e see st eeseeseesstsee s nes e eesresee s — 38 — 13
BilBtEral OTCP ..o s s essses s esssees e 25,621 23,594 22,219 20,826
FOreign eXChange CONTIACTS ...........ccueeeeveeeeeeetee ettt et b s sa b se e s s 25,621 23,632 22,219 20,839
Equity contracts - DIlAteral OTC® ..........oovveoeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeesesessseseesseseseseseseesseseeseseaees 1,549 1,547 1,635 1,632
EXChBNGEIA0EUP ..ot eeeses s s s s s see e st eesee e ssssee s nes e eesresee s 31 39 59 18
Bilateral OTC? 985 477 1,013 501
Precious metals contracts 1,016 516 1,072 609
OTC-CIEAEID ... eeseee e eesssses e eesesses e eesssses e eeneees 926 1,194 604 730
Bilateral OTCP ...........covovvveeeeeeseesseeese e sessssessssesssss e sssssssssssssssssssessesesssssssssss s 3,696 3,408 3,518 3,288
Credit contracts 4,622 4,602 4,122 4,018
Other derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
Interest rate contracts - DIlAteral OTCD ... eeeeeeeeeesesees e see s 816 101 768 88
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC@ .........oooovoovoveeeeeeeseeeeseeeeseeesseseseeseinees — 102 — 44
Equity contracts - Dilateral OTC® ...........ooovooveeeeeeeeeeseeeeseeeeeseeeesseseeseseeesseeeseesee s enees 337 553 757 167
Precious metals contracts - Dilateral OTCP ... eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeeeseeenes — 2 — 5
Credit contracts - bilateral OTC® ... eeeee e e eeeee e e seeesseeen 149 7 73 9
TOtAl AEFIVALIVES. ..ottt n s ee 81,647 79,228 75,982 74,050
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
AGTEEMENTS ) ettt 70,354 70,354 63,913 63,913
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master
NELtING AGIEEMENTST® | . oo oot ee e ee e s seeseeese e e eee st ees s see et see s nesseseesreseesree 5714 1,681 4811 1,724
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 5,579 7,193 7,258 8,413
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to
enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance sheet. 1,008 3,043 1,837 4,398
Net amounts of derivative assets / lIabilities ..............ccooviviiieieieeciieieeeeee e $ 4571 $ 4150 $ 5421 $ 4,015

@ Derivative assets/ liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded
in other assets/ interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
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@ Over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through master netting agreements and obtaining collateral.
OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central clearing
counterparty becomes the counterparty to both of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized exchange
that provides pre-trade price transparency. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining
required by central clearing counterparties.

®  Trading related derivative assets/liabilities are recorded in trading assets/trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
®  Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.
®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

®  Nettingisperformed at acounterparty level in caseswhere enforceable master netting agreementsarein place, regardless of thetype of derivativeinstrument.
Therefore, we have not attempted to allocate netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

SeeNote 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged A ssets and Repurchase Agreements," for further information on offsetting rel ated
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires usto identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities aswell asforecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using aregression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument ishighly effectivein offsetting
changesin the fair value or the cash flows attributabl e to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the rel ationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar denominated) assets and liabilities
fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and
futures contracts and foreign currency swaps to minimize the effect on earnings caused by interest rate and foreign currency
volatility. The changesin the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continuesto
exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges which increased the carrying amount of our debt by $25 million and
$13 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with increases of $0 million and
less than $1 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. We amortized $2 million and $5 million of basis
adjustments related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value hedge relationships of our debt during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $1 million and $6 million during thethreeand ninemonthsended September
30, 2014. The total accumulated unamortized basis adjustments amounted to increases in the carrying amount of our debt of $29
million and $21 million as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Basisadjustmentsfor activefair value hedgesof available-for-sale (" AFS") securitiesincreased the carrying amount of the securities
by $412 million and $234 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with a
decrease of $21 million and an increase of $317 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. The tota
accumulated unamortized basis adjustments for active fair value hedges of AFS securities amounted to increases in the carrying
amount of the securities of $628 million and $458 million as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their location on the consolidated statement of
income:

Net Ineffective

Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized
Interest Income Interest Income
(Expense) Other Income (Expense) Other Income Other Income
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (51) $ (434) $ 922 $ 414 $ (20)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 7 27 (22) (25) 2
TOtAl ..oeece e $ 44) $ (407) $ 70 $ 389 $ (18)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ 61) $ 10 $ N 3% (10) $ —
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 2 — — — —
TOA oo s $ (59) $ 10 $ M % (10) $ —
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (154) $ (229) $ 2713 $ 217 % (12)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 16 15 (55) (13) 2
TOA oo $ (138) $ (214) $ 218 $ 204 % (10)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (188) $ (396) $ 289 $ 391 % ©)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 7 @ (16) 1 —
L OO $ (181) $ (397) $ 273 $ 392 $ (5)

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. Asapart of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changesin fair value of aderivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss). When
the cash flows for which the derivative is hedging materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss
from the hedging derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is reclassified into earnings
in the same accounting period in which the designated forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. If a cash flow hedge
of aforecasted transaction is de-designated because it is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continue to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) unlessit is probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time
period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or lossis released into earnings.

As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, $3 million and $8 million of lossesrel ated to terminated
and/or re-designated cash flow hedge relationships were amortized to earnings from AOCI compared with losses of $2 million
and $4 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. During the next twelve months, we expect to amortize
$19 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting from these terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedges. The interest
accrual related to the derivative contract is recognized in interest income.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instrumentsin cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their [ocations
on the consolidated statement of income:

( ) ( ) Gain (Lossd)
Gain (Loss Gain (Loss . . Recognize
Recognized Reclassed Location of Gain in Ingcome
in AOCI on . . From AOCI (Loss) Recognized on the
Derivative Location of Gain into Income in Income Derivative
(Effective (Loss) Reclassified (Effective on the Derivative (Ineffective
Portion) from AOCI Portion) (Ineffective Portion and Portion)
—_— into Income _ Amount Excluded from  o——
2015 2014 (Effective Portion) 2015 2014 Effectiveness Testing) 2015 2014
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchange contracts.... $ (2) $ 1 (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome $ — $ —
Interest income
Interest rate contracts.............. (51) (11 (expense) ?3) )] Other income — —
Tota ..o, $ (53) $ (10 $ 3% (@ $ — $ —
Nine Months Ended September 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchange contracts.... $ (1) $ 2 (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome $ — $ —
Interest income .
Interest rate contracts.............. (36) (72) (expense) 8) (@] Other income — —
L. D $ (37) $ (70) $ (8 % (9 $ — $ —

Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities 1nadditionto risk management, weenter into derivativeinstruments,
including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure
tradesto facilitate clients’ needs for various risk taking and risk modification purposes. We manage our risk exposure by entering
into offsetting derivatives with other financial institutions to mitigate the market risks, in part or in full, arising from our trading
activitieswith our clients. In addition, we al so enter into buy-protection credit derivativeswith other market participantsto manage
our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes, realized and unrealized gains and
losses are recognized in trading revenue or residential mortgage banking revenue. Credit losses arising from counterparty risk on
over-the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an adjustment
to the fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging activities include:
« Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured

notes and structured deposits, for which we have elected fair val ue option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-
qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges.

e Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of animpairment |ossoccurring inaloan that iseconomically hedged, theimpairment lossisrecognized asprovision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income.

»  Forward purchase or sale of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities designated to economically hedge mortgage servicing
rights. Changesin thefair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in residential mortgage
banking revenue.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit and loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in gain (10ss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related derivatives, other income or residential mortgage banking revenue while the derivative asset or liability positions are
reflected as other assets or other liabilities.
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Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gainsand losses on derivativeinstrumentsheld for trading purposes and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest rate contracts..........ccovevvceriiecnne Trading revenue $ 260 $ 215 $ 801 $ 183
Interest rate CoNtractS.......c.covereverererererenenes Residential mortgage banking revenue 28 2 34 33
Foreign exchange contracts...........ccccceeueee. Trading revenue (372) (182) (521) (99)
Equity CONractS ........covveeeeurerereeeerereeerenenes Trading revenue (3) — — —
Precious metals contracts..........ccoceeeeeeuene. Trading revenue 25 36 44 54
Credit CONractS.......covovveveereereresrereeresenenns Trading revenue (23) (76) (40) (191)
TOEA .o $ (85 % (9) 318 $ (20)

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging activities
and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest rate CoONtractsS.......c.cervereeeeernerereenn. Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives $ 164 $ 42 $ 131 $ 269
Interest rate contracts..........ccoveeviieiviinne Residential mortgage banking revenue 1) — — —
Foreign exchange contracts.............c.coev.... Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (18) 5 (13) 18
Equity CONracts ........coovererrereceerrereeereennes Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (533) (67) (401) 272
Precious metals contracts..........c.oovveerennes Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (D) (12 — 12
Credit CONracts........cccveevrrerenereneresenennee Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives — (1) 3) —
Credit CoNtractS........cooevereererereereeeeeee Other income 92 3 69 (8
TOEl .o $ (297) (30) $ (217) $ 563

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. If HSBC Bank USA, National Association's ("HSBC Bank USA") credit ratingswereto fall below the current ratings,
the counterpartiesto our derivative instruments could demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral
required to be posted will depend on whether HSBC Bank USA is downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value
of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that werein aliability position as of September 30, 2015
was $6,961 million, for which we had posted collateral of $5,866 million. The aggregate fair value of al derivative instruments
with credit-risk-related contingent featuresthat werein aliability position as of December 31, 2014 was $7,006 million, for which
we had posted collateral of $6,136 million. Substantially all of the collateral posted isin the form of cash or securities available-
for-sale. See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements,” for further details.
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Thefollowing tablessummarize our obligationto post additional collateral (fromthecurrent collateral level) in certain hypothetical
commercially reasonabledowngradescenariosof our longtermratings. It isnot appropriateto accumul ateor extrapol ateinformation
presented in the tables below to determine our total obligation because the information presented to determine the obligation in
hypothetical rating scenarios is not mutually exclusive.

Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Moody’s Aa3 Al
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted Upon downgrade ............cooveereieneieneieneic e $ — 3 95
Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Standard & Poor's (""'S&P") A+ A
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade...........covverereereereeceeereese e $ 95 $ 142

Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

September 30, 2015  December 31, 2014
(in millions)

Interest rate:

FULUIrES aNd fOIWAITS. ....c.cuveiicecicseceee e $ 156,332 $ 87,406
SWVBIIS ...vveveiesteneete et st e b se st se et st et et st st s et b ettt E et R e e Ee e eteneeReeaeReeteneeteneete e ereeas 2,722,290 3,096,382
(07 0]1T0) 0153 Y] 110 o 84,752 70,903
(O] 0]110) 1Y 0 0o 7= < = o [ 92,306 83,524
3,055,680 3,338,215
Foreign exchange:

Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeerirere e 931,756 866,835
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 96,815 117,088
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 93,521 118,350
S o0 OSSPSR 69,689 58,700
1,191,781 1,160,973

Commaodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeirirece e 39,102 48,263
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 16,223 18,015
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 29,812 23,452
85,137 89,730
Credit AENVALIVES ...ttt ettt e et s s nans 209,944 240,737
10, PSR S $ 4542542 $ 4,829,655

10. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("1FRS"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVQO")
accounting to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and the
Group Reporting Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments. We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate long-
term debt issuances and hybrid instruments which include all structured notes and structured deposits. Changes in fair value for
theseassetsand iabilitiesarereported asgain (l0ss) oninstrumentsdesignated at fair val ueand rel ated derivativesin the consolidated
statement of income.
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Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swapsand include theseloans asloans held for salein the consolidated balance sheet. The el ection allows usto account
for these loans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Interest from these loans
isrecorded asinterest income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the
fair value option are floating rate assets, changesin their fair value are primarily attributable to changesin |oan-specific credit risk
factors. Thecomponentsof gain (loss) rel ated tol oansdesignated at fair val uearesummari zedin thetabl ebel ow. Asof September 30,
2015, therewas afair value option loan in nonaccrual status, which had afair value of $19 million and an unpaid principal balance
of $22 million, and there were no fair value option loans 90 days or more past due. As of December 31, 2014, no loans for which
the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual status.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FV O accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows us to achieve asimilar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt i ssuancesel ected under FV O aretraded in secondary
markets and, as such, thefair valueis determined based on observed prices for the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (10ss)
related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities sold under repurchase agreements which are
trading in nature. The election allows us to account for these repurchase agreements at fair value which is consistent with the
manner in which the instruments are managed. The fair value of the repurchase agreements is determined using market rates
currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and maturities. Interest on these repurchase
agreements is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to
repurchase agreements designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, inclusive of structured notes
and structured deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded
within the instruments. Cash flows of the hybrid instrumentsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable depositswith similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debt is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to hybrid
instruments designated at fair value which reflect the instruments described above are summarized in the table below.

The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Unpaid Principal

Fair Value Balance
(in millions)
At September 30, 2015
Commercial 10aNS held fOr SAI......cooviiiceee e e $ 175 $ 181
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt ...... ..o e 2,014 1,750
REPUIChASE 80NEEMENES........oeieeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ae e e eteeteeneerenas 2,064 2,060
Hybrid instruments:
SrUCtUred dEPOSITS ... s 6,485 6,486
SHUCLUNEA NOLES.........cooeeesr e 6,620 7,046
At December 31, 2014
Commercial 10aNS held fOr SAl@........oi i $ 384 $ 390
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt ..o 2,179 1,750
Hybrid instruments:
SUUCLUrEd AEPOSITS .....c.veeeeeeeeieei ettt bbb 7,346 7,176
S 0o LU =0 [ o) (= 6,612 6,275
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Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives includes the changes in fair value related to interest, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-
market adjustment ontherelated derivativesand thenet realized gainsor | osseson these derivatives. Thefollowing table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives related to the changes in fair value
of the financial instrument accounted for under FVO:

Hybrid
Instruments
and
Long-Term  Repurchase
Loans Debt Agreements Total

(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate and other components™ .............coovveoereveeceenreresneeeserrennne. $ — % (100) $ 497 $ 397
Credit risk component@®® ... ..o (1) 96 61 156
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUB. ..ottt 1) 4) 558 553
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives.........c.cocoeeevceieerereceninnen. — 98 (503) (405)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
AENVALIVES ...ttt $ 1 $ 111 $ 55 $ 165
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate and other components'™? ............cooveorveeeeeeeresreseeeisninnens $ 1 $ (24) $ 70 $ 47
Credit risk component@® ..o — 7 15 22
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VBIUB ..ot 1 a7 85 69
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives..........cceeereeececcenneeenenenes — 14 (64) (50)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
TENVELIVES......cvceciisitee e $ 1% 14 $ 21 % 36
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate and other components™ ............coov.oevveererenererersesessennne, $ — % (50) $ 419 $ 369
Credit risk component@®® ... ..cooovviriere e (9) 214 18 223
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VBIUB. ..o s 9) 164 437 592
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives...........ccovveeirnceiinnnennne — 41 (378) (337)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 51 — 51
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
JENVELIVES........cociiii s $ 9 $ 256 $ 59 $ 306
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate and other componEnts™ .............c..omrvvereeeereessnneesannee. $ 1 $ (167) $ (413) $ (579)
Credit risk component®@® ..o — (20) 48 28
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VBIUB ..ottt bbbt bbbttt 1 (187) (365) (551)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives...........coovvrevnrncciennenenne — 134 386 520
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 51 — 51
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
ENVALIVES.......cocoiiiii s $ 13 2 % 21 % 20
®

Asit relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

@ During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the gainsin the credit risk component for long-term debt were attributable to the widening of

our own credit spreads. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the gain in the credit risk component for long-term debt was attributable to the
38



HSBC USA Inc.

widening of our own credit spreads while the loss during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was attributable to the tightening of our own credit
spreads.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the gainsin the credit risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements were
attributable primarily to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and, in the three month period, the widening of our own credit spreads related
to structured notes. These gainswere partially offset in the year-to-date period by aloss due to changesin estimates associated with the valuation techniques
used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the gainsin the credit
risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements were attributable primarily to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and
structured notes.

()]

11.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of
shareholders' equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balances:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at DEgiNNING OF PEITO.........c.iiiieieieiie ettt bbbt e b b et b b e e s b e Rese e b e b e e se e b et et e b e s e s et ebe e benns $ (83) $ 287
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $2 million and $(44) million, respectively ..........cccoevunenine 7 (71)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses realized in net income, net of tax of $(4) million and $(10) million,
TESPECUVEIY™ e eeeeeeeeessmss e eessess s8R0 R 84 RS ©) (17)
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $3 million and less than $1 Million, rESPECHIVEIY® ..o sessee s ssneean 5 1
Total other comprehensive inCOmMe (10SS) FOr PENTOU.........couiririiririririe sttt 5 (87)
Balance af €nd OF PEMTOM...........couiuiieieiie bR (78) 200
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at DEgINNING OF PEITO.........c.iiieeieiieie ettt b e e b bt E b e e e e b e Rt se e b e b e e se e b et et b e s e e et ene e benne — (57)
Eieﬁligsr,]s(gficati on adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $4 5
Total other comprehensive INCOME fOr PEITOM. .........ciriiiriiririer ettt — 6
Balance at €nd OF PEMOM...........ovuriuriieieietieic bbb — (51)
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEITOU. ..ot bbbt (144) (118)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(19) million and $(4) million, resPeCtively .......ccoveievveiererneierennns (34) (6)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $1 million and less than $1 million,
respectively® 2 1
Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOr PEFOQ...........c.ovuiiiicic s (32) (5)
Balance at €nd OF PEMOU. ..ottt e (176) (123)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning and €Nnd Of PEITOU...........curieieirieics e 3] 2
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period $ (256) $ 28
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Nine Months Ended September 30,

2015 2014

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at DEgiNNiNG OF PEITO.........c.iiieieiiie ettt b et e bbb b e s b eaene b bt e ss e b et e e b e s e e nbene e b enene

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(126) million and $157 million, respectively ..................
Recl assification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(26) million and $(16) million, respectively® ..

Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $10 million and less than $1 million, reSPECtVEIY® ..............ccoorevveeeerereeeeeeeeeseeeseseeeessseseeessssenesseens

Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) fOF PEITOM. ..o ittt ettt s b e

BalanCe @t €N Of PEIOG........ccciiiiiiii ettt

Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at beginning Of PEITOU.........ciiiieieieieeers ettt e et e e se et e e e s et e e s e s ese s et eseseeteseness et eneneesnsenenseseensesnns

Balance at end of period

Recl as%];lcatl on adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $7
L0011 Tl 0 T TP TP TTPTTPTTPPTO

Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PEITOM..........ciiiiriiii et

Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Balance at beginning Of PEITOU. ........cui ittt ettt ettt bttt ettt

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(12) million and $(28) million, respectively ...................
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $3 million and $2 million, respectively®
Total other comprehensive inComMe (10SS) FOr PEMTOU.........coiiiriririirier ettt

(S = aTer Rz = aTo o) o= 1 oo PSRRI
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:

Balance at DEgiNNING OF PEITO.........c.iiiieieiiie ettt bt b et e b bt e bbb e st se e b e bt se e b et et eb et ae et ene e benne

Other comprehensive income for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of lessthan $1 million.........ccccceeriirieieieiiieieceieeenns
Total other comprehensive iINCOME fOr PEITOM..........uiiviiririirie sttt

(S E= g et = TaTo =0T o) o 4 oo TSRS
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) at end Of PEFIOU..........ccceuiuiiiiiiiiie e

@
@

(©)]
@

Amount reclassified to net incomeisincluded in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.

(in millions)

158 $ (18)
(210) 243
(43) (26)
17 1
(236) 218
(78) 200
— (60)
— 9
— 9
— (51)
(156) (83)
(25) (42)
5 2
(20) (40)
(176) (123)
3 2

1 —

1 J—

@ 2
(256) $ 28

Amount amortized to net income is included in interest income in our consolidated statement of income. During the third quarter of 2014, we transferred
securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses of $234 million related to the
transferred securities which will be amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the

amortization of any premium or discount.

Amount reclassified to the carrying value of the debt securities isincluded in securities held-to-maturity in our consolidated balance sheet.

Amount reclassified to net income isincluded in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income.
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12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The components of pension expense for the defined benefit pension plan recorded in our
consolidated statement of income and shown in the table below reflect the portion of pension expense of the combined HSBC
North America Pension Plan (either the "HBSC North America Pension Plan” or the "Plan™) which has been allocated to us.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

......................................................... $ 2 3 13 5% 3

Service cost — benefits earned during the period
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation

................................................................ 18 17 51 53
Expected return 0N plan @SSELS.........cocveiiiieneeee e (22) (22) (68) (64)
Amortization Of NEt ACTUAINTAl 10SS..........eeviieie i e s ebe e 10 8 29 27

PENSION EXPENSE....cvvuiueeeeereseesesesesesesesesesesesesssssssesessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssens $ 8 $ 4 % 17 $ 19

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC North America made an additional contribution of $46 million to the Plan.

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions The components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans other than
pension are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

........................................................... $ 13 193 2 $ 2

Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation
Amortization of net actuarial gain ........ccocrirrn e — — (@D}
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $
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13. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. These transactions occur at prevailing
market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative transactions, servicing arrangements, information technology
support, centralized support services, banking and other miscellaneous services. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit
exposures of) HSBC Bank USA to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured
banks) are legally required to be secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and discussions below present the more
significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and dUE frOM BANKS ........c.ciiiiicieeeceteee ettt bbb $ 250 $ 140
Interest bearing deposits With BaNKS ...........ccccovciiieicc e 362 928
Securities purchased under agreements to reSEll® ..o 5,500 —
TIAAING BSSELS .......oooeeeeeeee et ees s s sns st es e ssenn s s s e nnssans e 21,274 20,194
(07 1 T TSSOSO P PSP UPTOPPRPRI 5,447 4,821
OB ..o 517 983
TOBl BSSELS......vcteuieiietetiie ettt ettt ettt ettt e et et e e et et ese e ettt ese s e b et ebese s et ebene bbb eae et et ebe et bebenennnas $ 33350 $ 27,066
Liabilities:
(D1 0101 1 =TT $ 21898 $ 16,59
TradiNg lIADHTIESD ... ees s ses st en s n s ens e 20,691 21,130
S Lo a1 T 00 (01T 0 S 1,811 847
LONG-TEIMN AEDL ...ttt b et b b e b e benbennens 1,825 3,981
ONEI®) ..o 846 459
QI I TT= o1 =S $ 47,071 $ 43,013

@ Reflects overnight purchases of U.S. Treasury securities which HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI") has agreed to repurchase.

@ Tradingassetsand trading liabilitiesdo not reflect theimpact of netting which allowsthe offsetting of amountsrelating to certain contractsif certain conditions
are met. Trading assets and liabilities primarily consist of derivatives contracts.

®  Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative contracts.
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Income/(Expense):

INEEFESE INCOMIE..... ettt ettt sttt st e b e e e ere et e eaeesresneesaeennas $ 28 $ 14 $ 86 $ 43

[NEEIESE EXPENSE. ...ttt (19) (19) (41) (56)
Net interest iNCOME (EXPENSE).......cutrvereriererieerieerieese ettt sb e 9 (5) 45 (13)
Trading rEVENUE (EXPENSE).....civevereeeereeierieiesieesie st ste st sesbeseeseseesesaesestesestenessenessenens 72 (546) 441 159
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC BANK PIC...uciiieiiieeteieeieriee sttt sttt sttt 23 12 60 38

HSBC FiNance COrPOration ...........cccoeerueerenesreneeieseeieseere st s sseessesesnenens 11 22 40 63

HSBC Markets (USA) INC. ("HMUS") .....coicirrreeerere e 6 8 19 15

Other HSBC affili@ES.....veuireeeieeesirieiee ettt 13 11 43 35
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.......c..oovveereenereneieecens 53 53 162 151
Gain (loss) on instruments designed at fair value and related derivatives................... (535) (80) (405) 284
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HMUS L.ttt sttt e ettt (66) (56) (199) (167)

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")....ccooiiiirincenreeeeeeeeneee (250) (274) (754) (798)

Other HSBC affili@eS......vcueieerieeesirieiee st (45) (58) (145) (162)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........cccociiiiiiiiiccccrcccccccas (361) (388) (1,098) (1127)
Stock based compensation expense With HSBC®W.............oooerveerecenneeeeseeeis (12) (18) (40) (36)

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income. Employees also may participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement plans sponsored by
HSBC North Americawhich are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.”

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

Weuse HSBC affiliatesto fund aportion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At December 31, 2014, long-term debt with affiliates
reflected $4.0 billion in floating rate senior debt with HSBC North America. During the first quarter of 2015, we repaid this debt
in full. At September 30, 2015, long-term debt with affiliates reflected $1.0 billion in floating rate senior debt and $0.9 billion in
floating rate subordinated debt with HSBC North America. These borrowings were issued during the second quarter of 2015 and
mature in December 2016 and May 2025, respectively. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,”
for additional details.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North AmericaInc. ("HNAI") although there was no outstanding
balance at either September 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with HSI
In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we have the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)

HSBC FiNanCe COMPOIALON .........c.cueuiiieteriiieieseseesee ettt s st sess s bese s sebesessssssebesesnnane $ 3014 $ 3,014
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") and SUDSIAIANES ........cccevvereeeeireeesese et 506 563
HSBC BaNK Brasil S.A. ..ottt sttt sttt st st et be st e besee st e bente e eneeneenas 1,102 1,108
HSBC MEXICO S.A. ..ottt ettt ettt et ettt e te et e s te st e te b et esseseeseeseeteebesseebeebestestentesensenseneens 725 75
Other short-term affiliate |eNAiNG.......ccceveiieeieice e e 100 61
TOLAl JOBNS......ocuieeieictiietee ettt ettt ettt ettt be st e be st ese st esesbeseebensebensebe s ese b eseebeneebeneebensetensetens $ 5447 $ 4,821
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HSBC Finance Corporation We have extended a $5.0 billion, 364-day uncommitted unsecured revolving credit agreement to
HSBC Finance which expires during the fourth quarter of 2016. The credit agreement allows for borrowings with maturities of
up to 5 years. At both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, $3.0 billion was outstanding under this credit agreement with
$0.5 hillion maturing in September 2017, $1.5 billion maturing in January 2018 and $1.0 billion maturing in September 2018. We
have also extended a committed revolving credit facility to HSBC Finance of $1.0 billion which did not have any outstanding
balance at either September 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014. This credit facility expiresin May 2017.

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $10.7 billion and $6.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of which $506 million and
$563 million, respectively, was outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding borrowings range from overnight to three months.
Each borrowing is re-evaluated prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.

HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. We have extended uncommitted lines of credit to HSBC Bank Brasil in the amount of $1.2 hillion, of
which $1.1 billion was outstanding, at both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The outstanding balances
mature at various stages between 2016 and 2018.

HSBC Mexico S.A. We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Mexico in the amount of $1.2 billion, of which
$725 million and $75 million was outstanding, at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The outstanding
balances mature at various stages between 2016 and 2018.

Wehave extended lines of credit to variousother HSBC affiliatestotaling $2.1 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, there were
$100 million and $61 million, respectively, of these |oans outstanding.

HUSI isalso committed to provide liquidity facilitiesto backstop the liquidity risk in Regency, an asset-backed commercial paper
conduit consolidated by an HSBC &ffiliate, in relation to assets originated in the U.S. The notional amount of theliquidity facilities
provided by HUSI to Regency was approximately $3.1 billion as of September 30, 2015, which islessthan half of Regency'stotal
liquidity facilities.

As part of aglobal HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities, debt issues and
derivative contractswith unaffiliated third parties, we routinely enter into derivativetransactionswith HSBC Finance, HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC &ffiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $1,011.4
billion and $1,082.6 hillion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the
net fair value of derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral recevied) related to the contracts was approximately $142
millionand $1,166 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Our Global Banking and Marketsbusiness
accounts for these transactions on amark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially
offset by the change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide servicesto and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. Thefollowing
summarizes these activities:

» Servicing activities for residential mortgage loans across North America are performed both by us and HSBC Finance. As a
result, we receive servicing fees from HSBC Finance for services performed on their behalf and pay servicing feesto HSBC
Finance for services performed on our behalf. The fees we receive from HSBC Finance are reported in servicing and other
feesfrom HSBC affiliates. Feeswe pay to HSBC Finance are reported in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. Thisincludes
feespaid for the servicing of residential mortgageloans (with acarrying amount of $731 million and $837 million at September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively) that we purchased from HSBC Finance in 2003 and 2004.

e HSBC North Americastechnology and certain centralized support servicesincluding human resources, corporate affairs, risk
management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared servicesthat are centralized within HTSU. HTSU also provides
certain item processing and statement processing activities to us. The fees we pay HTSU for the centralized support services
and processing activitiesareincluded in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. We also receive feesfrom HTSU for providing
certain administrative services to them. The fees we receive from HTSU areincluded in servicing and other feesfrom HSBC
affiliates. In certain cases, for facilities used by HTSU, we may guarantee their performance under the lease agreements.

*  Weuse HSBC Global Services Limited, an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
expenses related to these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

« Wedtilize HSI for broker dealer, debt underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other treasury and traded markets
related services, pursuant to servicelevel agreements. Feescharged by HSI for broker deal er, |oan syndication services, treasury
and traded markets related services areincluded in support services from HSBC affiliates. Debt underwriting fees charged by
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HSI are deferred as areduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Customer
referral fees paid to HSI are netted against customer fee income, which isincluded in other fees and commissions.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

Wereceived revenuefrom our affiliatesfor rent on certain office space, which has been recorded asacomponent of support services
from HSBC affiliates. Rental revenue from our affiliates totaled $15 million and $44 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $14 million and $41 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively.

14. Business Segments

We have four distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM™"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). There have been no changes in the basis of our
segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRS and, as
a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis (a
non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital adequacy,
establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAPfinancial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changesto this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are presented in Note 23,
"Business Segments,” in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2014 in the differences
between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis.
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The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basisto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
_ Group Regor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting asis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income® ........ $ 192 $ 214 $ 142 $ 49 G $ @ $ 591 $ (19) $ 45 3 617
Other operating income...... 85 82 287 26 109 1 590 (11) (48) 531
Total operating income...... 277 296 429 75 104 — 1,181 (30) 3) 1,148
Loan impairment charges... 14 24 5 1) — — 42 4 1 47
263 272 424 76 104 — 1,139 (34) ) 1,101
Operating expenses® ......... 267 184 247 62 37 — 797 0] 4 786
Profit (loss) before income
tax expense..........coveeennee. $ 4 $ 88 $ 177 $ 14 67 $ —  $ 342 % 27 $ — $ 315
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Net interest income®........ $ 19 $ 204 $ 74 $ 471 $ (2 $ 8 $ 527 $ (20) $ 3% $ 543
Other operating income...... 98 90 191 28 23 (8) 422 7 (43 386
Total operating income...... 294 294 265 75 21 — 949 (13) (@) 929
Loan impairment charges... 11 29 11 4 — — 47 (14) (10 23
283 265 254 79 21 — 902 1 3 906
Operating expenses® ......... 343 169 553 58 30 — 1,153 (222) 3 934
Profit (loss) before income
X XPENSL. o $ (60) $ 96 S (209 $ 21 $ 98— 5 BHS 28 S _— 5 &
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income™ ......... $ 584 $ 626 $ 392 $ 148 $ (16) $ 9 $ 1725 $ G1) $ 175 $ 1,849
Other operating income...... 258 230 772 77 266 9 1,612 (36) (178) 1,398
Total operating income...... 842 856 1,164 225 250 — 3,337 (87) 3) 3,247
Loan impairment charges... 51 38 17 2) — — 104 9) 1) 94
791 818 1,147 227 250 — 3,233 (78) ) 3,153
Operating expenses® ......... 848 538 770 178 114 — 2,448 (33) 0) 2,413
Profit (loss) before income
tax EXPENSE.....ovrererereenenns $ (7)) $ 280 $ 377 $ 49 $ 136 $ — $ 78 % (45) $ — 3 740
Balances at end of -
period:
. $20,106 $32,214 $196,535 $8491 $ 787 $ — $258,133 $ (54,496) $ 729 $ 204,366
Tota loans, net..........c........ 17,146 30,976 25,025 6,711 — — 79,858 286 4,120 84,264
GoodWill ..o 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits™ ................. 30,631 23,209 31,621 13,137 — — 98,598 (5,167) 38,019 131,450
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Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
_ Group Regor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting asis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Net interest income® ......... $ 606 $ 593 $ 280 $ 152 $ 63 $ 1) $ 1693 $ (51) $ 93 $ 1,735
Other operating income...... 315 222 636 78 10 1 1,262 3 (112) 1,147
Total operating income...... 921 815 916 230 73 — 2,955 (54) (19 2,882
Loan impairment charges... 34 119 66 9) — — 210 (62) (24) 124

887 696 850 239 73 — 2,745 8 5 2,758
Operating expenses® ........ 920 501 1,031 174 83 — 2,709 (154) 5 2,560
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSE.....cverrereecrerrenens 33y $ 195 $ (181 $ 65 $ (100 % — $ 336 $ 162 3% — $ 198
Balances at end of -
period:
Total assets.....ccvveeererenenes $19,339 $27,769 $169686 $7670 $ 839 $ — $225303 $ (50,353) $ 62 $ 175,012
Total loans, net................... 16,491 26,626 20,056 5,981 — — 69,154 1,224 2,430 72,808
Goodwill ........ . 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits® .................. 28515 22,616 30663 11,221 — — 93,015 (3,758) 19,420 108,677

(6]

@
()]

(O]
O]

15.

Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted
for afunding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive afunding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits isto transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit
in Balance Sheet Management and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.

During the second quarter of 2015, we concluded that brokered deposits would be better presented as debt under the Group Reporting Basis. Asaresult, we
reclassified $2.1 billion of brokered depositsin the GB&M segment to debt at September 30, 2014 to conform with current year presentation.

Represents adjustments associated with differences between the Group Reporting Basis and the U.S. GAAP basis of accounting.
Represents differencesin financial statement presentation between Group Reporting Basisand U.S. GAAP.

Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are a source of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs. Any non-
contractual dividend from HSBC Bank USA would require the approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("the
OCC"). Approval isaso required if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank USA declares in any year exceeds the cumulative net
profitsfor that year, combined with the profits for the two preceding years reduced by dividends attributabl e to those years. Under
a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on hand, after deducting
actual losses and bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for a period of six months unless well secured, as defined, and in
the process of collection.
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The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance
with banking regulations in effect as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio” Ratio Amount Ratio Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Total capital ratio:®

HSBC USA ..o, $ 24,346 10.00%  16.33% $ 21,017 10.00%  15.78%

HSBC Bank USA..........coomeneeeen. 26,605 10.00 18.60 22,760 10.00 17.86
Tier 1 capital ratio:®

HSBC USA ..o 18,952 6.00 12.71 15,205 6.00 11.41

HSBC Bank USA.........ccoooeneee.n. 22,311 8.00 15.59 17,215 8.00 1351
Common equity Tier 1 ratio:®

HSBC USA .ooovveeeeeeeereenenenns 17,965 450 @ 12,05 13,754 450 @ 1033

HSBC Bank USA..........coomeneeeen. 20,004 6.50 13.98 17,215 6.50 13,51
Tier 1 leverageratio:

HSBC USA oo 18,952 400 @ 952 15,205 400 @ 854

HSBC Bank USA.........ccooueneee.n. 22,311 5.00 11.60 17,215 5.00 10.06
Risk weighted assets;®

HSBC USA ..o, 149,085 133,211

HSBC Bank USA.........coomenneeen. 143,072 127,456

@ HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized,” as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized aswell-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, abanking institution must have theratiosreflected in the above tabl e, and must not be subject to adirective, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels. Theregulatory ratiosfor an institution to be well-capitalized under Basel 111 became effective beginning January
1, 2015 and the new ratios are shown for both periods.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown in
both periods are the required regulatory minimum ratios beginning in 2015.

®  Risk weighted assets are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel | risk-based
approach used in 2014.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulatorsissued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel 111 final
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, took effect January 1, 2014 with
certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. As a result, the capital ratios in the table above are
reported in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel 111 final rule introduced the
Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel | risk-based guidance for determining risk weighted
assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015.

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank U SA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued toHSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received acapital contribution of $4,000 million fromitsimmediate parent, HNAI, in exchange
for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributionsto its subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million
in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-cumulative preferred stock.
These capital actionswere taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel 111 regulatory capital positions of both
HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trusts|, Il and 111 at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in anet |oss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. Thetrusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA aso redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in atotal cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basel 111 final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, the trust preferred securitieswill start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North Americain the second quarter of 2015.
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16. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPES") primarily to structure financia products
to meet our clients investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPES based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE isa VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rightsto direct the activitiesof theentity that most significantly impactstheentity'seconomic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of aVIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or inthe aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation asthe primary beneficiary and hencerequire
usto consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be significant
where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity put options or other liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt obligations;
(ii) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE; (iii) provide a
financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilitiesissued; (iv) design, organize and structure the transaction; and (v) retain a
financial or servicing interest inthe VIE.

We are reguired to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In aimost all
cases, aqualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder isrequired to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs as of September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheets. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances
that eliminate on consolidation.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Consolidated ~ Consolidated  Consolidated ~ Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Low income housing limited liability partnership:
Other @SSELS ...c.viciieiiceeteeee et $ 338 % — % 380 $ —
LONg-termM debt........coveecieececeecec e — 92 — 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities..........ocveeveecee i — 69 — 75
LI 1 $ 338 $ 161 $ 380 $ 167

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, al low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at a future date. The LLP was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to thethird party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLPin other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investments in the underlying low income housing partnerships. As a practical
expedient, we amortize the investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional amortization method of
accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense. The LLP does not consolidate the
underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnershipsthat most significantly impact
the economic performance of the partnerships.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIES that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvements in these VIEs, as of September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014:

Variable Interests Variable Interests Total Assets in Maximum
Held Classified Held Classified Unconsolidated Exposure
as Assets as Liabilities VIEs to Loss
(in millions)
At September 30, 2015
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...........cccc....... $ 85 $ — 3 11,273  $ 3,097
Structured Note VENICIES ........coeveeieeeeeeeeee e 2,863 8 5,894 5,886
Low income housing partnerships...........cccceeeeeeerereneenn 90 81 294 90
TOAl. .o e e e $ 3,038 $ 89 $ 17461 $ 9,073
At December 31, 2014
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...................... $ 29 $ — % 10,984 $ 2,685
Structured Note VENICIES ......c.couevveieeeeeceeee e 2,841 7 5,867 5,860
Low income housing partnerships.........cccceeeeeeeeeeereereenn 44 39 141 44
LI L $ 2914 $ 46 3 16,992 $ 8,589

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented below.

Asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") conduits We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit
consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. Customerssell financial assets, such astrade receivabl es, to Regency, which fundsthe purchases
by issuing short-term highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by theassetsacquired. We, alongwith other financial institutions,
provideliquidity facilitiesto Regency intheform of linesof credit or asset purchase commitments. Theseliquidity facilities support
transactions associated with a specific seller of assetsto the conduit and we would only be required to provide support in the event
of certain triggers associated with those transactions and assets. Our obligations are generally pari passu with those of other
institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. We do not provide any program-
wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit typically provides credit enhancements in the form of asset overcollateralization and,
therefore, bears the risk of first loss related to the specific assets transferred. We do not transfer our own assets to Regency. We
also do not provide the majority of theliquidity facilitiesto Regency. We have no ownership interestsin, perform no administrative
dutiesfor, and do not service any of the assetsheld by Regency. We are not the primary beneficiary and do not consolidate Regency.
Credit risk related to the liquidity facilities provided is managed by subjecting these facilitiesto our normal underwriting and risk
management processes. The $3,097 million maximum exposure to loss presented in the table above represents the maximum
amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required to fund under the liquidity facilities. The maximum loss exposure is
estimated assuming the facilities are fully drawn and the underlying collateralized assets are in default with zero recovery value.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehiclesin the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to 10ss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to zero and, at the same time, the
counterparty of the back-end swap defaultswith zero recovery. In certain instances, wehold credit default swapswith the structured
note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium.
Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets which are then passed on to the
holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swapswe hold are
not considered variable interests. We record al investments in, and derivative contracts with, unconsolidated structured note
vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Low income housing partnerships Separately from the low income housing L LP discussed above, weinvest as alimited partner
in low income housing partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects and generate tax benefits, including federal
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low income housing tax credits, for investors. The partnerships are deemed to be VI Es because they do not have sufficient equity
investment at risk and are structured with non-substantive voting rights. We are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do
not consolidate them. Our investment in low income housing partnerships are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheet. As a practical expedient, we amortize the investment in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional
amortization method of accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization inincometax expense. The maximum
exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our recorded investment.

Beneficial interests issued by third-party sponsored securitization entities We hold certain beneficia interests such as mortgage-
backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are
transacted at arm's-length and decisionsto invest are based on a credit analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We
are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not
consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other involvements in servicing or managing the collateral
assetsor providefinancial or liquidity support totheseissuerswhich potentially giverisetorisk of lossexposure. Theseinvestments
are an integral part of the disclosure in Note 3, "Securities," and Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not
disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.

17. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements Aspart of our normal operations, weenter into credit derivativesand various off-bal ance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Following the table is a description of
the various arrangements.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss
(in millions)
Credit derVAtIVESD® ...ttt et s e $ (3,382) $ 102,403 $ (1,484) $ 117,768
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®®......................... — 5,873 — 5,358
Performance standby letters of credit, net of participations®® .................. — 3,159 — 3,083
Liquidity asset purchase agreements® ............cooeeooeomeeeeoneeeeeseeessesssseens. — 3,097 — 2,685
TOUAl oo e e e e ee e e s e e e r e eenen $ (3382) $ 114532 $ (1,484) $ 128,894

@ Includes$42,902 million and $32,688 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliatesat September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Includes $897 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

®  For standby letters of credit and liquidity asset purchase agreements, maximum |oss represents |osses to be recognized assuming the letter of credit and
liquidity facilities have been fully drawn and the obligors have defaulted with zero recovery.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivativesarefinancial instrumentsthat transfer the credit risk of areference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with variousinstitutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protectionto acounterparty that holdsthereference obligation, thearrangement iseffectively afinancial guarantee onthereference
obligation. Under acredit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimbursethe credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of acredit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
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notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when acredit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. Thefollowing table summarizes our net credit derivative positions as of September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional
(in millions)
Sell-protection credit derivative pOSitions...........ccveveereineieneeneenes $ (3,382) $ 102,403 $ (1,484) $ 117,768
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions............ccoeveererenienenensenens 3,633 107,541 1,741 122,969
NEE POSIIOND ... $ 251 $ 5138 $ 257 $ 5201

Positionsare presented net in the table aboveto provide acomplete analysis of our risk exposure and depi ct theway we manage our credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit isissued to athird party for the benefit of a customer and is a guarantee that
the customer will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to
the third party beneficiary if the customer fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of
credit: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit isissued where the customer isrequired to perform some
non-financial contractual obligation, such asthe performance of aspecific act, whereasafinancial standby letter of credit isissued
where the customer's contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of aloan or debt instrument. As of
September 30, 2015, the total amount of outstanding financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance
guarantees (net of participations) were $5,873 million and $3,159 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, thetotal amount
of outstanding financia standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations) were
$5,358 million and $3,083 million, respectively.

Theissuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other
liabilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $47 million and $50 million at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby |etters
of credit of $18 million and $16 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit as of September 30, 2015 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment ~ Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives

Single name credit default sSwaps ("CDS").....coceveveveveveeeevenenee. 25 $ 64,937 $ 16,350 $ 81,287

Structured CDS........ooiiieere e e 1.6 5,046 616 5,662

Index credit derivativeS ... 3.2 3,864 7,873 11,737

TOtal FEIUIN SWEPS.....ccveeveieieiiesie e 2.4 3,315 402 3,717
ST 1o = IO 77,162 25,241 102,403
Standby Letters of Credit® ...........coooieeeeeeeeseeeseeeeeseeseseeesseesennn 1.0 6,312 2,720 9,032
1 - $ 83474 $ 27961 $ 111,435

@ The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our internal credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on ascalewhich rankstherisk of default of acustomer. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the customer's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performancetoindustry peersand perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratingsto outside
externa rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of areferenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Liquidity asset purchase agreements We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit consolidated by an
HSBC affiliate. Regency finances the purchase of individual assets by issuing commercial paper to third party investors. Each
liquidity facility is transaction specific and has a maximum limit. Pursuant to the liquidity agreements, we are obligated, subject
to certain limitations, to advance funds in an amount not to exceed the face value of the commercial paper in the event Regency
isunableor unwilling to refinanceitscommercial paper. A liquidity asset purchase agreement iseconomically aconditional written
put option issued to the conduit where the exercise price is the face value of the commercial paper. As of September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 we had issued $3,097 million and $2,685 million, respectively, of liquidity facilitiesto provideliquidity support
to ABCP conduits. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities,” for further information.

Clearinghouses and exchanges We are amember of various exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or
derivativescontracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, membersof aclearinghouse
may be required to contribute to aguaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearinghouse. As a member, we may be
required to pay aproportionate share of thefinancial obligations of another member who defaultsonits obligationsto the exchange
or the clearinghouse. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had exhausted its resources.
Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Securitization Activity In addition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI's
wholeloan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loansto HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form10-K for additional discussion of related exposure. There have been no
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significant changes with regards to this exposure since December 31, 2014. The outstanding principal balance on these loanswas
approximately $5.3 billion and $5.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations Historically, we originated and sold mortgage loans, primarily to government sponsored
entities, and provided various representations and warranties rel ated to, among other things, the ownership of theloans, the validity
of the liens, the loan selection and origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the agencies.
In the event of abreach of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects
or toindemnify thebuyers. Our contractual obligation arisesonly when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered
and repurchase is demanded. As aresult of settlements with FNMA and FHLMC during 2013 and 2014, the repurchase exposure
associated with these sales has been substantially resolved. In addition, with the conversion of our mortgage processing and
servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013, new agency eligible originations are sold directly to PHH Mortgage and PHH
Mortgage is responsible for origination representations and warranties for all loans purchased.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses aswell asthe
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $3 million at both September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Thefollowing table summarizesthe changein our estimated repurchase liability during thethree and nine months ended September
30, 2015 and 2014 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Balance at beginning Of PEMOd ..o $ 21 $ 34 $ 27 $ 99
Decrease in liability recorded through €arnings............ccccooveininiiinnnicii, ) 4 @) (38)
REEIIZE IOSSES ...ttt — — 1) (31)
Balance at end Of PEriO ... s $ 19 $ 30 $ 19 $ 30

During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement with the FHLMC for $25 million, reflected in realized losses in the
liahility rollforward above, which settled our liability for substantially al loans sold to FHLMC from January 1, 2000 through
2013. As aresult of the settlement and a re-assessment of the residual exposure, we released $34 million in repurchase reserves.
We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by the settlement agreement.

Our remaining repurchase liability of $19 million at September 30, 2015 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been
incurred, including interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage |oans sold. Because
the level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external
risk factors such as housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase | osses requires
significant judgment. We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As
these estimates are influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably
possible that they could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between
zero and $25 million at September 30, 2015. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses was determined based upon
modifying the assumptions utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible
adverse assumptions.
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Pledged Assets
Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015

2014
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With BaNKS...........coeieieicccec e s $ 9242 % 415
TIAOING BSSELSY ... en e en e een s 3,126 2,886
Securities aVail@ble-fOr-SAED ..o st s s es s 15,275 22,023
SECUNtIES NEIA-TO-MELUNITY ..ottt st be b e 2,994 3,602
LOANS ...ttt ettt ettt e et ee et et ee e er et en e eeeen 14,634 12,580
OUNEE BSSEES™ ... e e e ee e se e s ee s ee e eeeee s seeeeseeeseeeeeeneenes 1,601 2,495
02 TR oo TR $ 38572 $ 44,001

@ Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ securities available-for-sale are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings,
as well as providing capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") and the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to be reported on the consolidated
balance sheet. Thefair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was $3,547 million and $8,348 million
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that could be sold or repledged was
$3,126 million and $2,886 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Thefair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet was
$21,589 million and $7,165 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, discussed further below. Of this
collateral, $15,189 million and $6,765 million could be sold or repledged at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, of which $362 million and $2,226 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase
agreements or to cover short sales.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resal e and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
itisour policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreementsisregularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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The following table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset as of September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet™® Balance Sheet Instruments @ Pledged Net Amount ©
(in millions)

As of September 30, 2015:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

resale agreements................. $ 21,589 1,166 20,423 20,422 — 3 1
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 7,036 1,166 5,870 5,870 — 3 —
As of December 31, 2014:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

resale agreements................. $ 7,165 5,752 1,413 1,413 — $ —
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 13459 5,752 7,707 7,707 — 3 —

@ Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

@)
(©)]

Thefollowingtableprovidestheclassof collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreementsaccounted
for as secured borrowings as of September 30, 2015:

Overnight
and Greater than
Continuous  Upto30days 30 to 90 days 90 days Total
(in millions)
As of September 30, 2015:
Assets:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and
SPONSOrEd ENLItIES.......c.eeveeveeeeeeecceeeee e $ 1019 $ 2694 $ 199 $ 2974 $ 6,886
Foreign debt SECUNtieS......cceveeeveeececee e 150 — — — 150
Total repurchase agreements accounted for as secured
BOMTOWINGS ...t $ 1169 $ 2694 $ 199 $ 2974 $ 7,036
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18. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework™). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
aternativeuse and, assuch, thefair value of financial instruments should be determined using an “in-exchange” valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
agroup of financial assets and financia liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of agroup of assets or liabilitiesif certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to agroup of derivativeinstrumentswith offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, val uation techniques that incorporate rel evant transaction dataand market
parametersreflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration areapplied. Whereapplicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and theliquidity of the marketsin which the transactions occur.
Thefair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financia liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the partiesto the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to afinancial liability is recorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI.

Liquidity risk adjustment - Theliquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such away that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of agroup of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustmentsrelate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Wherefair value measurements are determined using aninternal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different val uation techniques are avail abl e, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenariosin determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustmentsfor Level 3fair valuesby reviewing
the historical data for unobservable inputs (e.g., correlation, volatility). Some stress scenarios involve a 95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). Other stress scenarios may be performed using highly stressed historical inputs such as
credit spreads experienced during acredit crisis. We al so utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued
using internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Valuation of uncollateralized derivatives - During 2014, we adopted a funding fair value adjustment ("FFVA") to reflect the
estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure
at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate. See"Valuation Techniques- Derivatives' below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes athree-tiered fair value hierarchy asfollows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputsinclude quoted pricesfor similar assetsor liabilitiesin active
markets, quoted pricesfor identical or similar assetsor liabilitiesin marketsthat are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation model swhereall significant inputsare observable, such asinterest ratesand yield curvesthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.

57



HSBC USA Inc.

Level 3valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservableinputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levelsin each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A vauation committee, chaired by the Head of Business Finance of GB&M, meets monthly to review, monitor and discuss
significant valuation matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
valuation policies and procedures including any valuation adjustments pertaining to, among other things, independent price
verification, market liquidity, unobservable inputs, model uncertainty and counterparty credit risk. All valuation models are
reviewed by theval uation committeeintermsof model development, enhancementsand performance. All model sareindependently
reviewed by the Markets Independent Model Review function and applicable valuation model recommendations are reported to
and discussed with the valuation committee. Significant valuation risks identified in business activities are corroborated and
addressed by the committee members and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial Officer of HUSI and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotationsfrom at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

= dimilarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;

= collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;

= consistency among different pricing sources,

= thevaluation approach and the methodol ogies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

= the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

= the source of the fair value information; and

= whether the security istraded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from deal ers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustmentsto fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and thefair value measurement becomes|esstransparent, Finance will apply more detailed proceduresto understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop afair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurementsaredetermined usinginternal valuation models, Financewill validatethefair valuemeasurement by either devel oping
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant val uation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial
instruments, including thosefinancial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosuresrequired by generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in this report.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014:

Carrying Fair
September 30, 2015 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financia assets:
Short-term finanCial SSEtS ........cccvrreirrrieee e $ 23243 $ 23243 $ 914 $ 22300 $ 29
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
BOIEEIMENES. ...ttt ee et see bbb e b e st e e e e e e e e e e eneeaas 20,423 20,423 — 20,423 —
Non-derivative trading aSSetS........coovvvvvveniesevesere e 11,517 11,517 2,869 5,553 3,095
DENVALIVES. ...t 5,579 5,579 6 5,552 21
SECUMTIES ...ttt s 50,416 50,704 19,523 31,181 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 64,218 66,259 — — 66,259
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOF SBIE . 175 175 — 175 —
Commercial loansheld for sale.........coeoviiiiininec e 94 94 — 94 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses .........cccveueeee. 20,046 18,921 — — 18,921
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages.........coouverereeereeeniee e 16 16 — 13 3
Other CONSUMIE .......oiueeieiieeeee et e 83 83 — — 83
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities........cocvvvvvrrvvrrr s, $ 6928 $ 6928 $ — $ 6899 $ 29
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities..........ccoeorreennrneerrsee e 112,907 112,907 — 112,907 —
FiXed MatUMtieS......cccoeiiirreree e 12,058 12,051 — 12,051 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ...........ccceeceeieeiencennene 6,485 6,485 — 4,731 1,754
Non-derivative trading liabilities..........cccveireineinircree 717 717 671 46 —
DENVALIVES. ...ttt 7,193 7,193 14 7,159 20
Short-term borrowings designated under fair value option........... 2,064 2,064 — 2,064 —
LONG-terM dEDE ... 24,384 24,987 — 24,987 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option .............c........ 8,634 8,634 — 7,889 745

59



HSBC USA Inc.

Carrying Fair
December 31, 2014 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term finanCial aSSELS ........ccovrvrreiererreee e $3L,746 $ 31,746 $ 891 $ 30807 $ 48
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
BOMEEIMENTS. ...ttt r e 1,413 1,413 — 1,413 —
Non-derivative trading @SSetS .........cceveieieerere e 15,490 15,490 2,675 9,722 3,093
(DL A7 Y= 7,258 7,258 10 7,200 48
S o U ] 1= S 43,609 43,835 22,048 21,787 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 57,595 58,891 — — 58,891
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FON SBIB ot 384 384 — 384 —
Commercial loansheld for sale.......cccoeveeneirinnicee e 144 144 — 144 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10sses..........ccoeeneee. 19,466 17,896 — — 17,896
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages.........cooeveevererrerenenise e 18 19 — 14 5
Other CONSUMIES .......ocuieieceeceecee ettt 66 66 — — 66
Financid liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities..........ccccoveeeiiceeieeeeeeeeecee, $ 12861 $ 12861 $ — $12813 $ 48
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities.........coevereireinereses e 105,962 105,962 — 105,962 —
FiXed MaIUMTIES ......cv e 2,810 2,813 — 2,813 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ...........cocveveererrerenen. 7,346 7,346 — 5,378 1,968
Non-derivative trading liabilities............coeiiieneieieceenee 705 705 653 52 —
DENVALIVES.......ccviecriietisiete ettt s s snenes 8,413 8,413 8 8,376 29
LONg-tErM debt .....c.ooeeeceeeceeeee e 18,733 19,524 — 19,524 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ............c.cc..... 8,791 8,791 — 8,144 647

Loan values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is
based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of value we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet
date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our residential mortgage loans has been heavily
influenced by the challenging economic conditions during the past severa years, including house price depreciation, elevated
unemployment, changes in consumer behavior, changes in discount rates and the lack of financing options available to support
the purchase of receivables. For certain consumer loans, investors incorporate numerous assumptions in predicting cash flows,
such as future interest rates, higher charge-off levels, slower voluntary prepayment speeds, different default and loss curves and
estimated collateral values than we, as the servicer of these loans, believe will ultimately be the case. The investor's valuation
process reflects this differencein overall cost of capital assumptions aswell as the potential volatility in the underlying cash flow
assumptions, the combination of which may yield asignificant pricing discount from our intrinsic value. The estimated fair values
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 reflect these market conditions. The increase in the relative fair value of our
residential mortgage loans since December 31, 2014 reflects the conditions in the housing industry which have continued to show
improvement in 2015 due to improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor
demand for these types of receivables.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and indicates the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
September 30, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises.... $ 2,869 $ 166 $ — $ 303 $ — $ 3035
Obligations of U.S. States and political subdiviSions.............ccocveeenenieenne — 572 — 572 — 572
Collateralized debt Obligations............ccoereieiiirineiereerre e — — 233 233 — 233
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOMQagES ........cervreerereririeerenteee st — 119 — 119 — 119
SHUENE LOBNS........cecuiiriiiiiicciccnccncne e — 88 — 88 — 88
Corporate and other domestic debt securities. — — 2,862 2,862 — 2,862
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE......cveieeteieereetee ettt sttt sttt b bbb e b s — 387 — 387 — 387
Government-backed ... — 2,310 — 2,310 — 2,310
EQUILY SECUMTIES ...ttt s — 18 — 18 — 18
Precious MetalStrading ........c.coeeerreerenieerese s — 1,893 — 1,893 — 1,893
Derivatives®:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccovrevirerieririe e 53 48,198 2 48,253 — 48,253
Foreign exchange CoNLractS...........coreirrieeiereee e — 25,705 16 25,721 — 25,721
Equity contracts............. — 1,792 94 1,886 — 1,886
Precious metals contracts 31 985 — 1,016 — 1,016
Credit CONIACLS........c.civiiiiicii s — 4,579 192 4,771 — 4,771
Derivatives netting — — — — (76,068) (76,068)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. .....cecvriieieirerie et 84 81,259 304 81,647 (76,068) 5,579
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 19,523 11,754 — 31,277 — 31,277
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........ccccoveeirenieene — 768 — 768 — 768
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial mortgages... — 22 — 22 — 22
HOME EOUILY ...t — 79 — 79 — 79
OENEY ...ttt — 93 — 93 — 93
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE......cveeeeteieneseeeee ettt b et sb e enene s — 358 — 358 — 358
Government-backed ...........cccoceiririinc s — 3,174 — 3,174 — 3,174
Equity securities. — 166 — 166 — 166
— 175 — 175 — 175
— — 130 130 — 130
$ 22476 $ 103401 $ 3529 $ 129,406 $ (76,068) $ 53,338
Liabilities: -
DOMESHC AEPOSIESD ..o eesee s sesss s sssssesenenen $ — $ 4731 $ 1754 $ 6485 $ — $ 6485
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives 671 46 — 717 — 717
Derivatives?:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccovveviririiriri e 73 48,192 2 48,267 — 48,267
Foreign exchange contracts.. 38 23,680 16 23,734 — 23,734
EQUILY CONEFBELS.....c.ceeteiireeieieee ettt — 1,911 189 2,100 — 2,100
Precious Metals CONIactS.........ccovieirccnecrccrec e 39 479 — 518 — 518
Credit contracts... — 4,588 21 4,609 — 4,609
DENVAIVES NEHING ...c.cveviveeeiceiciceeieee e — — — — (72,035) (72,035)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. .....cecvrieecteercie et 150 78,850 228 79,228 (72,035) 7,193
Short-term borrowings™ .. — 2,064 — 2,064 — 2,064
Long-term debt® — 7,889 745 8,634 — 8,634
Total HabIlItIES....c.veeereerececiee e $ 821 $ 93580 $ 2727 $ 97,128 $ (72,035) $ 25,093
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 2,675 $ 48 % — $ 2723 % —  $ 27723
Obligations of U. S. States and political subdiviSions...........cccccevevernneee. — 591 — 591 — 591
Collateralized debt obligations — — 253 253 — 253
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOrtgages ..........coueriiuireiircenciesieeeeeee e — 142 — 142 — 142
Student 10aNS ......coevevereeirreeerenes — 86 — 86 — 86
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUtIES........ccvovvveeeirereerreerene — 1 2,840 2,841 — 2,841
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
Corporate................. — 184 — 184 — 184
Government-backed — 6,656 — 6,656 — 6,656
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt — 22 — 22 — 22
Precious metals trading — 1,992 — 1,992 — 1,992
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONLIACES.......cveieiieciiciiee e e 46 46,012 1 46,059 — 46,059
Foreign exchange contracts.. — 22,241 23 22,264 — 22,264
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eveieeiiieiecreee et — 2,212 180 2,392 — 2,392
Precious Metals CONLIACS ........cecveeveiereieeeetece ettt 59 1,013 — 1,072 — 1,072
Credit contracts... — 3,899 296 4,195 — 4,195
DEriVatiVES NEHING ....c.cveuiveiiiiiciiiiicieirieerie bbb — — — — (68,724) (68,724)
TOtaAl AENVALIVES.......eoeeeieeieeee et 105 75,377 500 75,982 (68,724) 7,258
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 22,048 3,117 — 25,165 — 25,165
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions.............cccevevenneee. — 667 — 667 — 667
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial MOMGAgES........cvevrveirireeeerrieietre et — 43 — 43 — 43
— 89 — 89 — 89
— 94 — 94 — 94
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE.......eeiitrieririe e — 517 — 517 — 517
Government-backed .... — 3,398 — 3,398 — 3,398
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt — 167 — 167 — 167
LOBNST ...eeeeveess e seesesssss e — 384 — 384 — 384
Mortgage servicing rights®.. — — 159 159 — 159
TOAl BSSES ...ueveeneeeirereieie ettt $ 24828 $ 93575 $ 3752 $ 122,155 $ (68,724) $ 53,431
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits™...............cooorveveenenenes . $ — $ 5378 $ 198 $ 7346 $ — $ 7346
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives.............ccovvvnvnnrsnserees 653 52 — 705 — 705
Derivatives®:
Interest rate contracts......... 43 46,683 1 46,727 — 46,727
Foreign exchange CONraCES.........coueveeeririrerireee et 13 20,847 23 20,883 — 20,883
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.ceeieeiiieieceee ettt — 1,661 138 1,799 — 1,799
Precious metals contracts .. 18 596 — 614 — 614
Credit CONIACES..... .ottt s ene s — 3,941 86 4,027 — 4,027
DENVAIVES NEIEING ....vueeetieeceeireeeiee e — — — — (65,637) (65,637)
Tota derivatives.... 74 73,728 248 74,050 (65,637) 8,413
LONGEIM BB ...t eeeeees e — 8,144 647 8,791 — 8,791
Total HHabilItiES....c.eeeeeereeeciereee e $ 727 $ 87302 $ 283 $ 90892 $ (65637) $ 25255

@ Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes trading derivative assets of $4,135 million and $5,602 million and trading derivative liabilities of $5,619 million and $7,459 million as of
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives.
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®  Includes certain commercial loans held for sale which we have elected to apply the fair value option. See Note 6, "L oans Held for Sale," for further

information.

@ SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.
®  SeeNote 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assetsand liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Asarisk management
practice, we may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that
areclassifiedasLevel 1or Level 2 measurementswithinthefair valuehierarchy. SincethoseLevel 1 and Level 2 risk management
positionsare not included in the tabl e bel ow, theinformation provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities
related to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations..........coveevniunnnes $ 240 $ 3 3 — $ — % — $ (1) 3 — 3 — $ 233 3 —
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,855 — — 7 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... 1 — 1) — — — — — — 1)
Foreign exchange
[cle]011=v =N — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts................. (10) (70) — — — 17 — 2 (95) (79)
Credit contracts.................. 179 (8) — — — — — — 171 W)
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 158 — (21) — — @) — — 130 (21)
Total 8SSEtS....ccoverrerreerrirennns $ 3423 $ (75) $ (22) $ 7% — $ (34 $ — $ 2 $ 3301 $ (108)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™............. $(1,817) $ — 9 $ — $ () $ 130 $ (44) $ 54 $ (1,754) $ 15
Long-term debt® ................ (662) — 73 — (186) 13 ) 18 (745) 71
Tota liabilities..........cccuueeee. $(2,479) $ — 3 82 $ — $ (272) $ 143 $ (45) $ 72 $ (2,499) $ 86

63



HSBC USA Inc.

Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligationsS......coveevereerrennnns $ 253 §$ 15 $ — 3% — 3% — $ @35 ¢ — 3 — $ 233 3 7
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,840 — — 22 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... — — — — — — — — — _
Foreign exchange
contracts. — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts 42 (74) — — — (65) — 2 (95) (101)
Credit contracts.................. 210 (30) — — — ©)] — — 171 (60)
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 159 — (13) — — (16) — — 130 (13)
Total 8SSEtS...cvererreeeerrerennas $ 3,504 (89) $ (13) $ 22 % — $ (125) $ — $ 2 $ 3301 $ (167)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™®............. $(1,968) — 8 4 $ — $ (2700 $ 313 $ (66) $ 233 $ (1,754) $ 21
Long-term debt®................... (647) — 79 — (423) 197 @ 50 (745) 81
Total liabilities.........c.ooevuenne. $(2,615) — $ 83 $ — $ (693) $ 510 $ 67) $ 283 $ (2,499) $ 102
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2014 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2014 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.........cceeueveunnes $ 260 $ 20 $ - % — 3% — % 1) 3 — — $ 269 % 19
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,819 — — 10 — — — — 2,829 —
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities.........cco...... — — — — — — — _ _ _
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... — 4 — — — — — — 4 3
Foreign exchange
CONLIaCtS......cooveiirieiiiins — 3) — — — — — — (©)] (©)]
Equity contracts................. 59 (21) — — — (23) 1) 1) 13 (32
Precious metals contracts.. — — — — — — — — — —
Credit contracts.................. 257 (31 — — — ©)] — — 221 (36)
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 186 — — — (6) — — 182 2
Total 8SsetS.....vuuveririeiinieene. $ 3581 $ Bl $ $ 10 $ — $ (45 $ @ $ () $ 3515 $ (47)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™............ $(2257) $ — % @$ — $ (111) $ 129 $ (599 $ 395 $ (1,905) $ 26
Long-term debt® ................. (738) — 27 — (82) 82 @ 81 (632) 9
Total liahilities......c..c.ovevvenne. $(2,99) $ — 3% 25 $ — $ (193) $ 211 $ (61 $ 476 $ (2537) $ 35
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2014 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2014 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations........ccoveueenirniees $ 254 $ 4 $ — $ — $ — 3% (19 3 — 3 — $ 269 $ 31
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,260 (5 — 574 — — — — 2,829 4
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities................... 121 5 — — — ) — (119) — —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... 1 3 — — — — — — 4 3
Foreign exchange
contracts. 95 7 — — — (12 — (93) 3 @
Equity contracts................. 3 65 — — — (59) 7 (©) 13 8
Precious metals contracts .. 2 2 — — — — — — — —
Credit contracts.................. 191 (86) — — — 2 — 114 221 (134)
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 227 — (22) — — (23) — — 182 (22)
Total 8SSEtS.....cervererererrereinns $3150 $ 25 $ (22 $ 574 $ — $ (118) $ 7 $ (101) $ 3515 $ (119)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™.............. $(2,334) $ — $ (@11) $ — $ (271) $ 428 $ (108) $ 501 $ (1,905 $ (10)
Long-term debt® ................. (900) — 121 — (234 202 %) 181 (632) (15)
Total liabilities.......ccceveeneene $(3,234) $ — 3 (90) $ — $ (505) $ 630 $ (1100 $ 772 $ (2537) $ (25)

@ Includes realized and unrealized gains and losses.

@ Level 3 net derivativesincluded derivative assets of $304 million and derivative liabilities of $228 million as of September 30, 2015 and derivative assets
of $466 million and derivative liabilities of $231 million as of September 30, 2014.

®  SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.
@ SeeNote 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements as of September 30, 2015 and December 31,

2014:

September 30, 2015

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 233  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 3% - 7%
L oss severity rates 90% - 99%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,862 Discounted cash flows Spread volétility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNTIES .
Correlation between insuranceclam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 7% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... (95) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 17% - 63%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 58%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts...........cccvueuee. 171 Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  44% - 47%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights.........c.cccceueueee 130 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 11% - 50%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 14%
Estimated annualized coststo service ~ $91 - $333 per
account
Domestic deposits (1,754) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
(structured deposits)P@...........c.ccovee.n. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 17% - 63%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 58%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) @ ... (745) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
flows

67

Equity / Equity Index volatility

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index
correlation

17% - 63%
48% - 58%



HSBC USA Inc.

December 31, 2014

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 253 Broker quotes or consensus pricing  Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 6% - 7%
Loss severity rates 90% - 91%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,840 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNEIES ..o
Correlation between insuranceclam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 6% - 98%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volétility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... 42 Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts...........covueee. 210 Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  52% - 57%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights..........cccoeereene 159 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 10% - 49%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 19%
Estimated annualized coststo service  $91 - $333 per
account
Domestic deposits (1,968) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volétility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
(structured deposits)@..........ccoovvererneen. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™@ ... (647) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%

correlation

@

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of
counterparty credit risks, wearemarket neutral . The correspondingintra-group derivativesare presented asequity derivativesandforeign exchangederivatives
inthetable.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations ("CDQOs")

Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by anumber
of factorsincluding the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage loans, borrowers' credit and
sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio istilted towards the low end of the range.

Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is close to the mid-
point of the range.

Loss severity rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) and trust preferred
securities which are about equally distributed. The loss severity rate for trust preferred securities as of September 30, 2015 is
about 1.8 timesthat of CLOs.

Derivatives

Correlation of default - The default correlation of agroup of credit exposures measuresthelikelihood that the credit references
within agroup will default together. The default correlation is a significant input to structured credit products such as nth-to-
default swaps. In addition, the correlation between the currency and the default risk of the reference creditsisacritical input
to aforeign currency denominated credit default swap where the correlation is not observable.
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= Implied volatility - Theimplied volatility isasignificant pricing input for freestanding or embedded optionsincluding equity,
foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility isafunction of the nature of the underlying risk, the level of
strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine the implied
volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied volatilities are
derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairsis between 20 percent and
25 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 17 percent and 63 percent,
respectively, at September 30, 2015. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be widely
distributed at the portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on atrade-by-trade basisis narrower. The average deviation
of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 4 percent and 7 percent, respectively, at
September 30, 2015.

= Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the rel ative change in values among two or more
variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation isakey input
indetermining thefair value of aderivativereferenced to abasket of variablessuch asequitiesor foreign currencies. A majority
of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation between equity/equity and
equity/equity index was between 48 percent and 58 percent at September 30, 2015.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized debt obligations- Probability of default, prepayment speed and | oss severity rate are significant unobservableinputs.
Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized debt
obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by adirectionally similar change in loss severity,
and adirectionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurements of certain corporate debt securities are affected by the fair
valueof theunderlying portfoliosof investmentsused ascol l ateral and themake-wholeguarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among abasket of reference credit namesisasignificant unobservableinput if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the unobservable input will result in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by adirectionally similar changein default probability and lossrates of other credit names
in the basket.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility isnot observable. Significant increase (decrease) intheimplied volatility will result in ahigher (lower) fair value
of along position in the derivative contract.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we
transferred $54 million and $233 million, respectively, of domestic deposits and $18 million and $50 million, respectively, of long-
term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer
being unobservableasthederivativeoptioniscloser to maturity and thereismore observability in short term volatility. Additionally,
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we transferred $44 million and $66 million of domestic deposits,
which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as aresult of a change in the observability of underlying
instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we transferred $395 million and $591 million, respectively, of
domestic deposits and $81 million and $181 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value,
from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in
maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. During the second quarter of 2014, we transferred $119 million
of government debt securities issued by foreign governments and the related foreign exchange and credit derivatives from Level
3to Level 2 dueto the availability of inputs in the market including independent pricing service valuations. Additionally, during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we transferred $59 million and $108 million, respectively, of domestic
deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as a result of a change in the observability of
underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage and
commercial loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets
that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment).
Thefollowing table presentsthe fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has
been recorded as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The gains (losses) during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 are al so included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of September 30, 2015 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30, 2015  September 30, 2015
(in millions)
Residentiadl mortgage loansheld for sale”.. $ — $ 1% 4 $ 5 $ — 3 —
ConsUMEr 108NSP ..o — 106 — 106 (6) (24)
Commercial loansheld for sale® ............... — 83 — 83 (2) (16)
Impaired commercial loans™ .................... — — 39 39 (16) (31)
Real estate owned® .............cooevveerreeenris — 22 — 22 1 3
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DBSIS....evvoreereireseiesesess st $ — 8% 2128 43 % 25 § (23) $ (68)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of December 31, 2014 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30,2014  September 30, 2014
(in millions)
Residentiadl mortgageloansheldforsale”.. $ — $ — $ 5 $ 5 % L $ (1)
ConsUMES 108NSP ..., — 164 — 164 (10) (33)
Commercial loans held for sale® ................ — 77 — 77 — 7
Impaired commercial loans™ ...................... — — 53 53 3 6
Real estate owned® ..........co.coovvvervvreriennes — 19 — 19 2 4
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
07 SN $ — % 260%$ 58 $ 318 $ 6 $ (31)

@ Asof September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage loans held for sale
have been classified asa L evel 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy as the underlying real estate properties which determine fair value
areilliquid assets as a result of market conditions and significant inputs in estimating fair value were unobservable. Additionally, the fair value of these
propertiesis affected by, among other things, the location, the payment history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

@ Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the
underlying collateral.

®  Asof September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

@ Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the

credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves rea estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As aresult, these loans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

®  Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amountsin the table above reflect the fair
value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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Thefollowingtablespresent quantitativeinformation about non-recurring fair valuemeasurementsof assetsand liabilitiesclassified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

As of September 30, 2015

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale..........c.cccceeeicicncnnnen. $ 4 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans............cccoevveveeeeeeieeeieseee e 39 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 53%
As of December 31, 2014
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale............ccccoeericicicnnen. $ 5 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans............ccoeveeveeeeeeieeeeesereee e 53  underlying collateral Loss severity rates 8% - 47%

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage loans held for sale primarily represent subprime residential mortgage |oans which were previously acquired
with the intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The weighted average loss severity rate for these loans was
approximately 68 percent at September 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying
collateral securing the loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was approximately 21 percent at
September 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following isadescription of valuation methodol ogies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
and for estimating fair value for those financial instruments not recorded at fair value for which fair value disclosure is required.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities - The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost is
considered to approximate fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and
generally have negligible credit risk. These itemsinclude cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer
acceptance assets and liabilities, short-term borrowings except for certain securities sold under repurchase agreements for which
the fair value option has been elected and dividends payable.

Federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements - Federal funds sold
and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resal e and repurchase agreementsarerecorded at cost. A significant majority
of these transactions are short-term in nature and, as such, the recorded amounts approximate fair value. For transactions with
long-dated maturities, fair value is based on dealer quotes for instruments with similar terms and collateral.

Loans - Except for certain commercial loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected, we do not record loans
at fair value on arecurring basis. From timeto time, we record impairments to loans. The write-downs can be based on observable
market price of the loan, the underlying collateral value or a discounted cash flow analysis. In addition, fair value estimates are
determined based on the product type, financial characteristics, pricing features and maturity.

» Loans held for sale — Certain residential mortgage whole loans, consumer receivables and commercial loans are recorded at
thelower of amortized cost or fair value. Where availabl e, we measure held for sale mortgage wholeloans based on transaction
pricesof |oan portfoliosof similar characteristicsobserved inthewholeloan market. Adjustmentsare madeto reflect differences
in collateral location, loan-to-valueratio, FICO scores, vintage year, default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation
and other risk characteristics. Thefair value estimates of consumer receivablesand commercial loans are determined primarily
using the discounted cash flow method with estimated inputsin prepayment rates, default rates, loss severity, and market rate
of return.

e Commercial loans held for sale designated under FV O —Werecord certain commercial loans held for sale at fair value. Where
available, fair value is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker
guotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair valueisdetermined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We
also consider loan specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.
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Commercial loans —Commercia loans and commercial real estate loans are valued by discounting the contractual cash flows,
adjusted for prepayments and the borrower’ s credit risk, using adiscount rate that reflectsthe current rates offered to borrowers
of similar credit standing for the remaining term to maturity and, when applicable, our own estimate of liquidity premium.

Commercial impaired loans— Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based
on pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Consumer loans — The estimated fair value of our consumer loans were determined by developing an approximate range of
value from amix of various sources as appropriate for the respective pool of assets. These sources included estimates from an
HSBC affiliatewhich reflect over-the-counter trading activity, forward | ooking discounted cash flow model susing assumptions
consistent with those which would be used by market participantsin valuing such receivables; trading input from other market
participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades; where appropriate, the impact of current estimated rating
agency credit tranchinglevel swith the associated benchmark credit spreads; and general discussionsheld directly with potential
investors. For revolving products, the estimated fair value excludes future draws on the available credit line as well as other
items and, therefore, does not include the fair value of the entire relationship.

Valuation inputs include estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, default and loss curves, estimated collateral
value and market discount rates reflecting management’s estimate of the rate that would be required by investorsin the current
market given the specific characteristics and inherent credit risk of the receivables. Some of these inputs are influenced by
collateral value changes and unemployment rates. Where available, such inputs are derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data. We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on a quarterly basis and periodically validate
our valuation methodol ogies and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of such receivables. In addition, from time
to time, we may engage a third party valuation specialist to measure the fair value of a pool of receivables. Portfolio risk
management personnel provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers and other market participants.
Since an active market for these receivables does not exist, the fair value measurement process uses unobservable significant
inputs specific to the performance characteristics of the various receivable portfolios.

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of commitmentsto extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees
are not included in the table. The magjority of the lending related commitments are not carried at fair value on arecurring basis nor
are they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar
commitments, which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on commitments and standby letters
of credit totaled $47 million and $50 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If aquoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally devel oped val uation model sare used to determinefair val ues or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions—As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or
quoted pricesfor similar securitieswith adjustmentsas necessary made using observabl einputswhich are market corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an active
market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar securities
with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government sponsored
mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based on pricing
information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations— Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtai ned from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying
collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scaleiscreated for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to determine
current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes. For securities
with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread ("OAS") model is incorporated to adjust the spreads determined
above. Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark quotes and
updated spreads.

Equity securities— Except for those legacy investments in hedge funds, since most of our securities are transacted in active
markets, fair value measurements are determined based on quoted pricesfor theidentical security. For hedge fund investments,
we receive monthly statements from the investment manager with the estimated fair value.
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The following tables provide additional information relating to asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt
obligations held as of September 30, 2015:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities: Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A s Residential mortgages- Alt A........cccocoeevnenee $ 65 $ — $ 65
Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 48 — 48
Student 10aNS........covrvirrereere e 88 — 88
Total AAA A 201 — 201
BBB -B ... Collateralized debt obligations...................... — 233 233
CCC-Unrated.........ccovreereereernenens Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 6 — 6

$ 207 $ 233 % 440

Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:

Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A s Commercial MOrtgages........ccoveverererrrereresenens $ 2 3 — 3 22
Home equity - Alt A...eeercecee 79 — 79
Other 93 — 93
Total AAA -A....oeeeeee e $ 194 $ — $ 194

@ Weutilize S& Pasthe primary source of credit ratingsin the tables above. If S& Pratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used in that order.
Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, areval ued using val uation techniques. Thefair valuefor themajority of our derivativeinstrumentsaredetermined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as inputs to measure the fair value of collateralized derivatives. Historically, we valued uncollateralized
derivatives by discounting expected future cash flows at a benchmark interest rate, typically LIBOR or itsequivaent. In line with
evolving industry practice, we changed this approach during 2014. We now view the OIS curve as the base discounting curve for
all derivatives, both collateralized and uncollateralized, and have adopted a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the
future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Ol Srate.
Thisisan areain which afull industry consensus has not yet emerged. We will continue to monitor industry evolution and refine
the cal culation methodol ogy as necessary.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

e  Credit Derivatives —Usecredit default curvesand recovery rateswhich aregenerally provided by broker quotesand various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputsin their model valuation. Correlation is derived
using market quotes from brokers and various pricing services.

» Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

e Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives— FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
guoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs asinputs.

*  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
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»  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

Asdiscussed earlier, we makefair value adjustments to model valuationsin order to ensure that those values represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect pricesin arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financia assets and own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit risk
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We aso take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreementsin determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate theimplied probability of default based on the credit spread of the
specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not available,
we usethe credit default spread of aspecific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent). Where specific
proxy credit default swap isnot available, we apply ablended approach based on acombination of credit default swapsreferencing
to credit names of similar credit standing and the historical rating-based probability of default.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 45 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Mortgage servicing rights - We el ected to measure residential mortgage servicing rights, which are classified as intangible assets,
at fair value. Thefair valuefor theresidential mortgage servicing rightsis determined based on an option adjusted approach which
involves discounting servicing cash flows under various interest rate projections at risk-adjusted rates. The valuation model also
incorporates our best estimate of the prepayment speed of the mortgage |oans, current cost to service and discount rateswhich are
unobservable. As changesin interest rates is akey factor affecting the prepayment speed and hence the fair value of the mortgage
servicing rights, we use various interest rate derivatives and forward purchase contracts of mortgage-backed securities to risk-
manage the mortgage servicing rights.

Structured notes and deposits — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded derivatives and are
electedtobemeasuredat fair valueintheir entirety under fair val ueoption accounting principles. Theval uation of hybridinstruments
is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments. The valuation of embedded derivatives may
include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names or volatility of the embedded option.

Cash flows of the funded notes and depositsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted at the relevant
interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads so applied are determined
with referenceto our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets, internal funding rates, and the structured
note rates in recent executions.

Short-term borrowings - Werecord certain securitiessold under repurchaseagreementsat fair value. Thefair value of therepurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities.

Long-term debt — We €elected to apply fair value option to certain own debt issuances for which fair value hedge accounting
otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FV O are traded in secondary markets and, as such,
thefair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments
reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived from the spreads at the
measurement date.

For long-term debt recorded at cost, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices where available. If quoted market
pricesarenot available, fair valueisbased on dealer quotes, quoted prices of similar instruments, or internally devel oped valuation
models adjusted for own credit risks.

Deposits — For fair value disclosure purposes, the carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings, and
certain money market deposits), which represents the amount payable upon demand, is considered to generally approximate fair
value. For deposits with stated maturities, fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered on deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.
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19. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2014 Form 10-K and in Note 19, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in our Form 10-Q for the three month period ended
March 31, 2015 (the "2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q") and the six month period ended June 30, 2015 (the "2015 Second Quarter
Form 10-Q"). Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2014 Form 10-K, our 2015
First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second Quarter Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below, and in our 2014 Form 10-K, our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second
Quarter Form 10-Q, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal
actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may
include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course
of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and
proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adversejudgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions
or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas
and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

In view of the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly
where the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we
cannot determine with any degree of certainty thetiming or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties
or business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present |0ss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
fromtimetotime, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

For thelegal mattersdisclosed bel ow, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, aswell asfor thelegal matters
disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form 10-K and in Note 19, "Litigation and Regulatory
Matters," in our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second Quarter Form 10-Q as to which aloss in excess of accrued
liahility is reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of
which management believes it can make areliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $100 million
for HUSI. The legal matters underlying this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ
significantly from this current estimate.

Based onthefactscurrently known, in respect of each of the bel ow investigations, itisnot practicableat thistimefor usto determine
the terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution or for us to estimate reliably the
amounts, or range of possible amounts, of any fines and/or penalties. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or
penalties could be significant.

Giventhesubstantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and theinherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financia statementsin
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation 1n September 2015, the court in Ofra Levin et al v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et al. (N.Y.
Sup. Ct. 650562/11) (“ State Action”) denied the federal plaintiffsS motion to intervene in the State Action. The plaintiffs have
appealed that decision.

County of Cook v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. In September 2015, the court denied the HSBC defendants maotion
to dismiss.

Lender-Placed Insurance Matters In October 2015, the district court in Weller, et al. v. HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc., et al. (D.
Col. No. 13-CV-00185) issued an order granting final approval of the settlement reached by the partiesin this putative class action
concerning lender placed floodinsurance. Inthisfinal settlement, HSBC agreed to pay $1.8 millioninclusiveof all claims, attorneys
fees and administrative costs.

Credit Default Swap Matters In September 2015, the HSBC defendants settled the In re Credit Default SwapsAntitrust Litigation,
MDL No. 2476, for atotal payment of $25 million. In October 2015, the court granted preliminary approval of the settlement and
scheduled a final settlement approval hearing for April 2016. HSBC Bank USA’s portion of the settlement is $12.5 million.

Foreign Exchange ("FX") Matters

The HSBC defendants settled the consolidated class action in September 2015 for atotal payment of $285 million. HSBC Bank
USA's portion of the settlement is $14.25 million and was settled within reserves. The settlement is subject to court approval.

In September 2015, two putative class action complaints were filed in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec, Canada, against,
among others, HSBC, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC North America, HSBC Bank USA and HSBC Bank Canada. The complaintsallege,
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among other things, that defendants conspired to fix the supply and rates of currency in the foreign currency market by sharing
confidential customer information and coordinating trading to control or manipulate key rates. These actions are in early stages.

Precious Metals Fix Matters

In re Commodity Exchange Inc., Gold Futures and Options Trading Litigation Defendants consolidated motion to dismiss the
second amended consolidated complaint is fully briefed.

In re London Silver Fixing, Ltd. Antitrust Litigation (Silver Fix Litigation) Defendants’ consolidated motion to dismissthe second
amended consolidated complaint is fully briefed.

Platinum and Palladium Fix Litigation Plaintiff'sfiled a second amended consolidated complaint in July 2015. Defendants filed
a consolidated response thereto in September 2015.

Madoff Litigation

In December 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoff") was arrested and ultimately pleaded guilty to running a Ponzi scheme and a
trustee was appointed for theliquidation of hisfirm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment SecuritiesLL C ("Madoff Securities"), an SEC-
registered broker-deal er and investment adviser. Variousnon-U.S. HSBC compani esprovided custodial, administration and similar
servicesto anumber of fundsincorporated outside the United States whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs
(including funds, funds investors and the Madoff Securities trustee, as described below) have commenced Madoff-related
proceedings agai nst numerous defendantsin amultitude of jurisdictions. Various HSBC compani es have been named as defendants
in suitsin the United States, Ireland, Luxembourg and other jurisdictions. Certain suits (which include U.S. putative class actions)
allege that the HSBC defendants knew or should have known of Madoff's fraud and breached various duties to the funds and fund
investors.

In October 2015, the court lifted the stay in Stephen and Leyla Hill, et al. v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. (Case No. 14-CV-9745(LTS),
apurported class action filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against various HSBC defendants,
including HSBC Bank USA, by direct investors in Madoff Securities who were holding their investments as of December 12,
2008. The case seeks to recover damages lost to Madoff Securities' fraud on account of HSBC's purported knowledge and
furtherance of the fraud. The HSBC defendants' response to the complaint is due in November 2015.

There are many factors that may affect the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, of the various Madoff-
related proceedings including, but not limited to, the circumstances of the fraud, the multiple jurisdictions in which proceedings
have been brought and the number of different plaintiffs and defendantsin such proceedings. For these reasons, among others, we
are unable to reasonably estimate the aggregate liability or ranges of liability that might arise as a result of these claims but they
could be significant. In any event, we consider that we have good defenses to these claims and will continue to defend them
vigoroudly.

Mortgage Securitization Matters InAugust 2015, Commerzbank AG withdrew its appeal of the June 2015 decision of the New
York County Supreme Court dismissing the complaint against HSBC in its entirety.

Mortgage Securitization Pool Trust Litigation HSBC's motion to dismiss the National Credit Union Administration Board case
was denied. This matter is now proceeding along with the BlackRock, RPI and Phoenix Light matters.

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Office of Foreign Assets Controls Matters Plaintiffs appeal of the district court's
decision in the Alfredo Villoldo, et al. v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., et al. matter granting the HSBC defendants' motion to dismiss
was consolidated with related matters, and plaintiffsfiled their appeal brief in September 2015. Our appeal brief isduein November
2015.

Telephone Consumer Protection Act Litigation In October 2015, a putative class action entitled Saber Ahmed v. HSBC Bank USA,
National Association (Case 5:15-cv-02057) was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California
against HSBC Bank USA. The action alleges that HSBC Bank USA contacted plaintiff, or the members of the class he seeks to
represent, on their cellular telephones using an automatic telephone dialing system or an artificial or prerecorded voice, without
prior express consent, in violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. 8227 et seq. (“TCPA”). Plaintiff seeks
statutory damages of up to $1,500 for each violation. Thisactionis at avery early stage.
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20.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2015:

Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage Loans |n January 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") to define an in-substance repossession or forecl osure of
residential real estate for purposes of determining whether or not an entity should derecognize a consumer mortgage loan
collateralized by that real estate. Under the standard, an in-substance repossession or foreclosure has occurred if the entity
has obtained legal title to the real estate as a result of the completion of a foreclosure (even if the borrower has rights to
reclaim the property after the foreclosure upon the payment of certain amounts specified by law), or if, through a deed in
lieu of foreclosure or other legal agreement, the borrower conveys all interest in the real estate to the entity in satisfaction
of the loan. The standard also requires entities to disclose both the amount of foreclosed residential real estate held as well
astherecorded investment in consumer mortgageloans coll ateralized by residential real estatethat theentity isinthe process
of foreclosing upon. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2015. The adoption of this standard did not have any impact
on our financial statements. See Note 4, "Loans," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Repurchase to Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures In June 2014, the FASB issued an ASU
which changesthe accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactionsto secured borrowing accounting and requires secured
borrowing accounting for the repurchase agreement in a contemporaneous repurchase financing arrangement. The
accounting changes in the ASU were effective beginning January 1, 2015. The ASU also required new disclosure about
repurchase agreements, securities lending transactions, and repurchase-to-maturity transactions that are accounted for as
secured borrowings to be presented for annual periods beginning January 1, 2015, and for interim periods beginning April
1, 2015. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements,” for the new disclosure required by
this standard.

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers InMay 2014, the FA SB i ssued an A SU which providesaprinciples-
based framework for revenue recognition that supersedes virtually all previously issued revenue recognition guidance.
Additionally, the ASU requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The core principle of the five-step revenue recognition
framework isthat an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customersin
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
While the ASU as originally issued was scheduled to be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1,
2017, in August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date by one year, but provided entities the option to adopt it as of
the original effective date. The amendmentsin the ASU may be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting period
presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of adoption recognized in equity at the date of initial application.
We are currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this ASU, including determining which transition method to
apply.

Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis In February 2015, the FASB issued an ASU which rescinds the deferral of
VIE consolidation guidance for reporting entities with interests in certain investment funds and provides a new scope
exception to registered money market funds and similar unregistered money market funds. The ASU makes several other
amendmentsincluding @) the elimination of certain criteria previously used for determining whether fees paid to adecision
maker represent a variable interest; b) revising the consolidation model for limited partnerships and similar entities which
could be variable interest entities or voting interest entities; ¢) excluding certain fees paid to a decision maker from the risk
and benefit test in the primary beneficiary determination if certain conditions are met; and d) reduces the application of the
related party guidance for VIEs. The ASU will be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2016
and the guidance can be applied either retrospectively or by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to equity with early
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a significant impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued during the first nine months of 2015 that are expected to have
or could have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securitiesand Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in pressreleases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as“may”, “will”, “should”, “would”, “could”, “ appears’, “believe’, “intends’, “ expects’,
“estimates’, “targeted”, “plans’, “anticipates’, “goal”, and similar expressions areintended to i dentify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

e uncertain market and economic conditions, uncertainty relating to the U.S. debt and budget matters, the potentia for
future downgrading of U.S. debt ratings, a decline in housing prices, a decline in energy prices, unemployment levels,
tighter credit conditions, changes in interest rates or a prolonged period of low or negative interest rates, the availability
of liquidity, unexpected geopolitical events, heightened market concernsover sovereign creditworthinessin over-indebted
countries, changes in consumer confidence and consumer spending, and consumer perception as to the continuing
availability of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve;

e changesinlaws and regulatory requirements;
» theability to deliver on our regulatory priorities,
e  extraordinary government actions as aresult of market turmoil;

e capital and liquidity requirements under Basel 111, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital Analysis
and Review ("CCAR"), and the Dodd-Frank Act stresstesting ("DFAST");

e changesin central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;

» theability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association ("HSBC Bank USA™") to fulfill the requirements imposed by the deferred prosecution agreements
withtheU.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney's Officefor the Eastern District of New York, andtheU.S. Attorney's
Office for the Northern District of West Virginia, our agreement with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, our
other consent agreements as well as guidance from regulators generally;

« theuseof usasaconduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;
» theability to successfully manage our risks;
« thefinancial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

»  concentrations of credit and market risk, including exposure to Latin American corporate clients and the oil and gas
markets;

« theability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;
» damageto our reputation;
» theability to attract and retain customers and to retain key employees,

» theeffectsof competitioninthe marketswherewe operateincluding increased competition for non-bank financial services
companies, including securities firms;

e disruptionin our operationsfrom the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, terrorist attacks,
global pandemics, or essential utility outages;

» afailurein or abreach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as aresult of cyber attacks;

e third party suppliers and outsourcing vendors' ability to provide adequate services;
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» losses suffered due to the negligence or misconduct of our employees or the negligence or misconduct on the part of
employees of third parties;

e our ability to meet our funding requirements;

» adverse changesto our credit ratings;

e our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

* increasesin our alowance for credit losses and changesin our assessment of our |oan portfolios;

e changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

* heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financia institutions;

«  continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to residential mortgage servicing practices, with particular focus
on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

»  changesto our mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices,

e changesin the methodology for determining benchmark rates;

» heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on foreign
exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

» changesin bankruptcy lawsto alow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage |oan terms;

e additional financia contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan; and

e unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines.

» theother risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors' in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014 (2014 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of aforward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
HSBC. HUSI may also bereferred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
("MD&A") as"we", "us" or "our".

Current Environment While the U.S. economy continued its overall recovery during the first nine months of 2015, consumer
sentiment declined during the third quarter, falling to its lowest level in 11 months as falling oil prices and a slowdown in key
economies such as China, led to lower expectations of anticipated job and wage growth. The decline in optimism continued to
narrow; however, in late September, consumersincreasingly came to believe that the recent stock market declines had more to do
with international conditions than the domestic economy. In addition, the U.S. labor market slowed in September after a long
stretch of significant job creation, raising concerns that international conditions may be weighing on the domestic economy and
diminishing expectations that the Federal Reserve will raise interest rates in 2015. The prolonged period of low interest rates
continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

During thefirst nine months of 2015, the U.S. economy added almost 1.8 million jobs while the number of long-term unemployed
fell aimost 25 percent and total unemployment fell to 5.1 percent as of September 2015. Economic headwinds remain, however,
aswage growth remainsweak, an elevated number of part-timeworkers continueto seek full-timework, the number of discouraged
people who have stopped looking for work remains elevated and economic uncertainty remains high in many economies outside
theU.S.,, including L atin America, wheretepid economic activity hascontinuedin2015. The sustai nability of theeconomicrecovery
will bedetermined by numerousvariablesincluding consumer sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels
and housing market conditions which will impact corporate earnings and the capital markets. These conditions in combination
with global economic conditions, fiscal policy, geo-poalitical concerns and the impact of recent regulatory changes including the
on-going implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act" or
"Dodd-Frank") and the heightened regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutionswill continue to impact our results
in 2015 and beyond.

While the housing market in the U.S. continues to recover, the strength of recovery varies by market. Certain courts and state
legislatures have issued rules or statutes relating to foreclosures and scrutiny of foreclosure documentation has increased in some
courts. Also, in some areas, officials are requiring additional verification of information filed prior to the foreclosure proceeding.
The combination of these factors has led to increased delays in several jurisdictions which will continue to take time to resolve.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights of HUSI for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

[T 0 (oo 1 0TS $ 204 $ 1 $ 455 $ 284
Rate of return on average: -

TOLA BSSEES ...ttt et e et 4% —% 3% 2%

Total common shareholders eQUILY..........coeoeiererere e 3.8 (4 29 20
NEL TNEErESE MAIGIN ...ttt 1.31 137 1.35 144
EffICIENCY FaHIO . .ecviiveceecie ettt st sttt n e ne e ens 68.5 100.5 74.3 88.8
Commercial net Charge-0ff FaHOM..........cvvuueeeeeeeeseeeeseess s .05 (.01) 10 .08
Consumer net charge-0ff FaiO™ ..o 18 35 34 48

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
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September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as apercent of 10aNSY..............ocvurvueeveeeeeeseeesees s .80% 87%
Commercial allowance as apercent of 10ANSM.............oc.erveereeereeereeeseseeesseesseesssseeessessssses e 82 85
Consumer alowance as apercent of 08NS™ ...........c..evveceeeceeeeeeseee s 72 96
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual deliNQUENCY .........ccveereierinnereseseee e 4.67 5.59
LOBNSTO AEPOSIES FAHOP .......oeoeeeeeeeeee et e s s e sn s e ee e 89.71 01.94
Total capital to risk Welghted 8SSELS..........coiiiiiiii s 16.33 15.78
Tier 1 capital t0 risk WO BSSELS ......cvveiirieresiesiisee e eeee et e et see st stesaeseen e nae e eneeneenes 12.71 11.41
Common equity TIer L Fali0......cccciiiiiii i 12.05 10.33
Total shareholders’ equity t0 tOtal @SSELS.......ccccvrierereererereeee e 10.19 9.14

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DaNKS.............coveiiiiicnce e $ 23214 $ 31,698
QLI o 10 1SS £ 15,652 21,092
Securities availablE-FOr-SAlE.........cviiiiieee e 35,937 30,140
Loans:

COMMEICIAI JOBNS ......veetiiiiecctee ettt ettt et et e e st esaae e sb e e e abe e beesabeeeseesabeesbeesaseesbeesnseenressnns 64,752 58,087

(00015010 1= 0 o= 1S RS 20,190 19,654
TOLAl 1OBNS......eceeeeeet et r e 84,942 77,741
D= 010 = £ S 131,450 116,118

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of domestic deposits equal to or less than $100,000.

Net incomewas $204 million and $455 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared
with net income of $1 million and $284 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Net
income in the current year-to-date period reflects the impact of New York City tax reform which resulted in an increase in tax
expense of $48 million during the second quarter of 2015. Net income in the prior year-to-date period was significantly impacted
by atax reserve release as aresult of the settlement of certain state and local tax audits which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$183 million during the second quarter of 2014 and the impact of New York State tax reform which resulted in an increase in tax
expense of $75 million during the first quarter of 2014.

Income before income tax was $315 million and $740 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with aloss of $28 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014 and income of $198 million
during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. Theincreasein income (loss) before income tax in both periods reflects lower
operating expenses, higher other revenues, higher net interest income and, in the year-to-date period, alower provision for credit
losses.
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Our resultsin al periods were impacted by certain significant items which distort the comparability of the performance trends of
our business between periods. The following table summarizes the impact of these items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Income (loss) before income tax, as reported........c.cooevvvereneseseere e $ 315 $ (280 $ 740 $ 198
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread ...... (96) (7 (214) 20
Litigation expense related to the settlement agreement with the Federal Housing
FiNanCe AQENCY ("FHEA™)..o ettt re s — 108 — 178
Provision for credit losses relating to the increase in loss emergence period used in
our commercial loan collective impairment calCulation...........ccccoveeeeriecenenicnc e, — 25 — 118
Interest benefit related to the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits
resulting in the settlement of uncertain tax POSItIONS..........ccvveerererernenrereee e — — — (120)
Adjusted PerformManCE™ ..o ee e e eene $ 219 $ 98 $ 526 $ 394

@ Represents anon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure.

Excluding the collective impact of the items in the table above, our adjusted performance for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 improved by $121 million and $132 million, respectively, compared with the prior year periods. Theincrease
in the three month period was driven by higher net interest income, higher other revenues due primarily to higher miscellaneous
income associated with credit default swap protection, higher fair value option revenue largely associated with hybrid instruments,
as well as lower losses associated with our legacy structured credit products and lower operating expenses, partially offset by a
higher provisionfor credit losses. Thelower operating expensesweredriven by lower compensatory feeexpenseandlower litigation
costs. Theincreasein theyear-to-date period reflectshigher net interest income and higher other revenuesfor the reasons discussed
above, partially offset by a higher provision for credit losses and higher operating expenses due primarily to higher salaries and
employee benefits.

See "Results of Operations' for more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources' for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trustsl, Il and |11 at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in a net |oss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. Thetrusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA also redeemed al of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in atotal cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basdl 111 final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, thetrust preferred securitieswill start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North Americain the second quarter of 2015.

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previoudly issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank USA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issuedtoHSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate parent, HSBC North
Americalnc. ("HNAI"), in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributionsto its subsidiary,
HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares
of non-cumulative preferred stock. These capital actions were taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel
I11 regulatory capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Our operations are focused on the core activities of our four global businesses and the positioning of our activities towards
international connectivity strategies in order to improve profitability. We also continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to
ensure realization of cost efficiencies. To date, we have identified and implemented various opportunities to reduce costs through
organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary spending and other general efficiency initiatives which have
resulted in workforce reductions. Additional cost reduction opportunities have been identified and are in the process of
implementation. These efforts continue and, as aresult, we may incur restructuring chargesin future periods, the amount of which
will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented. We also continue to evaluate our overall operations as we seek to
optimize our risk profile and cost efficienciesaswell asour liquidity, capital and funding requirements. This could result in further
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strategic actions that may include changes to our lega structure, asset levels, cost structure or product offerings in support of
HSBC's strategic priorities.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP"). Certain reclassifications have been madeto prior year amountsto conform to the current year presentation.

In addition to the U.S. GAAPfinancial resultsreported in our consolidated financial statements, MD& A includes referenceto the
following information which is presented on anon-U.S. GAAP basis:

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and, as aresult, our segment results are prepared and
presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's accounting and reporting policies (" Group Reporting
Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis (anon-U.S. GAAP financial measure) are used in managing our
businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors net income under this basis of
reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis net income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Net income — U.S. GAAP DESIS......cccoviieririreieiise s s s ssss e $ 204 $ 1 $ 455 $ 284
Adjustments, net of tax:
L O8N IMPEITTIENT ...ttt ettt 12 (2 29 2
LOBNS el fOr SAIE.... ..o — — 8 —
PENSION COSES ...ttt bbb e sttt b e s bbb e 2 — 8 11
DEITVELIVES. ...ttt b et b et 1 (5) 2 4
Litigation EXPENSE ...oveeeieeereceeee ettt st neene e re e nne s — (131) (D) (79)
SECUNTIES ...ttt st e st e besbe s re st e s be s bese et e e e e eneeseeneereerenrens 2 1 2 Q)
Tax valuation allOWEANCES.........ccoiiiireiree e — (2 (5) 4
(0] 0= Y/ 3) ©)] @) (5)
(07 0 Ko g L0147 1o o PR R Q) 2 @) 9
(@13 1= SRS 8 4 (8) (12)
Net income (10sS) — Group RePOrting BaSIS........cccvvvverineresiereiereeesesesesseseseeseens 221 (139) 472 191
Tax expense (benefit) — Group Reporting Basis.........ccocvveieieieveeeeeeeeeee e 121 (112 313 (155)
Profit (loss) before tax — Group Reporting Basis........c.covovverereeninenenenenene s $ 342 $ (251) $ 785 $ 36

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basisimpacting our results presented in the table above are
discussed in more detail within "Basis of Reporting" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since
December 31, 2014 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund balance sheet growth, meet cash and capital
needs, and fund investmentsin subsidiaries. Thefollowing table provides balance sheet totals at September 30, 2015 and increases

(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Period end assets:
Short-terM INVESIMENES ......cveivciciee e e e e $ 43,637 $ 10,526 31.8%
[0 LS T R 84,264 7,203 9.3
LOBNS el fOr SAIE.......ouieice e 368 (244) (39.9
LI o O I S5 £ 15,652 (5,440) (25.8)
SECUNTIES. ..ttt sttt e et e e et e et e s be s ae et e beste st enee e e s eneeneenens 50,416 6,807 15.6
(@11 = £SO 10,029 (25) (.2
$ 204366 $ 18,827 10.1%
Funding sources:
TOtAl AEPOSITS....cveveeiiieeiiteeeteeete ettt sttt et eebe e beseetesaesesaeseseas $ 131450 $ 15,332 13.2%
Trading liabiliti€S.....ccveece e eneas 6,336 (1,828) (22.4)
Short-term DOMMOWINGS ......cevviieiriec e e 8,948 (3,847) (30.2)
LONG-tErM dEDt......c.oiveeiiecice e s 33,018 5,494 20.0
All other HahIlTIES ....ccveiecce e 3,794 a77) (4.5)
Shareholders’ EQUITY.........coiieiirie e e 20,820 3,853 22.7
$ 204,366 $ 18,827 10.1%

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments increased since December 31, 2014
driven by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage and opportunistically

deploy them to maximize returns.
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Loans, Net The following summarizes our |oan balances at September 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2014.

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real EStAte........cceeceviciieceecee e $ 12,096 $ 1,796 17.4%
Business and corporate Danking...........ccccoeereneneineeres e 19,514 1,695 95
GIOBE DANKING™ ...t 29,808 3421 13.0
Other COMMEITIAL.......ciuiieieieie e et 3,334 (247) (6.9
TOtal COMMEICIAL.......cceiictieeeece ettt e e et ssreeeareesees 64,752 6,665 115
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMQAgES . ......ueuerererieriee et et 17,460 799 4.8
HOME EQUILY MOMJA0ES .....vevereeeeriiiriiee ettt 1,639 (145) (8.2)
CrEIT CAMOS ...ttt bbbt 682 (38) (5.3
OLNEN CONSUMES ...ttt ettt et ettt nene 409 (80) (16.4)
TOEl CONSUIMEY ...ttt 20,190 536 2.7
TOAl JOBNS ...t 84,942 7,201 9.3
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ..ot 678 2 (.3)
1072 S 1= TR $ 84,264 $ 7,203 9.3%

@ Represents large multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on aglobal basis. Also includes |oans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loans increased compared with December 31, 2014 due to new business activity which reflects our continued focus
on expanding our core offerings and proactively targeting domestic companies with international banking requirements in key
growth markets as well as utilizing our global network to collaborate and grow U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers. Loan growth occurred across a wide range of borrowers and was strongest in the real estate, health care, utility and
textile industries.

Consumer loansincreased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by an increasein residential mortgage |oans as we continue
to target new residential mortgage loan originations towards our Premier and Advance customer relationships and sell newly
originated conforming loans to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Home equity mortgages decreased reflecting net
paydowns as our focus continues to shift towards residential mortgage loans. Credit card receivables and other consumer loans
also decreased reflecting net paydowns.

Prior to 2013, real estate markets in a large portion of the United States had been affected by stagnation or declines in property
values for a number of years. While the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our mortgage loan portfolio have generally deteriorated
since origination, we have seen ageneral improvement inthe LTV sfor our mortgage |oan portfolio in recent years. The following
table presents LTV s for our mortgage loan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans held for sale:

LTVs at LTVs at
September 30, 2015@ December 31, 20140

First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV K 80%0...uiiiiiiieeiiee ettt st st 94.0% 76.8% 92.3% 74.5%
80% S LTV K O0%0....ueeueeueeierieeieeieeiesie sttt 3.3 10.8 4.2 11.9
90% < LTV < 100%0.....0ceceieireecieesieesteesieeeeeesieeeeeessessneeesaeesnneens 1.6 7.3 21 1.7
LTV 2 10090 ...ttt 11 51 13 6.0
Average LTV for portfolio........ccooroennenenene e 56.0 60.1 574 61.6

@ LTVsfor first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTV's for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
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loan origination updated by the changein the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Areaor state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. Asaresult, actual property val ues associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.

@ Current estimated property valuesare cal cul ated using themost current HPI s avail able and applied on anindividual 0an basis, which resultsin an approximate
three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using
HPIs as of June 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at September 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since

December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

COMMENCIAl [OANS......c.ovieiiieieieeeie ettt $ 269 $ (259) (49.1)%
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMQagES.......cvvvrereiireriereeieeiesese e s se e ste e et see e e e e e e eneas 16 2 (111

(@191 g oIS U 0 1= 83 17 25.8

TOtAl CONSUMEY........eiitieie ettt ettt et re e s ste s e e besae e beebe e beennenns 99 15 17.9
Total [0aNS held fOr SAlB.......cuiivciececcc e $ 368 $ (244) (39.9)%

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2014. Balances will fluctuate from period to period
depending upon volume and level of activity. Commercial syndicated loans that are originated with the intent of selling them to
unaffiliated third parties and commercia loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our
exposureto certain total return swaps are classified as commercial loans held for sale and we have elected to designate these loans
under the fair value option. The fair value of commercial loans held for sale under these programs was $175 million and $384
million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loans held for sale also included $27 million and $44 million of global banking loans at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively, aswell as commercial real estate loans totaling $67 million and $100 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Residential mortgage loans held for sale were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2014. We sell al our agency eligible
residential mortgage loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage. Also included in residential mortgage loans
held for sale are subprime residential mortgage |oans of $3 million and $4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, which were acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with
theintent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance
on consumer loans held for sale was $14 million and $15 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Theva uation allowance on commercial loansheld for salewas$21 million and $5 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities balances at September 30, 2015 and
increases (decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Trading assets:
SECUIMEIES™ ...t ee et eese et e s es e se e ssesese e ss e s e ennes $ 9624 $ (3,874) (28.7)%
PreCious MELalS .........cooviviiiic e 1,893 (99) (5.0
DENVAIVES, NP ...ttt se e ee e 4,135 (1,467) (26.2)
$ 15652 $  (5440) (25.8)%
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, NOt et PUrChased ..o $ 717 $ 34 5.0 %
Payables for preCious Metals............ccocvvncnnn s — (22) (100.0)
DENIVAIVES, NED ... 5,619 (1,840) (24.7)
$ 6,336 $ (1,828) (22.4)%

@ SeeNote 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 thefair valueof derivativesincluded in trading assets has been reduced by $5,714 million and $4,811 million,
respectively, relating to amountsrecognized for theobligationto return cash collateral received under master netting agreementswith derivativecounterparties.

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1,681 million and $1,724
million, respectively, relating to amountsrecogni zed for theright to reclaim cash coll ateral paid under master netting agreementswith derivativecounterparties.

Securities balances decreased compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to a decrease in foreign sovereign guaranteed
positions. Securities positions are held to mitigate the risks of interest rate productsissued to customers of domestic and emerging
markets. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased increased compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting increases in short
U.S. Treasury and foreign sovereign guaranteed positions.

Precious metal s trading assets decreased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by decreases in our own gold and palladium
inventory positions held as hedges for client activity as well as lower spot prices. These decreases were partialy offset by an
increase in our own silver inventory position. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may
use derivatives contracts to reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivativesin
the table above.

Derivative asset and liability balances both decreased compared with December 31, 2014 mainly from the impact of increased
netting associated with an increase in central counterparty clearing, partially offset by market movements. Market movements
resulted in lower valuations of equity and commodity derivatives which were partially offset by higher valuations of foreign
exchange, interest rate and credit derivatives.

Securities Securitiesinclude securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity. With regards to securities available for
sale, balanceswill fluctuate between periods depending upon our liquidity position at thetime. Theincreasein bal ances compared
with December 31, 2014 largely reflects purchases of higher-yielding U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities as part
of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the
current interest rate environment and liquidity needs.

Other Assets Other assetsincludesintangiblesand goodwill. Other assetswasflat compared with December 31, 2014 as increased
investmentsin Federal Home L oan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank stock and higher outstanding balancesrelated to security sales
were offset by lower cash collateral posted and lower derivative balances associated with hedging activities.
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Deposits The following summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at September 30, 2015 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

Septezrgfg r30 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Individuals, partnerships and COrpOrations...........coeereererreresensese e $ 106,295 $ 9,908 10.3%
Domestic and foreign bBanks ... 23,208 4,629 24.9
U.S. government and states and political subdiviSions..........ccccevvvvrerereeceeennnn. 942 117 14.2
Foreign governments and official iNSttUtions..........c.ccooveriiene e 1,005 678 *
TOtAl AEPOSITS.....c.ccviieriieteieete ettt s s e s b e sa e b s e neaes $ 131450 $ 15,332 13.2%
TOLAl COME AEPOSIESY ...ttt se e s es e ese s $ 94338 $ 9,852 11.7%

* Not meaningful.

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $100,000.

Deposit balances increased since December 31, 2014 largely due to higher levels of commercia savings and demand deposits
reflecting new business activity in key growth markets, increased wholesale time deposits driven by new issuances, growth in
deposits from individuals driven by the impact of promotional rates offered on savings accounts to our Premier customers and
higher levels of affiliate call deposits. The strategy for our core retail banking business includes building relationship deposits
across multiple markets, channels and segments. This strategy involves variousinitiatives, such as:

e HSBC Premier, a premium service wealth and relationship banking proposition designed for the internationally-minded
client with adedicated premier rel ationship manager. Total Premier depositsincreased to $23,020 million at September 30,
2015 as compared with $20,343 million at December 31, 2014; and

»  Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings decreased compared with December 31, 2014 primarily due to lower levels of
securities sold under repurchase agreements reflecting reduced investor demand and a move away from these borrowings as a
funding source as rates have increased as well as a decrease in commercial paper outstanding driven by maturities.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt increased compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting the impact of debt issuances, including
increased borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB"), partialy offset by debt repayments and
retirements. Debt issuances totaled $3,658 million and $15,798 million during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, respectively, of which $2 million and $23 million, respectively, was issued by HSBC Bank USA. During the first quarter
of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior debt previously issued to HSBC North America, which was partialy offset
during the second quarter of 2015 by the issuance of $1,000 million of senior debt and $850 million of subordinated debt, both to
HSBC North America. During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA also exercised the option to call its remaining junior
subordinated debentures previously issued by HSBC USA to three separate capita trusts, totaling $560 million. See Note 15,
"Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $23 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,476 million and $4,501 million at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program more in the future as part of our efforts
designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $9,324 million of senior debt during the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, which included $3,300 million and $2,700 million of senior notes that were issued by HSBC
USA in February and August, respectively, as well as $3,324 million of structured notes. Total long-term debt outstanding under
this shelf was $21,153 million and $17,161 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Borrowingsfromthe FHL B totaled $5,600 million and $1,000 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

All Other Liabilities All other liabilities decreased slightly compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to lower outstanding
settlement balances related to security purchases, partialy offset by higher derivative balances associated with hedging activities.
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Shareholders' Equity During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its
immediate parent, HNAI and, during the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings
and Regulatory Capital Requirements," for additional details and see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for

information regarding all remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. In the discussion that follows, interest income and rates are presented and analyzed on a taxable equivalent
basisto permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxabl e assets. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest
rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented in this MD&A under the caption "Consolidated Average Balances and Interest

Rates."
The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 Volume Rate 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Interest income:
ShOrt-terM INVESIMENES ... $ 30 $ 11 $ 3 $ 22
Trading SECUMTIES ....c.ecveeeeireeie ettt sttt sttt st e 75 3 9 63
SEOUITIES ..ttt bbb e bt b e bt et e et e b 237 24 28 185
COMMESCIE! JOANS......ceveeeiiiritee e 356 57 5) 304
CONSUMEY [OBNS.......coiiiiiii e 183 7 (3) 179
ONEN ... p e 15 (2 8 9
TOtAl INLEMESE INCOIME.....c. ettt ettt b e e ebe e 896 100 34 762
Interest expense:
DEPOSITS. ..o 77 15 25 37
ShOrt-LEM DOITOWINGS ... 13 4) 6 11
LONG-TEM AEDE ... s 184 44 (25) 165
Tax [iabilitiesS 8N OtNEY .......cveic e 2 — (1) 3
Total INTEIESt EXPENSE.......ccviiieieece e e 276 55 5 216
Net interest income — taxable equivalent DasiS ... 620 $ 45 $ 29 546
Less: tax equivalent adjuSIMENT ..o 3 3
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basiS ... $ 617 543
Yield on total interest @arning aSSELS.......cccevereereeeereeieee e re e 1.90% 1.91%
Cost of total interest bearing liaDilities ... 81 72
LI == e TR o= o [T 1.09 1.19
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds™..............coocveecvemvviereosessessese s 22 18
Net interest margin on average €arning @SSELS .......coevreerieereesereseneseses s 1.31% 1.37%
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2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 Volume Rate 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

SNOrt-TEIM INVESEMENES ...ttt sttt s et e s st e sbaesbe s sbessaeessbesens $ 78 % 24 $ 4 $ 58
Trading SECUMTIES ... 261 13 72 176
SECUMTIES ...ttt b e b ettt e b b 666 (11) 82 595
ComMErCial [08NS.........cccviiiii 1,010 174 (50) 886
CONSUMEN [OBIS ...ttt sttt b et b ettt p e 545 20 @) 532
(@ 13T SO S 44 (5) 18 31
TOtal INTErESE INCOME.....cuiiiciece e et se e ne e neerenns 2,604 215 111 2,278
Interest expense:

D= o0 LS ) RSSO 177 38 31 108
ShOrt-term BOITOWINGS .......cviiiiirrcc e 35 (11) 19 27
[0 TaTo (= 40 1 (= o) SRR 524 139 (102) 487
Tax 1iabilitieS aNd ONES ......c.ccuieiiiic e 10 18 83 (91)
TOtAl INEEMESE EXPENSE. ... vverveeirieierieeste sttt st st sae et st e e be et e steneetenens 746 184 31 531
Net interest income — taxable equivalent basis ... 1858 % 31 $ 80 1,747
Less: tax eqUiValent adJUSIMENE ................evweereereeeseeeeeseesseseesssssessesesssessssesessessesneens °o 12
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basiS.........c.ccvvvvrerenerciereccceee W $1,735
Yield on total interest @arning @SSELS.........cccv i 1.90% 1.88%
Cost of total interest bearing labilitieS .......cceovveireiiiere e 74 57
INEErESt rate SPrE8U .......oveveeiieeeieee e T 116 1.31
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'y.............coccocueveeieeeesseseeeesseeese oo 19 13
Net interest margin on average arning 8SSELS .......cvvvvvvrerierererereseeseeseeseesesesesessens 1.35% 1.44%

@ Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess,
while decreased percentages reflect areduction in this excess.

Net interest income in the year-to-date period of 2014 reflects a $120 million benefit to tax liabilities interest expense related to
the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits, as discussed further below under the heading "Income Taxes." Excluding the
impact of thisitem, net interest income increased $74 million and $234 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, driven by higher interest income in all categories, primarily commercial loans as well as securities and
trading securities, partially offset by higher interest expense due primarily to increased expense from deposits and long-term debt.

Short-term investments Higher interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflectshigher average
balances, primarily in interest bearing deposits with banks and, to alesser extent, securities purchased under agreementsto resell,
partially offset by lower yields on these assets.

Trading securities Theincreaseininterestincomeduring thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2015wasdriven primarily
by a shift in mix to longer term, higher yielding securities and, to alesser extent, higher average securities balances. Securitiesin
the trading portfolio are managed as economic hedges against the derivative activity of our customers, which, in response to the
current interest rate environment, has shifted towards longer term, higher yielding returns.

Securities Interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to a shift in mix
towards longer-term, higher yielding securities and, in the quarter-to-date period, higher average outstanding balances driven
largely by purchases of U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities. These increases were partially offset in the year-to-
date period by lower average outstanding balanceswhich reflectsthe salesof U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-
backed securities.
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Commercial loans Interest incomeincreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher average
balances due to loan growth, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced loans. Lower yields reflect
market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.

Consumer loans Interestincomeincreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher residential
mortgage average balances, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans. Lower yields on newly originated loans
reflect market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.

Deposits Higher interest expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflectstheimpact of higher average
interest-bearing deposit balances, a shift in mix towards higher priced whol esal e time deposits driven by new issuances and higher
rates paid on savings accounts driven by promotional offersto our Premier customers.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflects higher rates
paid, primarily on securities sold under repurchase agreements, partially offset by lower average outstanding borrowings.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher outstanding
borrowings, partially offset by a shift in mix towards lower priced non-subordinated debt.

Tax liabilities and other Excluding the one-time benefit related to the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits discussed
above, interest expense decreased in the year-to-date period as the conclusion of these audits resulted in lower interest-bearing tax
liahility balances.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate............coveveecveiiiiicccieccc e, $ @B $ 9 9 6 66.7%
Business and corporate Danking ..........cooeeerreeeinnseees e 32 36 4 (11.1)
Global DaNKING ........ccoiiii 16 — 16 *
Other COMMENCIE ..o 1) 1 2 *
Total COMMENCIEL........ccooiiiiiic s $ 4 $ 28 % 16 57.1
Consumer:
Residential MOrgages..........occueveiiicieiiiccci e (3) (11) 8 2.7
Home equity MOMQAgES ........c.cruemereiereieiieiee s 2 (5) 3 60.0
Credit Cards ... 7 9 2 (222
OthEr CONSUMES ... 1 2 (1) (50.0)
TOtE CONSUMES ... 3 (5) 8 *
Total provision for Credit I0SSES.......cviiieeicirece e $ 47 $ 23 3% 24 *
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annualized ..............ccc..ooevvevvoernnne. T 02% 0%
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Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real EStaLe..........cvvveeirrreieer e $ @ $ O 3 (3 *
Business and corporate banking ..........coceoeeeeeeererienesesieseseeseeseseeseeseeseseenens 54 111 (57) (51.4)
Global DANKING......coveiieeiriee e 39 36 3 8.3
Other COMMENCIA .........coovieieiiccc s (3) (12 9 75.0
TOtal COMMENCIEL ...t $ 86 $ 134 $ (48 (359
Consumer:
Residential MOrtQageS.........coeueururmrereieieiee e 9) (20) 11 55.0
Home equity MOIMQAJES........cccvrrieieirireeeee s 4) (11) 7 63.6
CrEOIT CAMOS. ...t 14 18 4 (222
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt e 7 3 4 *
TOEl CONSUIMET.......civiiiiirisiete sttt 8 (10) 18 *
Total provision for Credit I0SSES........ooviiciireere s $ 94 $ 124 % (30) (24.2%
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annNUaliZed...............cooeevreerrvererenneen. T 02% 02%

* Not meaningful.

Our provisionfor credit | ossesincreased $24 million during thethree months ended September 30, 2015 driven by ahigher provision
for credit losses in both our commercia and consumer loan portfolios. In the year-to-date period, our provision for credit losses
decreased $30 million as a lower provision for credit losses in our commercia loan portfolio was partialy offset by a higher
provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio. During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we increased our
allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit losses was higher than net charge-offs by $30 million. In the year-to-date
period, wedecreased our allowancefor creditslossesasthe provision for credit |osseswaslower than net charge-offsby $2 million.

Our provision for credit losses in the prior year reflects revisions to certain estimates used in our commercia loan impairment
calculation, including estimates of loss emergence, which resulted in an incremental provision for credit losses of approximately
$25 million and $118 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of
this item, the provision for credit losses in our commercial portfolio increased $41 million and $70 million during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, due primarily to higher provisions associated with oil and gasindustry loan
exposures as well as higher specific customer provisions largely driven by a single customer relationship, higher provisions due
to loan growth and downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain customer relationships. These
increases were partially offset by lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures and rel eases
of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans. Crude oil prices remained depressed during the first nine months of
2015 and as a result of these market conditions, we downgraded certain credits which resulted in a $69 million increase to our
credit loss reserves ($43 million of which was recorded in the third quarter). We will continue to conduct quarterly reviews of our
oil and gasindustry credit exposures to ensure our credit grades continue to reflect current conditions. If oil and gas prices stay at
end of September levels for an extended period of time, further adjustments to our credit |oss reserves may be required.

The provision for credit losses on residential mortgages including home equity mortgages increased $11 million and $18 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, due primarily to the non-recurrence of a $10 million
reduction to our residential mortgage allowance for credit losses that was recorded in the third quarter of 2014 as a result of our
determination that delaysin the processing of certain operational transactionswere overstating our estimate of residential mortgage
loanlossseverity. In addition, thepositiveimpactsfrom lower severity estimatesdueto improvementsin home pricesand continued
improvementsineconomicand credit conditionsincludinglower dollarsof delinquency on accountslessthan 180 dayscontractually
delinquent were more pronounced in the prior year. These increases were partialy offset in the year-to-date period by lower loss
estimates associated with the remediation of certain mortgage servicing activities and lower losses associated with advances made
on behalf of borrowers.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit cards decreased $2 million and $4 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, dueto continued improvementsin economicand credit conditions, includingimprovements
in delinquency roll rates.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2014 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates’ and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
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Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD& A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
(O o ] oo ) == S $ 11 $ 13 $ 2 (@159%
Trust and investment management fEES........cccvviv e 46 35 11 31.4
Other feesand COMMISSIONS .........cciiieiiiieecie ettt re e 188 186 2 11
Trading revenUE (EXPENSE) ......ccvreererrererierireeeseeesr e nneaes (34) 9) (25) *
Net other-than-temporary impairment I0SSES.........ccvevevrerereniere e — (4) 4 1000
Other securities gains (10SSES), NEL.........cceereereireeerree e 11 27 (16) (59.3)
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates...........coooeoverrcvinnecceneeeceene 53 53 — —
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE............coecererernenenesee e 16 17 Q) (5.9)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 165 36 129 *
Other income:
Valuation of loans held for sale............cooiiiiiiiiie (6) 2 8 *
[NSUFBINCE ...t 2 5 (3) (60.0)
MiSCElaNEOUS INCOME........eiiiiiieciecie ettt ettt et e st ennens 79 25 54 *
Total OthEr INCOME........oiiiiieeee e e 75 32 43 *
TOtal OthEr TEVENUES........ooueeieetecteee ettt sttt st e be et $ 531 $ 38 $ 145 376 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ... $ 32 % 40 $ 8 (20.00%
Trust and investment Management fEES........cvvririrrinrerees s 127 98 29 29.6
Other feesand COMMISSIONS ........ccoviieiiiiiece e sae e 560 541 19 35
Trading reVENUE (EXPENSE) ......c.vuruiueuirririeieieieitieieieieseieisaeie e sesneas 23 139 (116) (83.5)
Net other-than-temporary impairment [0SSES.............ccovevrreiinnseiree s — (1) 11 100.0
Other SECUMtIES JAINS, NEL ......veuiriiirieiee et ere e 69 42 27 64.3
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates...........coooeovcnicciiincccccncc 162 151 11 7.3
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE............ccoveerieeenreeenesee e 50 87 (37) (425)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 306 20 286 *
Other income:
Valuation of loans held for sale............cooiiiiiiii (15) 2 17) *
INSUFBINCE ...ttt ettt b e ne e sae e nnesneesre e 14 13 1 7.7
MiSCElaNEOUS INCOME........eiiiiiieciecie ettt ettt e st et s ennens 70 25 45 *
Total OthEr INCOME........eiiieiieee e 69 40 29 72.5
TOtal OthEr FEVENUES.......ecve ettt ene e $ 1398 $ 1147 $ 251 219 %

* Not meaningful.

Credit card fees Credit card fees decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to lower credit
card late fees. In 2015, we began reporting credit card late feesin interest and, as aresult, we reported $2 million and $6 million
of credit card late fees in interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015.
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Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees increased in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 driven by higher investment management fees due in part to growth in assets under management principally
in our emerging market bond funds. In addition, in 2015, we began reporting certain investment management fees associated with
our Private Banking business in trust and investment management fees. As a result, we reported $6 million and $11 million of
Private Banking fees in trust and investment management fees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, that previously would have been reported in other fees and commissions.

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as
higher credit facility fees resulting from increased levels of commercial lending activity were largely offset by lower other fees
which reflects theimpact of Private Banking investment management fees discussed above, lower custodial fees dueto adecrease
in precious metalsaverageinventory held under custody and lower account service feesdue primarily to adeclinein non-sufficient
funds and late fees. The following table summarizes the components of other fees and commissions. During the second quarter of
2015, we determined that loan syndication fees would be better presented within credit facilities in the table below. As a result,
we reclassified $15 million and $33 million of loan syndication fees from other fees to credit facilities during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, to conform with current year presentation.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES .....oviierereies e $ 73 $ 80 (7) (8.8)%
Credit faCilitIES....ueceicecc e e e e s 91 71 20 28.2
CUSLOAIAl TEES ... 8 11 3 (273
(@107 1= =TT 16 24 (8 (333
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS.........ccvirrirrinrie e $ 188 $ 186 $ 2 1.1%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES ...ttt $ 214 $ 228 $ (19 (6.1)%
Credit faCilitIES......ecvecece e e e e 264 194 70 36.1
CUSLOTIE] FEES ... eseseeee s 16 32 (16)  (50.0)
(@1 91C g == SRR 66 87 (2) (24.1)
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS.........cccviiirrinrie e $ 560 $ 541 $ 19 35%
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Trading revenue Trading revenueisgenerated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading related revenue by business activity and includes net interest income earned on
trading instruments, aswell as an alocation of the funding benefit or cost associated with the trading positions. Thetrading related
net interest income component isincluded in net interest income on the consolidated statement of income. Trading revenuesrel ated
to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
TradiNG FEVENUE......c.oeceeeeeee e $ (34) $ 9 $ (25 *
NEL INEreSt INCOME ...t 36 23 13 56.5
Trading related FEVENUE..........coov s $ 2 $ 14 $ (120 (85.7)%
Business Activities: -
DENVAIVES™Y ....oooovvveeoeiis sttt $ (43) $ (48 $ 5 104
Balance Sheet Management ... (3) (6) 3 50.0
FOreign €XChaNGE ........ccvovreeeeeirere ettt 43 50 (7 (@40
PreCioUS MELAIS.......c.covieirieeiereet s 14 17 3) (17.6)
Capital FINANCING ......covovrererireerrr s 8) 1 ©)] *
OLhEr TrA0ING ....ceveveeesiee ettt 1) — (1) *
Trading related FEVENUE..........coov s $ 2 $ 14 $ (120 (85.7)%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Trading FEVENUE.........c.ciiiiricc s $ 238 139 $ (116) (835%
NEL INLErESt INCOME ... 169 72 97 *
Trading related rEVENUE............ccciiiiicccc e $ 192 $ 211 $ (19 (9.0)%
Business Activities: -
DENVAIVES™Y ....ooooeeoee sttt $ 30 $ 24 % 6 250%
Balance Sheet Management ... (19) 9) (10) *
FOreign eXChange ..o s 156 160 4 (2.5)
PreciouS MELalS..... ..o 43 38 5 13.2
Capital FINANCING .......ccoviiiiriiiirrrrrr e (14) 1 (15) *
OthEr Tra0iNG ....ceeeveeeiee ettt (4) (3) (1) (333
Trading related rEVENUE............ccciiiiicccc e $ 192 $ 211 $ (19 (9.0)%

* Not meaningful.
@ Includes derivative contracts related to credit default and cross-currency swaps, equities, interest rates and structured credit products.

Trading related revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to lower revenue from Capital
Financing, foreign exchange and, in the three month period, precious metals, partially offset by higher revenue from derivatives
and, in the year-to-date period, precious metals. In addition, while higher losses from Balance Sheet Management related activities
contributed to the decrease in the year-to-date period, Balance Sheet Management revenues improved in the three month period.

Trading revenue from derivative productsimproved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven primarily
by lower losses related to our legacy structured credit products as the prior year periods reflect losses on the transfer of risk
associated with portions of our credit derivatives portfolio. Thisimprovement was partially offset by lower revenuefrom emerging
markets related products.

Trading revenue related to Balance Sheet Management activities improved during the three months ended September 30, 2015
and declined in the year-to-date period due to the performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign exchangetrading revenuewas|ower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by credit valuation
adjustments related to the deterioration of a single counterparty.
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Precious metal s trading revenue decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and increased in the year-to-date
period. The decreasein the three month period reflectstheimpact of declining trade volumesfrom reduced investor demand, which
was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher net interest income.

Capital Financing revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to valuation adjustments
on credit default swap hedge positions and val uation losses on premium bond positions.

Net other-than-temporary impairment losses During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, there were no other-
than-temporary impairment |osses recognized. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the debt securities
held by a consolidated variable interest entity ("VIE") otherwise known as Bryant Park, which were previously determined to be
other-than-temporarily impaired, had changes to their other-than-temporary impairment estimates related to the credit component
which were recognized in earnings. Bryant Park was closed during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Other securities gains (losses), net We maintain various securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk
management strategies. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we sold $1,190 million and $9,882 million,
respectively, of primarily U.S. Treasury, U.S. government sponsored and government agency mortgage-backed securities as part
of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the
current interest rate environment and liquidity needs compared with sales of $7,601 million and $23,600 million during the prior
year periods. Other securities gains (losses), net declined in the three month period due primarily to gains realized from the sale
of certain U.S. Treasury securitiesinthe prior year period aswerebal anced the portfolio toimproveinterest income. Other securities
gains (losses), net improved in the nine month period driven largely by losses associated with the sale of certain legacy asset-
backed securities in the prior year compared with higher gains from security sales in the current year reflecting more favorable
market conditions. The gross realized gains and losses from sales of securitiesin both periods, which isincluded as a component
of other securities gains (losses), net above, are summarized in Note 3, "Securities,”" in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Affiliateincomeincreased intheyear-to-date period due primarily to higher billings
associated with internal audit activities performed for other HSBC affiliatesand higher feesrelated to supporting growth initiatives
intheglobal paymentsand cash management business, partially offset by lower feesassociated with residential mortgage servicing
activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue The following table presents the components of residential mortgage banking revenue.
The net interest income component reflected in the tableisincluded in net interest incomein the consolidated statement of income
and reflects actual interest earned, net of interest expense and corporate transfer pricing.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INErESt INCOIME ...t $ 44 % 45 $ 1) (2.2)%
Servicing related income:
Servicing fEE INCOME........ccociiiiciiece e 13 17 4 (235)
Changesin fair value of Mortgage Servicing Rights ("MSRs") dueto: ..........
Changes in valuation model iNputs or assUMPLiONS............coovvnnenieniinen. (21) 2 (23) *
CUSLOMES PAYMENES......ocuiiiiiiiii 7 (6) (1) (@67
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changesin value of MSRs... 28 — 28 *
Total servicing related INCOME .......cooeiieice e 13 13 — —
Originations and sales related income (10ss):
Gains (losses) on sales of residential MOrtgages...........covvvreverrerererererererenen. 2) 2 - —
Recovery for repurchase obligations............cccoocinnciiniccce e 2 4 (2) (50.0)
Total originations and sales related inCOmMe (10SS)......c.vovrerveeererenrerereresereeens — 2 (2) (100.0)
Other MOrtgage iNCOME...........cuiiiiicii s 3 2 1 50.0
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 16 17 (1) (5.9)
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue..............ccocoevvcccinnccnene, $ 60 $ 62 $ 2 (3.2%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INEEIESL INCOME ...v.vvvviectctete ettt ettt bbb bbbt bbbttt bens $ 133 $ 137 $ 4 (2.9)%
Servicing related income:
SErViCiNg fEEINCOME.......oiieecece e 43 52 9 @a7.3)
Changesin fair value of MSRSAUETO: ........ccoceviiiiiiiine e
Changes in valuation model inputs or assumpLions...........cceevveeninninnnnnn, (13) (22) 9 40.9
CUSLOMEN PAYIMENLS. ... ccviueetereetesieteseesesiesessesessesessesessessesessesessesessesessesessensssenes (16) (23) 7 30.4
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changesin value of MSRs... 34 37 3 (8.2)
Total servicing related INCOME.........ccuviieciiieece e 48 44 4 9.1
Originations and sales related income (10ss):
Gains (losses) on sales of residential MOrtgages........ccocvveveereereereereeierieeieseennns (11) 2 (9 *
Recovery for repurchase obligations............ocveiinere s 7 38 (31) (81.6)
Total originations and sales related inCOmMe (10SS)........covevereeereeerieeneeeeenee (4) 36 (40) *
Other MOrtgage iNCOME..........ciuirerereereeeeeeeeese e srese e sre e eeseeseeeeneeeeseesessessens 6 7 Q1 @43
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 50 87 (37) (425)
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue..........occoeeevvreenenncccenenes $ 183 $ 224 $ (41) (183%

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income was modestly lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as higher amortization of
deferred origination costs in the current year due to slightly higher portfolio prepayments and lower net interest income from a
declining home equity mortgage portfolio waslargely offset by higher net interest incomedriven by growthinresidential mortgage
average outstanding bal ances. Consistent with our strategy, additionsto our residential mortgage portfolio are primarily mortgages
to our Premier and Advance customers, while sales of loans consist of newly originated conforming loans sold to PHH Mortgage
as discussed further below.
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Total servicing related income was flat in the three months ended September 30, 2015 and increased in the year-to-date period as
improved net hedged M SRs results were offset in the three month period, and partially offset in the year-to-date period, by lower
servicing fees due to adecline in our average serviced portfolio. As aresult of our strategic relationship with PHH Mortgage, we
no longer add new volume to our serviced portfolio asall agency eligible loans are sold to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released
basis. Net hedged M SRs resultsimproved in the three month period as higher valuation losses driven by declining mortgage rates
in the current year period were more than offset by higher returns from instruments used to hedge changesin the fair value of the
MSRs. In the year-to-date period, net hedged M SRs results improved primarily due to lower valuation losses associated with
declining mortgage rates, partially offset by lower returns from instruments used to hedge changesin the fair value of the MSRs.

Originations and sales related income (loss) declined in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 largely due to lower
recoveries for repurchase obligations associated with loans previously sold and, in the year-to-date period, losses associated with
the execution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activities. During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement
with the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") for $25 million which settled our liability for substantially all
loans sold to the FHL M C from January 1, 2000 through 2013. The settlement and are-assessment of the residual exposure resulted
in arelease of reserves. We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by
the settlement agreement.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loansheld for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain own fixed-rate debt i ssuances
and all of our hybrid instruments issued, inclusive of structured notes and structured deposits. We also use derivatives to
economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with certain financial instruments for which fair value option accounting has
been elected. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives increased in the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 attributable primarily to the widening of our own credit spreads associated with our own debt, which
waspartially offset intheyear-to-date period by anet lossrecorded during the second quarter of 2015 rel ated to changesin estimates
associated with the val uation techniques used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits. See Note 10, "Fair
Value Option," in the accompanying consolidated financia statements for additional information including a breakout of these
amounts by individual component.

Other income Other income increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to gains associated
with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of asingle client exposure, partially offset by losses from
valuation write-downs on a commercial loan held for sale, the non-recurrence of a gain of $16 million from the sale of certain
commercial MSRs in the third quarter of 2014, losses associated with fair value hedge ineffectiveness and, in the year-to-date
period, lower income related to bank owned life insurance.

Operating Expenses Compliance costs, which remained a significant component of our cost base, totaled $33 million and $159
million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $54 million and $199 million in the
prior year periods. While we continue to focus attention on cost mitigation efforts in order to continue realization of optimal cost
efficiencies, compliance related costs remain elevated due to the remediation required by regulatory consent agreements and the
implementation of globally consistent and rigorous financial crime controls ("Globa Standards").
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The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DENEfitS ..o $ 254 $ 226 $ 28 12.4 %
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL.....oouieeiiee e eee et sie st et seee e e et st e see e e e sseeeesneeneas 57 59 2 (3.4)
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") ......ccoiiioiiiceerreeee 66 56 10 17.9
Fees paid to HSBC Technology and Services (USA) ("HTSU")...cccceeuevennee 250 274 (24) (8.8)
Feespaid to other HSBC affili@tes.......cccoveeriererinerr e 45 58 (13) (22.4)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates.........ccovevvereencencenecce 361 388 (27) (7.0)
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWaIE............cvvveuireeireereree s 12 12 — —
MAKELING ... 16 9 7 77.8
OULSIOE SEIVICES. ...ttt 23 5 18 *
Professional fEES...........cciiiiiiiccc s 32 35 (3 (8.6)
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fee................... 29 22 7 31.8
MiISCEITANEOUS........coeiiiiiiic s 2 178 (176) (98.9)
TOtal OtNEr EXPENSES.....cocuiuieiirieieieitieieieieieeieie e 114 261 (147) (56.3)
Total OPErating EXPENSES.........cccuiuiuiiiiieieces s $ 786 $ 934 $ (148 (15.8)%
PErsoNNEl - QVErage NUMDE ............ooveereeereeeeseeeseseeseseeseseeeessee s sese s ses s 6,097 6083
EffICIBNCY FAIO....c.eieeceeieee e 68.5%  100.5%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DENEFITS ..o $ 767 $ 664 $ 103 155 %
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NMEL.....otieiiiteeee sttt b e sr e e sre e sne e 172 168 4 24
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Feespaid to HMUS.......ccooiee e 199 167 32 19.2
Feespaid tO HTSU ......c.oiiiiiiicccc s 754 798 (44) (5.5)
Fees paid to other HSBC affili@tes........ccvueueururieieieieieieieieieieieeie e 145 162 (17) (10.5)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccocvviiiiciiiniccccin, 1,098 1,127 (29) (2.6)
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWENE............cccueucuciiiiicicicc s 37 39 2 (5.1
MAIKELING ...t bbb et st nne s 48 39 9 231
(@015 L0 (SRS oY o= 66 31 35 *
ProfESSioNal fEES........cuiuiuiiririeieieirieie ettt 84 86 2 (2.3)
FDIC aSSESSMENT FEE.....viie et ene s 88 79 9 114
MISCEIIANEOUS......cocvviiiieieieieieieie ittt bbbt 53 327 (274) (83.8)
TOtal Other EXPENSES. ... oottt ene s s 376 601 (225) (37.4)
Total OPErating EXPENSES......cvcveireriereiirerisieree sttt se ettt b b s $2413 $2560 $ (147) (5.7)%
PErsONNEl - QVErage NUIMDE ............rvuueerrerreeeeeseeesessessesesessssess st sesssssssneens T 6,074 6,141
EffICIENCY FaHIO.....c.eeeeeereeie ettt e e 74.3% 88.8%

* Not meaningful.

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense increased during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 due primarily to the addition of higher cost personnel associated with growth initiativesin certain businesses,
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strengthening controls and the implementation of Global Standards, partially offset by the impact of continued cost management
efforts including a reduction in Retail Banking and Wealth Management personnel driven by a reduction in staff performing
residential mortgage servicing activities on behalf of HSBC Finance and the impact of branch optimization.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense was relatively flat in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support services from HSBC affiliates decreased in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 primarily due to changing the billing process for certain third-party loan servicing costs from support service
fees paid to HTSU in 2014 to a direct expensein 2015 and lower compliance costs, partially offset by increased costs associated
with our investment in process enhancements and infrastructure to improve and modernize our legacy business systems, increased
staffing associated with stress testing and reporting activities and higher shared service fees paid to HMUS. Compliance costs
reflected in support servicesfrom affiliatestotaled $29 million and $148 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, compared with $52 million and $191 million in the year-ago periods. A summary of the activities charged
tousfromvariousHSBC &ffiliatesisincludedin Note 13, " Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Other expenses Other expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 reflects $108 million and $178
million, respectively, of litigation expense related to the settlement of the FHFA matter. Excluding the impact of thisitem, other
expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by lower expense associated with our
expectation of compensatory fees payableto government sponsored entities (" GSES") asthe current year periodsreflect asettlement
of certain exposures which resulted in abenefit of $18 million and $14 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, compared with expense of $15 million and $21 millionin the prior year periods. Also contributing to the
decrease was lower litigation expense, higher levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software and lower
provisions associated with off-balance sheet credit exposures. These decreases were partially offset by higher outside services
expense due to changing the billing process for certain third-party loan servicing costs as discussed above, higher marketing
expenses and higher deposit insurance assessment fees.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio was 68.5 percent and 74.3 percent during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, respectively, compared with 100.5 percent and 88.8 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency ratio was impacted
in each period by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair value
option accounting. Excluding the impact of thisitem, our efficiency ratio was 74.7 percent and 79.6 percent during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with 101.3 percent and 88.2 percent in the year-ago periods due
to lower operating expenses driven by lower litigation expense, higher net interest income and higher other revenues.

100



HSBC USA Inc.

Income taxes The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the total income tax
provision attributable to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory incometax rate.................... $ 110 350% $ (100 (35.00%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from: ...
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ... 9 2.9 2 (7.1
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items.............cccviciiiiiciicne, ) (0.6) 1 3.6
Items affecting Prior PEOAS? ..........ccooc.orveeneeiereesenesssessess s (1) (0.3) (1) (393
Impact of FOreign OPEratioNS ..........ccvveireireireer e — — 2 7.1
Low income housing tax credit investments, Nt ............ccccocovvveccccenne. (6) (1.9) (M (250
Change in valuation allowanCeS rESEIVES.........ovuererererieieneseseiese s — — 3 (10.7)
OHNEYN ... 1 0.3 1 3.6
Total income tax expense (DENEFIL) .........coererierieeee s 111 352% $  (29) (103.6)%
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate.................... $ 259 35.0% $ 69 35.0 %
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:..........cccccccciiecccceee e
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ... 20 2.7 11 5.6
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes'™¥............cccccovuvrrrrennee. 49 6.6 60 30.3
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items.............ccoviciiiicccine, 4) (0.5) 3) (1.5)
Items affecting prior PEOAS? ..........cooc.irveeneeeereesensssesessss s (8) (1.1) (35)  (17.7)
Uncertain tax POSItioNS? ..........cccovvvveeeemmmmerresrsessessssssessssssssssssssseees 1 0.1 (181)  (91.4)
Impact of foreign OPErations ..........ccoeereirirnene e — — 3 15
Low income housing tax credit investments, Net ...........cccoeverenenenenenenne. (%)) (2.3) (21) (10.6)
Change in valuation allowances reserves™ ............cooovveomervvieneeinnsiosnnsenns (6) (0.8) 10 5.1
ONEY ..o 9 1.2) 1 0.5
Total income tax eXpense (DENEFIL)........cveurreeeuerreee e $ 285 385% $ (86) (434)%

@ For 2015, the amount mainly relates to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York City Tax Reform that was enacted on April 13, 2015 as
discussed further below. For 2014, the amount mainly relates to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York State Tax Reform that was
enacted on March 31, 2014 which resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $75 million in the first quarter of 2014.

@ For 2014, the amounts relate to changes in estimates of the amount of state income taxes deductible on the federal income tax return and changesin state
tax expense as aresult of filing amended state tax returns upon the closing of the 2006 - 2009 federal audits.

®  For 2014, the amount mainly reflects the resolution and settlement with taxation authorities of certain significant state and local tax audits during the second
quarter of 2014 which is discussed further below.

@ For 2014, theamount rel ates to the establishment of avaluation allowance against our deferred tax assets dueto New York State Tax Reform that was enacted
on March 31, 2014.

The financia performance of HSBC North America and its subsidiary entities continues to improve and therefore, at September
30, 2015, reliance has been placed solely on projected future taxable income from continuing operations in our evaluation of the
recognition of deferred tax assets. The changeto reliance on futuretaxabl eincome from continuing operationswithin our evaluation
of the recognition of deferred tax assets did not have a significant impact on our tax provision.

On April 13, 2015, New York Governor Cuomo signed legidation related to the 2015-2016 budget containing amendments to
reform New York City’scorporatetax rules. Thesereformsalign New York City’scorporatetax ruleswith New York Statefollowing
the changes previously enacted to the latter in 2014. The legidation is retroactively effective as of January 1, 2015, which is the
same general effective date for the New York State corporate tax reform. These changes will have asignificant and positive long-
term impact on HSBC entities with activity taxed in New York, including us. Notwithstanding the positive long-term impact, the
changes to the New York City tax rules resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $48 million in the
second quarter of 2015, the period in which the rules were enacted.
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During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and | ocal tax auditsresulting in the settlement of significant uncertain
tax positions covering anumber of years. Asaresult, wereleased tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and
issuesunder review which resulted inanincometax benefit of $183 million. In addition, wereleased our accrued interest associated
with the tax reserves released which resulted in a $120 million benefit to interest expense.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have four distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management (“RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). The segments, which are generally based upon
customer groupings and global businesses, are described under Item 1, "Business," in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no
changes in the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form
10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group
Reporting Basis (anon-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and
decisionsabout allocating resources, such asemployees, are primarily made on thisbasis. However, we continue to monitor capital
adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis. The significant differences between
U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in Note 14, "Business Segments,” in our 2014
Form 10-K.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAPfinancial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changesto this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management Our RBWM segment providesafull range of banking and wealth products and services
through our branches and direct channelsto individuals. These services include asset-driven services such as credit and lending,
liability-driven services such as deposit taking and account services and fee-driven services such as advisory and wealth
management. During the first nine months of 2015, we continued to direct resources towards the development and delivery of
premium service. Particular focus has been placed on HSBC Premier, HSBC's global banking servicethat wasre-launched in 2014
and offers customers a seamless international service, and HSBC Advance, a proposition directed towards the emerging affluent
client in theinitial stages of wealth accumulation.

Consistent with our strategy, the growth of our residential mortgage portfolio is driven primarily by lending to our Premier and
Advance customers. Following the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013,
we sell our agency eligible originations directly to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis, resulting in no new mortgage
servicing rights being recognized.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INLEFESE INCOIME.......cuiieetetieer ettt $ 192 $ 196 $ 4 (2.0)%
Other Operating iNCOME...........oucueiireriererer e 85 98 (13) (13.3)
Total OPErating iNCOME ........cerveerieerreerreesre ettt 277 294 a7) (5.8)
Loan impairment CREaIgES.........cocovveuererereeeres e 14 11 3 27.3
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.ccueiiieieteisesee ettt 263 283 (20) (7.2)
OPErating EXPENSES.......ooveureerereereee et nene s 267 343 (76) (22.2)
LOSSEFOrE taX ....c.vevieceereeerree e $ 4 % (60) $ 56 93.3 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Net iNtErest iNCOME........cucuiiiic s $ 584 $ 606 $ (22) (3.6)%
Other Operating INCOME..........cvveerirerererereee et seene e 258 315 (57) (18.1)
Total OPErating INCOME.........cvoireeiee e 842 921 (79) (8.6)
Loan impairment Charges...........ccuererrensenecesese st 51 34 17 50.0
Net OPErating INCOME......c.oviveieiee e 791 887 (96) (10.8)
OPErating EXPENSES ......vvvreerererereresereseseseseseses s ese s se e e e e e e sesesesesesessssseens 848 920 (72) (7.8)
LOSS BEFOr@ taX.......c.eeeiiiciciiic s $ (57) $ (33) $ (24) (72.7)%

Our RBWM segment reported alower loss before tax during the three months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to lower
operating expenses driven by adjustments to certain accruals as discussed below, partially offset by lower net interest income,
lower other operating income and higher loan impairment charges. In the year-to-date period, loss before tax increased as lower
operating expenses was more than offset by lower net interest income, lower other operating income and higher loan impairment
charges.

Net interest income in the prior year-to-date period reflects an $11 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax
positionswhich were settled with the taxing authoritiesin the second quarter of 2014. Excluding theimpact of thisitem, net interest
income was lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to higher amortization of deferred origination
costs due to higher prepayments as well as lower net interest income from a declining home equity mortgage portfolio, partially
offset by higher net interest income driven by growth in residential mortgage average outstanding balances.

Other operating income decreased in the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven by lower net hedged M SR results and
lower servicing feesdueto adeclinein our average serviced portfolio. In the year-to-date period, other operating income decreased
due primarily to alower recovery for mortgage |oan repurchase obligati ons associated with previously sold loans, asthe prior year
period reflects arel ease of reserves due primarily to a settlement with FHLM C which settled our liability for substantially all loans
sold to FHLMC, as well as losses associated with the execution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activities and lower
servicing fees.

Loan impairment charges increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as the positive impacts from
lower severity estimates due to improvements in home prices and continued improvements in economic and credit conditions
including lower dollars of delinquency on accounts |essthan 180 days contractually delinquent were more pronounced in the prior
year. In addition, the prior year periods reflect arevision to our loss severity calculation which reduced our residential mortgage
allowance for credit losses by $10 million in the third quarter of 2014. These increases were partially offset in the year-to-date
period by lower |oss estimates associ ated with the remediation of certain mortgage servicing activities and lower |osses associ ated
with advances made on behalf of borrowers.

Other operating expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by lower expense
associated with our expectation of compensatory fees payable to GSEs as the current year periods reflect a settlement of certain
exposures which resulted in a benefit of $18 million and $14 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with expense of $15 million and $21 million in the prior year periods. Also contributing to the decrease
waslower litigation expenseaswell astheimpact of several cost reductioninitiativesrelating to our retail branch network, primarily
optimizing staffing and administrative areas.
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Commercial Banking CMB'sgoal isto bethe banking partner of choicefor international businesses building on our rich heritage,
international capabilities and customer relationshipsto enable global connectivity. CMB strivesto execute thisvision and strategy
by focusing on key markets with high concentrations of international connectivity. Our CMB segment serves the markets through
three client groups, notably Large Corporate, Middle Market and Business Banking. We also have a specialized Commercia Real
Estate group which focuses on sel ective business opportunitiesin marketswhere we have strong portfolio expertise. Thisstructure
allowsusto align our resourcesin order to efficiently deliver suitable products and services based on our clients' needs and abilities.
Payments and Cash Management, Global Trade and Receivables Finance, Credit and Lending, and Capital Financing are key
product groups which enable CMB to deliver the global connections required by customers. Whether it is through commercial
centers, the retail branch network, or via HSBCnet, CMB provides customers with products and services needed to grow their
businesses internationally and delivers those products and services through its rel ationship managers who operate within arobust,
customer focused compliance and risk culture and collaborate across HSBC to capture a larger percentage of arelationship. An
increasein the number of relationship managers and product partnersisenabling usto gain alarger presencein key growth markets,
including the West Coast, Southeast, Midwest and Texas.

New loan originations have resulted in increases in quarter-to-date average loans outstanding of 23 percent to Large Corporate
customers and 26 percent to Commercial Real Estate customers as compared with the third quarter of 2014. Total quarter-to-date
averageloansoutstanding increased 19 percent acrossall CMB client groups ascompared with thethird quarter of 2014. In addition,
total quarter-to-date average deposits outstanding increased 6 percent across all CMB client groups as compared with the third
quarter of 2014 which reflects executing a key strategy to grow the Payments and Cash Management business through our
international network.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INErest INCOME.......cooiiiiii s $ 214 $ 204 $ 10 4.9 %
Other 0perating iINCOME. ..o 82 0 (8) (8.9)
Total OPErating INCOME ........cerveereeerr st 296 294 2 7
Loan impairment Charges...........ccccciiccciiccccee s 24 29 (5) (17.2)
NEt OPErating INCOIME.......c.civeiireerreerere e 272 265 7 2.6
OPErating EXPENSES........vivevreerereerererereereree s rer e seesesrenenens 184 169 15 89
Profit DEFOrE taX .....cocvveueirirecieiere et $ 88 $ % $ (8) (8.3)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INTErESL INCOM ... ettt et s b e e nne s $ 626 $ 503 $ 33 5.6 %
Other OpeErating INCOIME.........ccvreerereerireeereee et seene e 230 222 8 3.6
Total OPErating INCOME.......ccveivierierere et 856 815 41 50
L0oan impairment Charges..........coovuerrerenenseseeeseee e 38 119 (81) (68.1)
Net OPErating INCOME. ... s 818 696 122 175
OPEratiNG EXPENSES.....eeeeeeueereeeeieeuereeresresre st srestesaessessesseseessesenseneesesaesseens 538 501 37 7.4
Profit DEFOr@IAX ...cceeiveeee ettt s $ 280 $ 195 $ 85 43.6 %

Our CMB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven by lower other
operating income and higher operating expenses, partially offset by higher net interest income and lower loan impairment charges.
Our CMB segment reported a higher profit before tax during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher net
interest income, higher other operating income and lower loan impairment charges, partially offset by higher operating expenses.

Net interest income increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to the favorable impact of higher loan
balances, primarily in key growth markets, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced |oans and the
prior year-to-date period reflects arel ease of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which were settled with the taxing
authoritiesin the second quarter of 2014.

Other operating income in the prior year periods reflect again of $16 million from sale of certain commercial MSRsin the third
quarter of 2014. Excluding the impact of thisitem, other operating income was higher during the three and nine months ended

104



HSBC USA Inc.

September 30, 2015 driven primarily by higher feesgenerated from anincreasein credit commitments, gainson salesin Commercial
Real Estate and higher GB&M collaboration income due to an increase in corporate derivatives and capital financing.

Loanimpairment chargesintheprior year reflectsarevisionto certain estimatesused in our commercial |oanimpairment cal cul ation
which resulted in aloan impairment charge of approximately $22 million and $94 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of this item, loan impairment charges were higher during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by higher provisions for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expensesincreased during thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher salariesexpenserel ated
to additional staff hired to support continued growth, higher litigation costs and higher technology and corporate function support
Service costs.

Global Banking and Markets Our GB& M business segment supports HSBC's global strategy by leveraging the HSBC Group's
advantagesand scal e, strengthin devel oped and emerging marketsand product expertisein order to focuson delivering international
productsto U.S. clientsand local productsto international clients, with New York as the hub for the Americas business, including
Canada and Latin America. GB&M provides tailored financial solutions to major government, corporate and institutional clients
aswell asprivateinvestorsworldwide. GB& M clientsare served by sector-focused teamsthat bring together rel ationship managers
and product specialiststo devel op financial solutionsthat meet individual client needs. With afocuson providing client connectivity
between the emerging markets and devel oped markets, GB&M aims to develop a comprehensive understanding of each client’s
financial requirements with a long-term relationship management approach. In addition to GB&M clients, GB&M works with
RBWM, CMB and PB to meet their domestic and international banking needs.

Within client-focused business lines, GB& M offers afull range of capabilities, including:

»  Banking and financing advice and solutionsfor corporate and institutional clients, including loans, working capital, trade
services, payments and cash management, leveraged and acquisition finance, as well as capital raising in the debt and
equity markets; and

« A marketsbusiness with 24-hour coverage and knowledge of world-wide local markets which provides servicesin credit
and rates, foreign exchange, precious metals trading, equities and securities services.

Also included in our GB&M segment is Balance Sheet Management, which is responsible for managing liquidity and funding
under the supervision of our Asset and Liability Management Committee. Balance Sheet Management al so manages our structural
interest rate position within alimit structure.

We continue to target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking needs in the
Americas. Consistent with our global strategy, we are also focused on identifying opportunitiesto cross-sell our productsto CMB
and RBWM customers.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INLEIESt INCOIME ... .ottt 142 $ 74 $ 68 91.9%
Other Operating iNCOME...........cuceirreriererre e 287 191 96 50.3
Total operating iNCOME™ ...........ovveeeeeeeeeceee e 429 265 164 61.9
Loan impairment CREaIgES.........coovrueuererereeeeres e 5 11 (6) (54.5)
Nt OpErating INCOME........ccviieicieeeeeee et st aeenas 424 254 170 66.9
OPErating EXPENSES.......coveereerereereie et nene e 247 553 (306) (55.3)
Profit (10SS) DEFOI@TaX .......c.cueveeeerereeeeeceeee ettt 177 $ (299) $ 476 *

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt iNtErESt INCOME.....cuivcierciieercieieie et bbbt res 392 % 280 $ 112 40.0%
Other OpErating INCOME.........ccireerieterieiereeriee et b e ereseene e 772 636 136 214
Total operating iNCOME™ ... eeee s 1,164 916 248 27.1
Loan impairment Charges..........cooveeieerieeniee e 17 66 (49 (74.2)
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.ciuiirieieieeetere ettt 1,147 850 297 34.9
OPErating EXPENSES ... coveueeteertereeteseeteseete st seesesee e ste e senesbesesbesesbesesteseesesens 770 1,031 (261) (25.3)
Profit (10SS) DEfOI@TaX .......c.cveveeeeereeeecee ettt 377 $ (181) $ 558 *

* Not meaningful.
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@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the GB& M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CTEAI® ...ooooooveeee sttt $ (32) $ (48) $ 16 33.3%
REEES.....eeeee et 12 14 2 (14.3)
Foreign Exchange and Metals... 50 73 (23) (31.5)
EQUIIES ..o 53 16 37 *
Total GlODAl MEArKELS.........ceverreiecrrriere e 83 55 28 50.9
Capital FINANCING ..o 166 66 100 *
Payments and Cash Management 100 89 11 12.4
SECUMTIES SEIVICES ...ttt 3 3 — —
Global Trade and Recelvables FiNaNCe...........cccvviiiciiicninccese s 13 11 2 18.2
Balance Sheet Management®™ .............ccooovvvrvvvoereeeoeeseseessesseees s 58 50 8 16.0
11 ) 12 *
(5) (8) 3 375
Total Operating iINCOME........c.ccuiiiiiiriicee s $ 429 % 265 $ 164 61.9%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CIEUID .oooooo et esss s $ (13) $ (22) $ 9 40.9%
REEES..... vttt 10 106 (96) (90.6)
Foreign Exchange and Metals... 178 216 (38) (17.6)
EQUILIES ..ttt 127 6 121 *
Total GlODA MEKELS........ccecirereieerrriere e 302 306 (4 1.3)
Capital FINANCING .......coiiiiiiiircc e 293 183 110 60.1
Payments and Cash Management 291 261 30 11.5
SECUMTIES SEIVICES ...ttt 10 9 1 11.1
Global Trade and RecelVables FiNANCE...........ccvrieeerriiicrineceeeeeeeseere e 40 34 6 17.6
Balance Sheet Management®™ ..............cooovvvoeecvveieeeeeeeceseeeese s sssseees 228 147 81 55.1
27 (14) 41 *
(27) (10) (17) *
Total OPErating iNCOME...........cuiuiiiieieirie s $ 1,164 $ 916 $ 248 27.1%

* Not meaningful.

@ Credit includes losses of $11 million and $9 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $43
million and $17 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, of operating income related to structured credit products
and mortgage loans held for sale which we no longer offer.

®  Includes gains on the sale of securities of $11 million and $69 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared
with gains of $26 million and $42 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

@ Other includes corporate funding charges, net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products, and interest rate transfer
pricing differences.
Our GB&M segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by
higher net interest income, higher other operating income, lower loan impairment charges and lower operating expenses.

Credit revenue improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 from the performance of legacy credit
products, which was partially offset in the three month period by lower revenue from emerging marketsrelated products. Changes
in the fair value of legacy structured credit products resulted in losses of $11 million and $9 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $43 million and $19 million during the prior year periods
which reflect losses on the transfer of risk associated with portions of our credit derivatives portfolio in the third quarter of 2014.
Included in the changes in fair value from structured credit products were increases in fair value of $12 million and $7 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, related to exposures to monoline insurance companies,
compared with increases of $1 million and $14 million during the prior year periods.
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Revenue from Rates decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to weaker revenue from emerging
markets related products which were impacted by less stable economic conditionsin Latin America. In addition, the year-to-date
period reflects fair value adjustments on certain rate linked structured notes, including a loss recorded during the second quarter
of 2015 related to changesin estimates associated with the val uation techniques used to measure the fair value of these liabilities
and the impact of movementsin our own credit spreads.

Foreign Exchange and Metal srevenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 dueto lower custody
fee income from Metals following the sale of our GB&M London Branch precious metals custody and clearing business to an
HSBC affiliate during the fourth quarter of 2014 aswell aslower metalsrelated client trading volumes driven by reduced investor
demand.

The increase in Equities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was driven by the impact of fair value
adjustments on certain equity linked structured liabilities, including the impact of movementsin our own credit spreads and, in
the year-to-date period, a gain recorded during the second quarter of 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the
valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of these liabilities.

Capital Financing revenue increased significantly during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to
gains associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure and, to alesser
extent, higher fees and net interest income from project financing and corporate lending activities.

Payments and Cash Management revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher
fees related to supporting growth initiatives in the global payments and cash management business.

Balance Sheet Management revenueincreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 from increased interest
income driven by higher yielding investments, partially offset by lower revenue related to the performance of economic hedge
positions used to manage interest rate risk. |n addition, while higher gains from asset sales contributed to the increase in the year-
to-date period, gains from asset sales were lower in the three month period.

Debit valuation adjustments resulted in gains during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared with losses
in the prior year periods driven by movements of both our own credit spreads and our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2015. In the year-to-date period, other revenue
decreased reflecting lower net interest on unassigned capital and lower revenue related to transfer pricing differences.

Loanimpairment chargesintheprior year reflect arevisionto certain estimatesused in our commercial |oan impairment cal cul ation
which resulted in aloan impairment charge of approximately $3 million and $23 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of this item, loan impairment charges remained lower during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to higher expected loss on a single name exposure in the prior year
periods and lower provisionsfor risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures, partially offset by higher provisions
for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expensesin the prior year reflects $297 million of litigation expense that was recorded during the third quarter of 2014
related to the settlement of the FHFA matter. Excluding the impact of this item, operating expenses decreased during the three
months ended September 30, 2015 and increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The decrease in the three
month period, driven by lower litigation costs, was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher staff costs related to
growth initiatives and higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Private Banking PB serveshigh networthand ultra-high net worthindividual sand their familieswith afocuson multi-generational
families, businessownersand entrepreneurswho require sophisticated sol utionsto hel p meet their most complex needsdomestically
and abroad. Accessing the most suitable products from the marketplace, PB works with its clients to offer tailored, coordinated
and innovative ways to manage and preserve wealth while optimizing returns. PB offers a wide range of products and services,
including banking, liquidity management, investment services, custody, tailored lending, trust and fiduciary services, insurance,
family wealth and philanthropy advisory services. PB also worksto ensurethat itsclientshave accessto other productsand services
available throughout the HSBC Group, such as credit cards and investment banking, to deliver total solutions for their financial
and wealth needs. PB strategy is concentrated on three main areas: growth, streamlining and Global Standards.

Client deposit levels increased $1,915 million or 17 percent as compared with September 30, 2014. Total loans increased $709
millionor 12 percent ascompared with September 30, 2014 from thecommercial andindustrial, and residential mortgage portfolios.
Overal period end client assets were $2,021 million lower than September 30, 2014 primarily due to lower institutional custody
customer balances aswell aslower discretionary and fiduciary portfolios which were negatively impacted by market movements.
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The following table provides additional information regarding client assets during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning of thE PEITOU.............c.oveeeeeeeeee e $ 44102 $ 44,661
INEL NEW IMONEY ......cviitiiteiie ittt ettt et st te s te st et e bese e s eseeseeaeeseeaeebeebestesbestebesteseensensensensenenas 917 (164)
RV 10 LY o0 o SRS (2,055) 488

Client assets at €nd Of PEITOM............c.cveueuieiieeieteeeeee ettt ettt ettt s e e seneas $ 42964 $ 44,985

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEEMESE INCOME ....c.veiitieciectee ettt st sree e sbeeeaeeenbeas $ 49 $ 47 $ 2 43 %
Other Operating iNCOME..........vveueirrrereirere e 26 28 2 (7.1
Total Operating INCOME.........ccooiiiiiiiee e 75 75 — —
Loan impairment rECOVENTES .........ccueuiururrereieieiere e Q) 4 3 75.0
Net OpErating iNCOME........c.ciiiiiiii s 76 79 (3) (3.8)
OPErating EXPENSES......coveueereertereeieseeteseeteseeseseesestesesseessenessesessesessesesseseesesens 62 58 4 6.9
Profit DEfOre tax ... $ 14 % 21 % (7) (33.3)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESt INCOME .....coceveiiceeie et $ 148 $ 152 % 4 (2.6)%
Other operating iNCOME...........cocvviiiiiii s 77 78 (1) (1.3
Total OPErating INCOME.......cvciirerreree e 225 230 (5) (2.2)
Loan impairment FECOVENES ..........cocrurueiiicicte e, 3] 9) 7 77.8
NEL OPErating INCOME......cvivireriiresrereee e 227 239 (12) (5.0)
OPErating EXPENSES........oucuiiririeieie e 178 174 4 2.3
PrOfit DEFOIE TaX ..vuvuceeceieseisee ettt $ 49 $ 65 $ (16) (24.6)%

Our PB segment profit before tax decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to lower
other operating income, lower loan impairment recoveries and higher operating expenses and, in the year-to-date period, lower
net interest income.

Net interest income increased during the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven primarily by loan growth. Thisincrease
was more than offset in the year-to-date period by a one-time gain in the prior year period related to the recognition of deferred
revenue on aprepaid troubled debt restructuring loan.

Other operating income decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 dueto lower feesand commissions
reflecting a decline in managed and investment product balances.

Loan impairment recoveries were lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as the prior year periods
reflect recoveries related to the payoff of atroubled debt restructuring loan and releases of reserves due to paydowns.

Operating expenses increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflecting higher litigation costs and
higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Other The other segment primarily includes changesin thefair value of certain debt issued for which fair value option accounting
was elected and rel ated derivatives, income and expense associated with certain affiliate transactions, adjustmentsto thefair value
on HSBC shares held for stock plans, interest expense associated with certain tax exposures and income associated with other tax
related investments.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the Other segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Net interest iNCOME (EXPENSE).......ccvrurveieieieieirinieie s $ 5) $ 2 % (3 *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 96 7 89 *
Other operating iNCOME...........occoeiiiiiicii e 13 16 (3) (18.8)
Total OPErating INCOME .....c.vcuerieeerieerieesteerie et 104 21 83 *
Loan impairment Charges...........oeeeeerirenenere e — — — —
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.civiirieirieeeie e 104 21 83 *
OPEratiNg EXPENSES . ....veeereeueeieeeeieetere sttt sre st sresbe b seesbeseesee e eee e e e e e sseeseene 37 30 7 233
Profit (10SS) DEFOIr@TaX .....ovveeeeeeeeeee s $ 67 $ 9 $ 76 *

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Net interest iNCOME (EXPENSE).....c.cueururururuereieieieieieieieiereieieieseieieaeeetebeseeeseses $ (16) $ 63 $ (79) *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 214 (20) 234 *
Other Operating INCOME..........cvvverererereeereee et seene e 52 30 22 73.3
Total OPErating INCOME.........cvirereeiee e 250 73 177 *
Loan impairment Charges... ..o — — — —
Net OPErating INCOME......c.oviveiiieee e 250 73 177 *
OPErating EXPENSES.....cviveueierereetererereeteteresessesese e e bbb b b s e e ssesenens 114 83 31 37.3
Profit (10SS) DEFOIr@TaX ......cvveeeeeeeee s $ 136 $ (10 $ 146 *

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income in the prior year-to-date period reflects an $87 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax
positions which were settled with the taxing authorities in the second quarter of 2014. Excluding the impact of this item, profit
(loss) before tax improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to higher operating income
from changes in the fair value of our own debt and related derivatives for which fair value option accounting was elected and, in
theyear-to-date period, higher rental incomefrom affiliates. Theseimprovementswere partially offset by higher operating expenses
driven largely by higher staff costs and higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Aspreviously discussed, segment resultsare reported on aGroup Reporting Basis. For segment
reporting purposes, inter-segment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for transactions between
segments as if they were with third parties. Also see Note 14, "Business Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis segment resultsto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.
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Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on alimited basis, internationally.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercial loans are monitored on a continuous basis with aformal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, an independent function, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that includes
independently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimates for sampled credits across various portfolios. When it is
deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, theloan isconsidered impaired. Animpairment reserveisthen established based
onthe present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at theloan'soriginal effectiveinterest rate, or asapractical expedient,
the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for
collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates
are generally based on management judgment under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves
on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factorswhich may not befully reflected inthereserve
calculations.

Our credit grades for commercial loansalign with U.S. regulatory risk ratings and are mapped to our probability of default master
scale. These probability of default estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and
benchmarking of theinternal ratings with external rating agency data like Standard and Poor's (" S& P") ratings and default rates.
Substantially al appraisals in connection with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal
review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal is
generally ordered when the loan is classified as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the
"OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values
accepted by HSBC's independent appraisal review unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter,
generally within the quarter in which the appraisal isreceived.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such asrent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market datais gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Datais also collected
from similar propertieswithin the portfolio. Actual saleslevelsof properties, operating income and expensefiguresand rental data
onasquarefoot basisare derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparabl esfor the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to bediscounted at appropriateratesto present value. Theseval uationsarethen used to determineif any impai rment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings (“TDR Loans'), an alowance for credit losses is maintained based on the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans original effective interest rate or in the case of certain loans
which are solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less costs to sell. The
circumstancesin which we perform aloan modification involvingaTDR Loan at athen current market interest rate for aborrower
with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of the restructure (e.g. principal
reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified asa TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer receivables and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, probable
losses are estimated using aroll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that aloan will progress through the various
stages of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans
in our portfolio. This migration analysisincorporates estimates of the period of time between aloss occurring and the confirming
event of its charge-off. This analysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether
loans are in bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age of accounts or modification
arrangements. The allowance for credit losses on consumer receivables also takes into consideration the loss severity expected
based on the underlying collateral, if any, for theloan in the event of default based on historical and recent trendswhich are updated
monthly based on arolling average of several months' data using the most recently available information and is typically in the
range of 20-35 percent for residential mortgages and 70-100 percent for home equity mortgages. At September 30, 2015,
approximately 1 percent of our second lien home equity mortgages where the first lien residential mortgage isheld or serviced by
us and has a delinquency status of 90 days or more delinquent, were less than 90 days delinquent and were not considered to be
aTDR Loan or aready recorded at fair value less costs to sell.
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Theroll rate methodology isamigration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical 1oss experience
which capturesthe increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off asthe past due status of such account increases. The
roll ratemodel sused were devel oped by tracking themovement of delinquenciesby age of delinquency by "bucket" over aspecified
time period. Each bucket representsaperiod of delinquency in 30-day increments. Theroll from thelast delinquency bucket results
in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of payments
under theloan. Averageroll ratesaredevel opedto avoid temporary aberrationscaused by seasonal trendsin delinguency experienced
by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary aberrations,
while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. Theroll rate cal culations are performed monthly and are done consistently
from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration analysis
and perform aformal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our
judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our alowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
infurther detail under the caption " Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates’ andin Note 2, " Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2014 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisionsto our policies
or methodologies during the first nine months of 2015.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

September 30, June 30, December 31,

2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

AOWANCE TOF CrEdit I0SSES. ... eciiieieeeeeeeeeeeee et resre e nreneas $ 678 $ 648 $ 680
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to: -
Loans.®
L0010 1 (oSS

NON-BFFTTIBLES. ...ttt st st e b et b e beeae e b enes .90% .84% .92%

N 1 = 1= — — —

Total COMMEICIAL.......ccuiiieciece ettt e be e e sre e e saeenresnnas .82 78 .85
Consumer:

ReSIAENtial MOMQAgES ..o veeeeeeeeeeeeeetere e re e seeseeseennens A5 A48 64

HOME EQUILY MOIMQAGES......ccueeueeierieeierierie ettt sttt ae e sbe b e e 1.53 1.60 1.79

Credit CAOS... v ettt et be e e esteeaeesaesaeesbeenaesbeennesreens 4.84 4.77 5.42

(@191 g0 1S 1 0 1= PSR 1.96 1.95 2.04

TOtAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt ettt et ae st e e besbe e beebe e beeaeabeenseebeensesaeesesanas 72 75 .96
10| S .80% T7% 87%
Net charge-offs:®

(00011101 T= (o T RPN 888% 663% 1,538%

(O] 15U 0 S 213 178 229
L1 = | S 530% 405% 596%
Nonperforming loans:

(0001001 (oSSR 368% 444% 351%

(O] 15U 0 S 17 17 20
L1 = | S 66% 65% 63%

@ Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

@ Ratios at September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratio at December 31, 2014 reflects full year net charge-
offs.

®  Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the year-to-date periods ended September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 and the year ended December 31,
2014 was 107 months, 81 months and 185 months, respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the allowance for credit losses at period end
divided by average monthly net charge-offs during the period.

@ Representsour commercial and consumer allowancefor credit |osses, asappropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balanceof total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.
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See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general l1oan categories for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

The allowance for credit losses at September 30, 2015 increased $30 million or 5 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and
decreased $2 million or less than 1 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 as higher loss estimates in our commercial loan
portfolio were partially offset in the three month period and more than offset in the nine month period by lower loss estimatesin
our consumer |oan portfolio.

Our commercia alowancefor credit lossesincreased $36 million or 7 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and increased $41
million or 8 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting higher reserves associated with oil and gas industry loan
exposures, loan growth and downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain customer relationships.
These increases were partially offset by lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures and, in
the year-to-date period, lower specific customer provisions driven largely by charge-offs related to a single customer relationship
and releases of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans and managed reductions in certain exposures.

Our consumer alowance for credit losses decreased $6 million or 4 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and decreased $43
million or 23 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting lower loss estimates in our residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage loan portfolios driven by lower severity estimates, continued improvements in economic and credit conditions
including lower delinquency levels and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages which are an increasingly
larger portion of the portfolio aswell as, in the year-to-date period, lower |oss estimates associated with the remediation of certain
mortgage servicing activities and alower allowance for credit losses in our credit card portfolio reflecting lower receivable levels
and improved delinquency roll rates.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit losses in al periods reflects consideration of certain risk factors relating to
trends such as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates and economic uncertainty, including housing
market trends as well as second lien exposure.

The allowance for credit |osses as a percentage of total loans at September 30, 2015 was flat as compared with June 30, 2015 and
decreased as compared with December 31, 2014. The decrease in the year-to-date period was due to a decrease in the consumer
loan percentage for the reasons discussed above.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs increased as compared with June 30, 2015 and decreased as
compared with December 31, 2014. The increase in the quarter-to-date period, driven by lower dollars of net charge-offsin both
our commercia and consumer loan portfolios as well as an increase in our overall alowance for credit losses for the reasons
discussed above, was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher dollars of net charge-offs in our commercial loan
portfolio.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount Loans Amount  Loans®  Amount Loans
September 30, 2015 June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
(dollars are in millions)
COMMEICIAY ... $ 533  76.2% $ 497  761% $ 492  T4AT%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages. .....ccoevveveereeieeieriese e se e se e see e 79 20.6 83 20.6 107 21.4
HOME eqUity MOMJagES. ....coveeeveeerereeierieiereeie e 25 1.9 27 20 32 2.3
(O o ] o o 33 8 33 8 39 9
Other CONSUMES ......c.vicveeieceee ettt 8 5 8 5 10 7
TOtAl CONSUMES .....eviitir ettt st e sar e s reesare e 145 23.8 151 23.9 188 25.3

TOA .ttt $ 678 100.0% $ 648 100.0% $ 680 100.0%

@ SeeNote5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit

losses.

While our allowance for credit lossis available to absorb losses in the entire portfolio, we specifically consider the credit quality
and other risk factors for each of our productsin establishing the allowance for credit loss.
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Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk Wealso maintain aseparatereservefor credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The
following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(in millions)

Off-balance Sheet Credit NSK FESENVE ........uoe e $ 69 $ 70 $ 638

Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under the caption " Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other
Contractual Obligations' in this MD&A.

Delinquency Thefollowing table summarizesdollarsof two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):
September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(@01 011010 - PSSR $ 40 $ 49 $ 41
Consumer:
Residential Mortgages™@.............coovoeeeeceeeeeeeeeee e 868 903 1,013
Home equity Mortgages @ ...........cc..oovveceeeeeeeeeeeeeees e 54 56 62
(O o ] oo USSR 13 13 14
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt ettt e e et e e sae et esaeesaeeneesbeeneesteennenns 13 11 14
TOLAl CONSUMEY........eiiteieeiteecte sttt ettt eb e be et e e beebesaeesteeaeesbesaeesbesssesbesntesbesnsestennsenss 948 983 1,103
TOMaL ...ttt ettt ettt et ae et eaeeteeaeeaeebeeteeteeteebentestensensenenneneas $ 988 $ 1032 $ 1,144
Delinquency ratio:
(00001 (oSS .06% .08% .07%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages™@.............oovwereeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s enessesssees 4.97 5.23 6.07
Home equity MOrGagES ™Y@ ...........oueeeeeeeeeeeeeeees s eeeseees s sssessesss s sesnseas 3.29 3.32 3.48
(O = [ Ao o 1.91 1.88 1.94
OthEr CONSUMIET .....c..ecviieieeciee e stestes e e st e e e e e e esessessesse s e saesbesaeseessen e seeseeneeneenneneanens 2.64 221 252
QL0 = o0 1o = SRS 4.67 4.88 5.59
1 - SNSRI 1.16% 1.23% 1.46%

@ At September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage |oan delinquency includes $794 million, $873 million and $936 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $3 million, $4 million and $5
million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.

@ Thefollowing table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:
September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEENESE-ONIY TOBNS......o.eeecveiiireer e es $ 67 $ 6 $ 63
ARM TOBIS ..ot 249 260 280
Delinquency ratio:

INEErESE-ONIY [OBNS.......cuiviiiiieieieieiei bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt b b 1.84% 1.81% 1.78%

ARM loans 2.06 218 243

Compared with June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 7 basis
points and 30 basis points, respectively, driven by lower dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency in both our
consumer and commercial loan portfolios and higher outstanding loan balances, primarily in our commercial loan portfolio. Our
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consumer loan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 21 basis points and 92 basis points from June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, due primarily to lower levels of residential mortgage loan delinquency, driven by
continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages
which are an increasingly larger portion of the portfolio. Residential mortgage loan delinquency levels however continue to be
impacted by an elongated foreclosure process which has resulted in loans which would otherwise have been foreclosed and
transferred to Real Estate Owned remaining in loan account and, consequently, in delinquency. Compared with June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, our commercial two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 2 basis points and 1 basis
point, respectively, due to higher outstanding loan balances and lower levels of commercial loan delinquency. Commercial loan
delinquency was lower in the three month period due to the transfer of a delinquent loan to the held for sale portfolio.

Residential mortgage delinquency is higher than home equity mortgage delinquency in al periods largely due to the inventory of
loanswhich are held at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and arein the foreclosure process.
Given the extended foreclosure time lines, particularly in those states where HUSI has a large footprint, the residential mortgage
portfolio has asubstantial inventory of loanswhich are greater than 180 days past due and have been written down to thefair value
of the collateral lesscost to sell. Thereisasubstantially lower volume of home equity mortgage loanswhere we pursue foreclosure
less frequently given the generally subordinate position of the lien. In addition, our legacy business originated through broker
channelsand loan transfersfrom HSBC Financeisof alower credit quality and, therefore, contributesto an overall higher weighted
average delinquency rate for our residential mortgages. Both of these factors are expected to continue to diminish in future periods
asthe foreclosure backlog resulting from extended forecl osure time linesis managed down and the portfolio mix continuesto shift
to higher quality loans as the legacy broker originated business and prior loan transfers run off.

Net Charge-offs of Loans Thefollowing tablesummarizesnet charge-off (recovery) dollarsaswell asthe net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

September 30, June 30, September 30,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Construction and Other real EStALE.............cuiiiii s $ @ % 2 3 (@]
Business and Corporate Danking...........ccccueuecieiiiiiieiie b 9 33 3
GlOBAl DANKING.......ciiiii s — — —
Other COMMEICIAL......oucvuiveiiicieieie bbb — — 3
TOtAl COMMEICIA ..evveeeeeeeeeeerc et e e s et sse st eerennaesrennnens 8 31 1)
Consumer:
RESIAENtIAl MOIMYBGES. .......cviiiiiir bbb s 1 6 6
HOME EQUILY MOIMGAOES. ......cevviietrieiieee ittt bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb — 2 1
CIEUIT CAIAS ...ttt bbbttt 7 6 8
OLNET COMSUMES ...ttt 1 4 2
TOE CONSUITIES ......oviriiece e e e n s 9 18 17
TOEl 1R $ 17 $ 49 $ 16
Net Charge-off Ratio:
Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESEALE.............cuvuevriirieicic e (.03)% (.07)% (.04)%
Business and corporate BanKiNgG...........cccver s .18 .67 .07
GlODEL DANKING. ...ttt — — —
OthEr COMMEITIAL.......oiiieiericee e — — (-41)
TOE COMIMEITIA ..ottt r e .05 .20 (.01
Consumer:
Residential MOMGAgES..........cocviiiiiii bbb .02 14 .15
HOME EQUILY MOMGAOES. .......vvieiiiicieiiiie s — 47 21
(@=L 0= O 411 351 4.71
(0101 ela] 0= = T 73 3.78 1.74
TOE CONSUITIEN .......eveeetees ettt d e s et n e .18 .36 .35
TOMAL <. bbb bbb bbb .08 % 24 % .09 %

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 decreased 16 basis points
compared with the quarter ended June 30, 2015 due to lower levels of net charge-offsin both our commercial and consumer loan
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portfolios and higher outstanding average loan balances. The decrease in commercial net charge-offsreflectslower charge-offsin
business and corporate banking driven by charge-offs related to a single customer relationship during the second quarter of 2015.
The decrease in consumer net charge-offs was driven by lower charge-offs in residential mortgages and home equity mortgages
due to continued improvement in economic and credit conditions including theimpact of lower levels of delinquency on accounts
less than 180 days delinquent and continued improvements in housing market conditions.

Compared with the year-ago quarter, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans decreased 1 basis point due to a
lower level of net charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio for the reasons discussed above and higher outstanding average loan
balances which were largely offset by a higher level of net charge-offsin our commercial loan portfolio largely driven by higher
charge-offs in business and corporate banking.

Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

September 30, June 30, December 31,

2015 2015 2014
(in millions)
Nonaccrual loans:
Commercial:
Construction and Other rEal ESLALE............cccevvcireeiieee et s seebe e $ 49 $ 64 3 65
Business and corporate banking..........cccoeoeeereereniriere e 74 47 74
Global DANKING ..o 21 — —
Commercial nonaccrual 10ans held for SAlE ..o 58 30 43
Total COMMEICIAL.....cei ettt s sbe s be b e beebe e beeaeenns 202 141 182
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgagesSP@® ... ...t 790 798 847
Home equity MOMGAgESP@ ..........ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeesesee s 67 70 68
Consumer nonaccrual loans held for Sal€........ociiieiicecce e 3 3 4
L0t I 015 U 4= 860 871 919
Total NONACCIUING [0ANS..........cciiieeciececteceee ettt st b e b eaee s 1,062 1,012 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ............coeoereereeeerierienesese e 1 1 1
TOtal COMMEICIAL........eiicteeceie ettt e st sae e et e e beeeare e bessnreenressans 1 1 1
Consumer:
CrEOIt CANOS.... ittt ettt e be e be e e e sbe et e sbeetesbeesbesbeentesanenns 9 9 10
(@191 B0 g1 U 01T USROS 10 9 10
TOAI CONSUMIES ...ttt ettt e e re e be e e te e e te e sabeesaeesateesbeeenseebeesnneenreesans 19 18 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more............cccceeeeveveeeeenenens 20 19 21
Total NONPErfOrMING I0ANS.......c.i it reas 1,082 1,031 1,122
Other 1Al ESLAE OWNE™ ...ttt e e eee e e e e e e 30 29 31
Total NONPEIrTOrMING @SSELS.....cc.ciieeiieeeriee et ne s $ 1112 $ 1060 $ 1,153

@ At September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include $740 million, $755 million and $817 million,
respectively, of loansthat are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter
7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association
("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

@ Includeslessthan $1 million, lessthan $1 million and $1 million of commercial other real estate owned at September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

Nonaccrual loans at September 30, 2015 increased as compared with both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 due to higher
levels of commercial nonaccrual loans, partially offset by lower levels of consumer nonaccrual loans. Theincreasein commercial
nonaccrual loans was largely driven by the downgrade of asingle oil and gas industry customer relationship in global banking as
well as other downgrades reflecting weaknessesin the financial circumstances of certain business and corporate banking customer
relationships. Our consumer nonaccrual loansdecreased compared with both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 drivenprimarily
by lower residential mortgage nonaccrua loans due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions. Residential
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mortgage nonaccrual loan levels however continue to be impacted by an elongated foreclosure process as previously discussed.
Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained relatively flat compared with June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrua status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding impaired loans, including TDR Loans, as well as certain other commercial credit quality indicators.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as asignificant credit exposure with anindividual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We participate in lending activity throughout the United States
and internationally. In general, we manage the varying degrees of credit risk involved in on and off-balance sheet transactions
through specific credit policies. These policies and procedures provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It
isour policy to require collateral when it is deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending
upon management’s credit evaluation. As with any nonconforming and non-prime loan products, we utilize high underwriting
standards and price these loansin amanner that is appropriate to compensate for higher risk. We do not offer teaser rate mortgage
loans.

Our loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

* Interest-only loans—A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which resultsin lower payments during the initial 1oan period.

» Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans— A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more
than one category below.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest-only residential mortgage loans $ 3640 $ 3,531

ARM loans® 12,114 11,532

@ During theremainder of 2015 and during 2016, approximately $36 million and $361 million, respectively, of the ARM loanswill experiencetheir first interest

rate reset.

Thefollowing table summarizes the concentrations of first and second liens within the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amounts in the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $16 million and $18 million
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Closed end:
[T AL = O $ 17460 $ 16,661
= or] 1o I 1= o T PSRRI 93 111
REVOIVING™ ...ttt ee et eeaee e ee e s ee e eeeeseee e e ees e ne e 1,546 1,673
1o, = OO OO $ 19,099 $ 18,445

@ A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following table reflects regional exposure at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, for certain loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential
Construction and Mortgages and

Other Real Home Equity

Estate Loans Mortgages
September 30, 2015:
NEW Y OTK SEBLE.......cccuiieieiecie ettt ettt e aa e st e e e et e e s e ereeneesneennas 30.3% 33.1%
L@ 1o 1= U 22.6 36.1
North Central UNited SLALES.........ccviieiieeeee ettt 3.3 4.4
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccooevvveireieneicnenesenenee 9.6 9.0
SOULhern UNItEd SEALES..........coiiiie ettt st et ne s 28.2 13.1
Western United States, excluding California..........cccoeevevnenenninsensesees e 6.0 4.3
10 = SRR 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2014:
NEW Y OrK SEBLE.......cceiieeeieieese ettt st st s te e e te e et e e s e ereenresneennas 34.7% 335%
L0711 10]4 o TF- TSRO PSR PR 21.8 34.0
North Central United SLaLES.........ccviieiiiceicece et 38 51
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccooveveerneeeenerenrecnenenns 7.9 9.3
SOUthern UNITEd SEALES.........ccciuiiiiceie ettt sttt st n e neene s 26.7 13.8
Western United States, excluding California........occcveeeeeeenenieniesiese e seeseeee e 5.1 4.3
1= 100.0% 100.0%

Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivativesis measured asthe net replacement cost
of derivative contractsin areceivable position in the event the counterparties of such contracts fail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterpartiesto our derivative activitiesinclude financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactionswith the same counterparty upon occurrenceof certain events. In addition, wereduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

e volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

e credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

¢ theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

e existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using regulatory capital rules published by U.S. banking regulatory
agencies which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potentia future exposure as
measured in reference to the notional amount. Theregulatory capital rulesrecognizethat bilateral netting agreementsreduce credit

risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assetswhen netting requirements have been met. Asaresult, risk-weighted
amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.

Thetotal credit risk exposure presented in the table bel ow potentially overstates actual credit exposure becauseit ignores collateral
that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures; and the regulatory capital rules compute exposures over the
lifeof derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain provisionsthat allow usto close out thetransactionif the counterparty
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failsto post required collateral. In addition, many contracts give ustheright to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity
date. As aresult, these contracts have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived
from the regulatory capital rules.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
Total Credit Fisk EXPOSUMED ..........iveieeeeeeeeseeeee et sn e en e $ 37,800 $ 41,449
Less: collateral held 80aiNSt EXPOSUNE. ......c.vvrvrreereieresiereeres e 7,199 8,204
INEL CrEdit FISK EXPOSUIE .....eeiieie ettt ettt sttt st te e st et e se e e e seebesaesaesbesbeseese e beneeneeneeneens $ 30601 $ 33245

@ At September 30, 2015, total credit risk exposure is calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015,
replacing the Basel | risk-based approach used in 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effectiveliquidity management isdefined asensuring we can meet customer | oan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditionsand under unpredictabl e circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achi evethi sobjective, wehaveguidelinesthat requiresufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for the balance sheet of HSBC
Bank USA to ensure that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing
scenarios, forms the basis for liquidity management and contingency funding plans.

Duringthefirst ninemonthsof 2015, marketplaceliquidity continuedto remain availablefor most sourcesof funding. Theprolonged
period of low interest rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

In June 2014, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA submitted its annual resolution plan jointly to the FRB and the FDIC asrequired under
Dodd-Frank and arule issued by bank regulators relating to the resolution of bank holding companies with assets of $50 billion
or more and an FDIC rule relating to the resolution of insured depository institutions with assets of $50 hillion or more. In March
2015, theFRB and FDI C compl eted their reviews of theresol ution plan submitted in 2014. The FDIC Board of Directorsdetermined
pursuant to section 165(d) of the Dodd-Frank Act that HSBC's 2014 planisnot credible and does not facilitate an orderly resolution
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The FRB determined that HSBC must take immediate action to improve its resolvability and
reflect those improvementsin its 2015 plan. Although the agencies noted some improvements from the original plan submitted in
2013, they jointly identified specific shortcomings with the 2014 resolution plan that will need to be addressed with the 2015
annual submission, which is due by December 31, 2015. The agencies agreed that in the event that HSBC has not, on or before
December 31, 2015, submitted a plan responsive to the identified shortcomings, the agencies expect to use their authority under
section 165(d) to determine that the resol ution plan does not meet the regquirements of the Dodd-Frank Act.

As previoudly reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel 111
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee”), together with
theimpact of similar implementation by United Kingdom banking regulators, we continueto review the composition of our capital
structure. Asdiscussed bel ow, during thesecond quarter of 2015, werepl aced certainlong-term debt and preferred equity instruments
that receive less favorable treatment under the rules with new Basel 111 compliant instruments.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $22,300 million and $30,807 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively, of which $21,209 million and $29,445 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances
may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.
Surplus interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to
resell depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $20,423 million and $1,413 million at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve
Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell depending on market conditions and the opportunity
to maximize returns.

119



HSBC USA Inc.

Trading Assets includes securities totaling $9,624 million and $13,498 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $50,416 million and $43,609 million at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and
discussion on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $8,948 million and $12,795 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $131,450 million and $116,118 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, which
included $94,338 million and $84,486 million, respectively, of core deposits as calculated in accordance with FFIEC guidelines.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in thisMD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $33,018 million at September 30, 2015 from $27,524 million at December 31, 2014. Thefollowing
table presents the maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2015:

(in millions)
120 1 OSSPSR PP $ 296
1220 1 TR 3,967
2L 1 OSSP P PP 5,507
10 1 TR 7,637
2009 .t E R R R R R R e R £ e e SR e R e eR e SR e SR e SR e AR AR e Rt AR e AR e R e R e e e e e R R e e Rt R e e R eRe e R e R e nr e ne s 2,783
IS 5 L OSSOSO 12,828
10 = TSP STPPSTPSTOTRN $ 33,018

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)
LONG-LEIM AEDE ISSUEH........vcvieieiiictcecc ettt sttt bttt s b bt se et be e st bese s s ebebe s snatas $ 15,798 $ 4,997
[IoTalo (= gl (= o1l 1= o= Lo 1RSSR (9,383) (2,921)
NEt [ONG-TEIM AEOL ISSUEH ......eeeeieieceieieeceee ettt st n s en s s s s s s s s s $ 6415 $ 2076

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. During the second quarter of 2015,
HSBC USA exercised the option to call its remaining junior subordinated debentures previously issued by HSBC USA to three
separatecapital trusts, totaling $560 million. SeeNote 15, " Retai ned Earningsand Regul atory Capital Requirements,” for additional
details.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securities including debt securities and preferred
stock. The shelf hasno dollar limit, but the amount of debt outstanding islimited by the authority granted by the Board of Directors.
At September 30, 2015, we were authorized to issue up to $30,000 million, of which $7,582 million was available. HSBC Bank
USA has a $40,000 million Globa Bank Note Program of which $15,756 million was available at September 30, 2015.

Asamember of theFHL B and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, wehave secured borrowing facilitieswhich arecollateralized
by loans and investment securities. At September 30, 2015, long-term debt included $5,600 million of borrowingsfromthe FHLB
facility. Based upon the amounts pledged as collateral under these facilities, we were allowed access to further borrowings of up
to $11,980 million.

Preferred Equity During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed all of itsAdjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory
Capital Requirements,” for additional detailsand see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for information regarding
all remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Common Equity During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued
to HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued to HSBC
USA. In conjunction with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate
parent, HNAI, in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributions to its subsidiary, HSBC
Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-
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cumulativepreferred stock. Thesecapital actionsweretaken to support our growth strategy and to strengthentheBasel 111 regul atory
capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Selected Capital Ratios Capital amounts and ratios are calculated in accordance with banking regulations in effect as of
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. In managing capital, we develop targets for total capital to risk weighted assets,
Tier 1capital torisk weighted assets, common equity Tier 1 capital torisk weighted assetsand Tier 1 capital to average consolidated
assets (this latter ratio, also known as the "Tier 1 leverage ratio"). Our targets may change from time to time to accommodate
changes in the operating environment, regulatory requirements or other considerations such as those listed above. The following
table summarizes selected capita ratios for HSBC USA with detailed explanation below. The improvement in the capital ratios
since December 31, 2014 reflects the capital actions discussed above.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Total capital tO Sk WEIGHIEH GSSELS™.........c..ceeeeeerereseeseeseseesessesses st essssssssesesensssssssss s sssssessenesneans 16.33% 15.78%
Tier 1 capital to risk weighted aSSets'™ .............ovvuceeeceeceeceeesec et 12.71 11.41
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted SSEts™ ... 12.05 10.33
Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (Tier 1 leverage ratio) .........cooeeveereereneneneseneneneens 9.52 8.54
TOtal €QUILY 1O TOLAI BSSELS. ... ..eevieetereetereet sttt ettt n e 10.19 9.14

@ Risk weighted assets are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel | risk-based
approach used in 2014.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("I CAAP") works in conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. The HSBC North Americal CAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regulatory capital adequacy, economic capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various
stress scenarios. Our initial approach isto meet our capital needsfor these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce
risk. Totheextent that local alternativesareinsufficient or unavailable, wewill rely on capital support fromour parent in accordance
with HSBC'scapital management policy. HSBC hasindicated that they arefully committed and have the capacity to provide capital
as needed to run operations and maintain sufficient regulatory capital ratios.

Regulatory capital requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, as defined by regulations, and the amount
of risk weighted assets, also calculated based on regulatory definitions. Economic Capital is a proprietary measure to estimate
unexpected loss at the 99.95 percent confidence level over a 1-year time horizon. Economic Capital is compared to a calculation
of available capital resources to assess capital adequacy as part of the ICAAP.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulatorsissued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel 111 final
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective January 1, 2014
with certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. The Basel 111 final rule established an integrated
regulatory capital framework to improve the quality and quantity of regulatory capital. In addition to phasing in a complete
replacement to the Basel | general risk-based capital rules, the Basel 111 final rule builds on the Advanced Approach of Basel I,
incorporates certain changesto Basel 2.5, and implements certain other requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act. Asaresult, the capital
ratios in the table above are reported in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel
I11 final rule introduced the Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel | risk-based guidance for
determining risk weighted assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015. For additional discussion of
the Basel 111 final rule requirements, including fully phased in required minimum risk-based capital ratios and the countercyclical
capital buffer (to be phased in, if applicable, beginning January 1, 2016), see Part I, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory
Capital and Liquidity Requirements, in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Additionally, HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA are subject to the supplementary leverageratio ("SLR"), with reporting
to U.S. banking regulatorscommencing January 1, 2015 and full implementation and compliance by January 1, 2018. The minimum
SLRiscurrently set at 3 percent (calculated as theratio of Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure, which includes balance sheet
exposures plus certain off-balance sheet items). The SLR is generally consistent with the Basel leverage framework, but also
contains certain modifications, including to the methodol ogy for averaging total leverage exposure.

In 2014, the FRB adopted a final rule requiring enhanced supervision of the U.S. operations of non-U.S. banks such as HSBC.
Therulerequires certain large non-U.S. bankswith significant operationsin the United States, such asHSBC, to establish asingle
intermediate holding company ("IHC") to hold al of their U.S. bank and non-bank subsidiaries. The HSBC Group currently
operates in the United States through such an IHC structure (i.e., HSBC North America), therefore, the implementation of this
requirement will not have a significant impact on our U.S. operations. HSBC North America submitted its IHC implementation
plan to the FRB on December 31, 2014. Under thefinal rule, an IHC may calculateitsrisk-based and leverage capital requirements
solely under the Standardized Approach, even if the IHC meets the asset thresholds that would require a bank holding company
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to usethe Advanced Approach ($250 billion or morein total consolidated assets or $10 hillion or more of foreign exposures). IHCs
will be subject to al other risk-based capital requirements, including the SLR, stress testing requirements, enhanced risk
management standards, and enhanced governance and stress testing requirements for liquidity management, as well as other
prudential standards. Under thefinal rule, most of these requirementswill become effective on July 1, 2016. The implementation
of these requirements of thefinal ruleisnot expected to have asignificant impact on our processes and operations since we already
meet several of the requirements. In accordance with the final rule, HSBC North Americareceived approval from the FRB to opt
out of the Advanced Approachin December 2014 and HSBC Bank USA received approval fromthe OCC to opt out of the Advanced
ApproachinJune 2015. HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA will, however, remain subject to the other capital requirements
applicableto advanced approach banking organizations, including the SL R and the countercyclical capital buffer discussed above.

With regard to the elements of capital, the application of the Basel 111 final rule requires any nonconforming Tier 2 subordinated
debt issued prior to May 19, 2010 to be phased out by January 1, 2016. As a result, approximately $200 million of our currently
outstanding Tier 2 subordinated debt will be phased out of capital under the final rule.

In 2014, the Financia Stability Board ("FSB"), an international financial institutions regulatory body, issued aproposal for atotal
loss-absorbing capacity requirement ("TLAC") for global systemically important banks ("G-SIBs"). The proposed requirements
would beasignificant extension of the current regul atory capital framework, whichisaimed at ensuring that abanking organization
can absorb losses without falling into resolution. In addition to significantly expanding the amount of such going-concern loss
absorbency, the TLAC proposal introduces a requirement to issue specified amounts of debt obligations that can absorb lossesin
aresolution proceeding if the banking organization reaches the so-called point of non-viability. The TLAC requirement isto be
applied in accordance with the banking organization's resol ution strategy for each entity that would enter resolution as determined
by the G-SIB Crisis Management Group. The FSB received comments on the proposal and is conducting a quantitative impact
study, before adopting a final rule in November 2015. Once finalized, each FSB jurisdiction must implement the requirements
under local law. Although the FSB does not anticipate global implementation until January 2019, certain jurisdictions, including
the United States, are expected to implement the TL AC requirements sooner.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing. U.S. bank holding companieswith $50 billion or moreintotal consolidated assets, including
HSBC North America, are required to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review
("CCAR") program, as well as the annual supervisory stress tests conducted by the FRB, and the semi-annual company-run stress
testsasrequired under theDodd-Frank Act (collectively, "DFAST"). Under therules, the FRB will eval uate bank holding companies
annually ontheir capital adequacy, internal capital adequacy assessment processand plansfor capital distributions, and will approve
capital distributionsonly for companiesthat are ableto demonstrate sufficient capital strength after making the capital distributions.
HSBC North America participatesin the CCAR and DFAST programs of the FRB and submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and
annual company-run DFAST resultsin January 2015. In July 2015, HSBC North America submitted itslatest mid-cycle company-
run DFAST results. HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's DFA ST requirements, which require certain banksto conduct annual
bank-run DFAST, and submitted its latest DFAST results in January 2015. The company-run stress tests are forward looking
exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline, adverse and severely adverse scenarios provided by the
FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and mid-cycle exercises, on the
financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning horizon.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA are required to disclose the results of their annual DFAST under the FRB and OCC's
severely adverse stress scenario and HSBC North Americais required to disclose the results of its mid-cycle DFAST under its
internally developed severely adverse stress scenario. In March 2015, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA publicly
disclosed their most recent DFAST results and the FRB also publicly disclosed its own DFAST and CCAR results. HSBC North
Americapublicly disclosed its most recent mid-cycle DFAST resultsin July 2015.

In March 2015, the FRB informed HSBC North America, our indirect parent company, that it did not object to HSBC North
Americascapital plan or the planned capital distributionsincluded inits 2015 CCAR submission, including payment of dividends
on outstanding preferred stock and trust preferred securities of HSBC North Americaand its subsidiaries. Stresstesting resultsare
based solely on hypothetical adverse scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted asforecasts of expected outcomesor capital
adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America. Capital planning and stresstesting for HSBC North America
may impact our future capital and liquidity.

In October 2014, U.S. regulatorsissued afinal rule that amendsthe CCAR capital planning and DFAST supervisory stresstesting
rules to shift the start date of the annual capital plan and supervisory and company-run stress test cycles back by one calendar
quarter. The 2015 cycle began October 1, 2014 with a capita plan submission date of January 5, 2015. However, the next annual
cyclewill begin January 1, 2016 with a capital plan submission date of April 5, 2016. Thefinal rule made certain other substantive
changes to the capital plan and stress test regulations, including limiting a bank holding company's ability to make capital
distributions (subject to certain exceptions) if its actual capital issuancesin that quarter were less than the amount indicated in the
capital plan. In July 2015, the FRB issued a proposed rule to further amend the CCAR capital planning and DFAST stress testing
rules. We are reviewing the potential impact of thefinal rule and the proposal on our capital planning and stress testing processes.
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HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are required to meet minimum capita requirements by our principal regulators. Risk-based
capital amounts and ratios are presented in Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2015 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2015 are summarized in the following table:

Actual Estimated
January 1 October 1 .
through through Estimated
September 30, December 31, Full Year
2015 2015 2015
(in billions)
Funding needs:
NS T =g W | 11, 1 P $ 7 $ 1 % 8
Net change in short term investments and SECUNtieS.........oovvceinicsniceins 17 (5 12
Trading and Other aSSEtS...........cvieiiciicc s (5) 3 2
Total fuNAiNG NEEMS........cce i sre e $ 19 $ @ $ 18
Funding sources:
Net Change iN AEPOSIES ....c.eivevirieirieirieeeree ettt $ 15 $ 4 3 11
Trading and other short term liabilities.............cccoveiieiiicic (6) 2 (4)
Net changein long-term debt............oooeeieicece s 6 1 7
Shareholders EQUILY ........coioiuiriiieee e 4 — 4
Total fFUNAING SOUICES .......cvieieciecieeeee ettt et et et re e e saeennesneas $ 19 $ @ $ 18

Theabovetablereflectsalong-term funding strategy. Daily balancesfluctuate aswe accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. Our prospects for
growth continue to be dependent upon our ability to attract and retain deposits and, to alesser extent, access to the global capital
markets. Weremain confident in our ability to accessthe market for long-term debt funding needsin the current market environment.

We continueto seek well-priced and stable customer deposits. We will continueto sell aportion of new mortgage loan originations
to PHH Mortgage.

HSBC Financerelies on its affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs outside of cash generated from its loan
sales and operations.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictionsimposed by federal |aw on extensions of credit to, and certain other "covered
transactions' with HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactions include |oans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. A bank's credit exposure to an affiliate asaresult of aderivative, securities lending/borrowing or repurchase
transaction is also subject to these restrictions. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's
length terms. Certain Edge Act subsidiaries of HSBC Bank USA are limited in the amount of funds they can provide to other
affiliatesincluding their parent. Amounts abovetheir level of invested capital have to be secured with U.S. government securities.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
thisMD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

Asafinancia services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at September 30, 2015

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or Less Five Years Years Total 2014
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations™............c........... $ 6541 $ 2421 $ 70 $ 9032 $ 8,441
Commercial letters of credit ........ooocevveeeiiece i 355 168 — 523 659
Credit deriVativeS?..........co.urvveeeiieeiieesises s 24,754 72,760 4,889 102,403 117,768
Other commitments to extend credit:

COMMENGIA® ..o 18,265 62,081 4,443 84,789 80,226

CONSUIMES ...ttt ettt ae e sne e e sne e 7,481 — — 7,481 6,821
LI = OSSR $ 57,396 $137,430 $ 9,402 $204,228 $ 213,915

@ Includes $897 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Includes $42,902 million and $32,688 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
®  Includes $5,137 million and $3,606 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in theform of loans, participationsinloans, leasefinancing receivabl es, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
theright to change terms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments. |n connection with our
commercia lending activities, we provide liquidity support to Regency, a multi-seller asset backed commercia paper ("ABCP")
conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities," in the accompanying consolidated financia
statements for additional information regarding ABCP conduits and our variable interestsin them.

We provide liquidity support to Regency in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase agreements. Under the terms of these
liquidity agreements, Regency may call upon us to lend money or to purchase certain assets in the event the conduit is unable or
unwilling to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper. The maximum amount that we could be required to advanceis generally
limited to the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper related to the supported transaction and the balance of the
assets underlying that transaction adjusted by a funding formula that excludes defaulted and impaired assets. As a result, the
maximum amount that we would be required to fund may be significantly less than the maximum contractual amount specified
by the liquidity agreement.
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The following tables present information on our liquidity facilities with Regency at September 30, 2015. The maximum exposure
to loss presented in the first table represents the maximum contractual amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required
to make under the liquidity agreements. This amount does not reflect the funding limits discussed above and al so assumes that we
suffer atotal lossonall amountsadvanced and all assets purchased from Regency. Assuch, webelievethat thismeasuresignificantly
overstates our expected |0ss exposure.

Conduit Assets®) Conduit Funding®
Maximum Weighted Weighted
Exposure Total Average Life  Commercial  Average Life
Conduit Type to Loss Assets (Months) Paper (Days)
(dollars are in millions)
HSBC affiliate sponsored (multi-seller).......ccoevevvveceennnene. $ 3097 $ 1955 12 $ 1873 12

@ The amounts presented represent only the specific assets and related funding supported by our liquidity facilities.

Average Credit Quality(l)

Average
Asset Class Asset Mix AAA AA+AA A A- BB/BB-
Multi-seller conduit
Debt securities backed by:
Autoloansand |€aSES.........ccccvvveveeveve s 48% 74% 15% —% —% —%
Traderecalvables..........cccooveviccecececeecc e 37 — 85 100 — —
Equipment 10aNS..........ccverrinniennenee e 15 26 — — — —
100% 100% 100% 100% —% —%

@ Credit quality is based on Standard and Poor’s ratings at September 30, 2015.

Wereceivefeesfor providing theseliquidity facilities. Credit risk on these obligationsis managed by subjecting themto our normal
underwriting and risk management processes.

The preceding tables do not include information on credit facilities that we previously provided to certain Canadian multi-seller
ABCPconduitsthat have been subject to restructuring agreements aspart of the Montreal Accord. Aspart of the enhanced collateral
pool established for the restructuring, we provided a Margin Funding Facility to a Master Asset Vehicle which is undrawn and
expiresin July 2017. At September 30, 2015, the undrawn facility has been reduced to CAD $77 million from CAD $112 million
at December 31, 2014.

We have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market fundsthat invest in shorter-dated
highly-rated money market securitiesto provide investorswith ahighly liquid and secure investment. These funds price the assets
in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a constant price. The funds,
however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than 50 basis points from the
portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and consequently would no
longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds because we do not absorb
the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity, credit and other relevant
risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair value measurement accounting principlesrequire areporting entity to takeinto consideration itsown credit risk in determining
the fair value of financia liabilities. The incorporation of our own credit risk accounted for a decrease of $157 million and a
decrease of $232 million in the fair value of financial liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with a decrease of $22 million and a decrease of $28 million during the prior year periods.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated
at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on
debt designated at fair value and related derivatives during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 should not be considered
indicative of the results for any future period.
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Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements” in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish afair value hierarchy structure that prioritizesthe
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants’ assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodol ogies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The mgjority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniquesthat feature one or more significant unobservableinputs (Level 3). The determination of thelevel of fair valuehierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or aliability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

. whether the asset or liability istransacted in an active market with a quoted market price;
. the level of bid-ask spreads;

. alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

. whether only a few transactions are observed over asignificant period of time;

. whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services,

. whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

. whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair
value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument isclassified asalLevel 1 measurement if it islisted on an exchange or isan instrument actively
traded inthe over-the-counter ("OTC") market wheretransactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. Weregard financial
instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.
Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign
governments, to-be-announced ("TBA"™) securities and non-callable securities issued by U.S. government sponsored entities.

Leve 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify asLevel 1inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt, foreign government-backed debt, preferred securities, precious metals and certain commercial
loansheld for sale as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are obtained based
on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have established a
process to understand the methodol ogies and inputs used by the third party pricing servicesto ensure that pricing information met
the fair value objective. Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined
fair value, weinvestigate and reconcile the differences. If the investigation resultsin asignificant adjustment to the fair value, the
instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation
between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. Thefair value of certain structured derivative productsis determined using valuation
techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control
processes and procedures have been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instrumentsthat share
similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, a
validation process has been established, which includes participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that
valuation inputs incorporate market participants risk expectations and risk premium.

Level 3inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputsincorporate market participants assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our Level 3 instrumentsincluded the following: collateralized
debt obligations ("CDOs") for which there is a lack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits
and structured notes as well as certain structured credit and structured equity derivatives where significant inputs (e.g., volatility
or default correlations) are not observable, credit default swaps with certain monoline insurers where the deterioration in the
creditworthinessof the counterparty, whichisunobservable, hasresultedin significant adjustmentstofair value, subprimemortgage
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loans held for sale, certain corporate debt securities, impaired commercial loans, mortgage servicing rights, and derivatives
referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable credit quality.

See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information on
Level 3 inputs as well as adiscussion of transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Level 3 Measurements Thefollowingtableprovidesinformationabout Level 3assets/liabilitiesinrelationtototal assetliabilities
measured at fair value as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
LEVEl 3ESSEIS YD oo $ 3572 $ 3810
Total assets measured at fair VAIUED .................oovvivveeeeeeeeeee s es e 129,661 122,473
LEVE! BLIADITTIES. ...c.eecviiectececte ettt sttt st sttt st e et e se et e se et e saebeseetesaenesreneas 2,727 2,863
Total liabilities measured at fair VAIUE™ ................cooovvveceeeeeeeee e 97,128 90,892
Level 3 assets as apercent of total assets measured at fair value........ccoceveeeeeecececencccc e 2.8% 3.1%
Level 3 liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value..........ccooeveeveeicciccnieens 2.8% 3.1%

@ Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $3,529 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $43 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at September 30, 2015. Includes $3,752 million of
recurring Level 3 assets and $58 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2014.

®  Includes $129,406 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $255 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at September 30, 2015.
Includes $122,155 million of assets measured on arecurring basis and $318 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2014.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities We have entered into credit default swaps with monoline
insurers to hedge our credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $12 million and $7 million
positive credit risk adjustments to the fair value of our credit default swap contracts during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with positive adjustments of $1 million and $14 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. These adjustmentsto fair value are recorded in trading revenuein the consolidated
statement of income. We have recorded acumul ative credit adjustment reserve of $46 million and $53 million against our monoline
exposure at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Thefair value of our monoline exposure net of cumulative
credit adjustment reserves equaled $174 million and $204 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 as well
asfor further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs Thefair value of certain financial instrumentsis measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservabl einput parameterswhich can be selected from arange of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assetsor lighilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform atest of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $59 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $110 million as of September 30, 2015. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are
primarily driven by mortgage servicing rights, certain asset-backed securitiesincluding CDOs, and the uncertainty in determining
the fair value of credit derivatives executed against monoline insurers.
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Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types of assets underlying our asset-backed
securities aswell as certain collateralized debt obligations held as of September 30, 2015:

Total
(in millions)
Rating of securities:” Collateral type:
AAA ComMErCial MOMGAGES.......vvrererererererereresesesesesesesesesesesesese e e sesesesesesesesesens $ 22
Residential mortgages - At A. ..ot 65
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME.........coeiieieienerenere e 1
R Y - 88
AA oo O L1 = - a
A Residential mortgages - At A. ..ot - 6
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME.........coeiieieienerenere e 47
HOME €QUILY - AL At 79
S (00 (= g 0= 1T 88
@ 1 1= ST 52
L= 1 N - 2
2127 Residential mortgages - At A. ..ot - 2
Collateralized debt obligations..........cccoeieireinceree e 233
eI =11 O - 235
CCC .. Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME.........coeeieierenenenenerese e T 6

$ 642

@ We utilize S& P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S& P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used, in that
order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.
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Risk Management

Overview Some degree of risk is inherent in virtually al of our activities. The HSBC U.S. risk appetite framework describes
through its risk appetite statement and its risk appetite limits and thresholds the quantum and types of risk that it is prepared to
take in executing its strategy. It develops and maintains the linkages between strategy, capital, risk management processes and
HSBC Group Strategy and directs HSBC North America’s businesses to be targeted along strategic and risk prioritiesand in line
withtheforward view of availablecapital under stress. Accordingly, wehave comprehensiverisk management policiesand practices
in place to address potential risks, which include the following:

e Creditrisk isthe potential that aborrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, aswell astheimpact on the
value of credit instruments due to changesin the probability of borrower default; Credit risk includesrisk associated with
cross-border exposures.

«  Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

* Interest rate risk isthe potential impairment of net interest income dueto mismatched pricing between assetsand liabilities
aswell aslossesin value due to interest rate movements;

»  Market risk istherisk that movementsin market factors, including foreign exchange rates and commaodity prices, interest
rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

*  Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk);

e Compliance risk istherisk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations and
standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

»  Fiduciary risk istherisk of breaching fiduciary dutieswherewe act in afiduciary capacity astrustee, investment manager
or as mandated by law or regulation;

* Reputational risk istherisk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectationsasaresult of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those withwhom it isassociated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences.

o Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute, and react appropriately to opportunities and/or
threatsarising from changesin the market, some of which may emerge over anumber of years such as changing economic
and political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory devel opments or competitor action;

e Security and Fraud risk isthe risk to the business from terrorism, crime, fraud, information security, incidents/disasters,
cyber-attacks and groups hostile to HSBC interests;

»  Model risk is the potentia for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly; and

*  Pension risk istherisk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension benefit
obligations required to be paid and includes the risk that assumptions used by our actuaries may differ from actua
experience.

See"Risk Management” in MD& A inour 2014 Form 10-K for amore compl ete discussion of the objectives of our risk management
system aswell asour risk management policies and practices. Our risk management processinvolvesthe use of various simulation
models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what
isassumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonabl e estimates, with the understanding that actual
results may differ significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk isthe potential that aborrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, aswell as
the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards credit risk management
since December 31, 2014. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our
approach to credit risk.
Credit risk isinherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:

e loan portfolios;

e investment portfolios;

« unfunded commitments such as letters of credit, lines of credit, and unutilized credit card lines that customers can draw

upon; and
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» derivativefinancial instruments, such asinterest rate swapswhich, if morevaluabletoday than when originally contracted,
may represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessen risk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk isperformed by the Chief Credit Officer/Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North Americaand the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercia portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loansand residential mortgages, ismanaged by theHSBC North AmericaChief Retail Credit Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the "Credit Quality" caption in thisMD&A.

Liquidity Risk Management During the third quarter of 2015, we established an independent risk management function for
liquidity as required by the enhanced prudential standards of the FRB. In addition to the oversight provided by ALCO, Liquidity
Risk Management ("LRM") is an oversight function for liquidity which independently reportsinto the Chief Risk Officer. LRM’s
primary mandate is to strengthen our liquidity risk management framework through challenge and review of existing processes
and recommending areas that need improvement to the Risk Management Committee. LRM serves as an advisory function to
senior management to ensure front line units with direct responsibility for managing liquidity risk are operating within their
operating guidelines and defined risk appetite parameters. The LRM oversight mandate will be carried out through assessing
processesrelated to liquidity risk identification, informed monitoring and designing acontrol framework asasecond line of defense.
There have been no other material changes to our approach towards liquidity risk management since December 31, 2014. See
“Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for amore complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk. Although
our overall approach to liquidity management has not changed, we continuously monitor the impact of market events on our
liquidity positions and continue to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market events and the evolving regulatory landscape
and view asto best practices. Current regulatory initiatives encourage banks to retain a portfolio of extremely high quality liquid
assets. As such, we are maintaining alarge portfolio of high quality sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our liquidity management approach includes increased deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our business
growth, and using security sal esor secured borrowingsfor liquidity stresssituationsinour liquidity contingency plans. Aspreviously
discussed, HSBC Financereliesonits affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs outside of cash generated from
its loan sales and operations.

As part of our liquidity management framework, stressed coverage ratios are derived from stressed cash flow scenario analyses
and express the stressed cash inflows as a percentage of stressed cash outflows over one-month and three-month time horizons.
At September 30, 2015, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 121 percent and 110 percent, respectively.
At December 31, 2014, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 111 percent and 104 percent, respectively.
A stressed coverageratio of 100 percent or higher reflectsapositive cumulative cash flow under the stress scenario being monitored.
HSBC operating entities are required to maintain aratio of 100 percent or greater out to three months under the combined market-
wide and HSBC-specific stress scenario defined by the inherent liquidity risk categorization of the operating entity concerned.

In addition, the Asset and Liability Management Committee monitors the ratio of Advancesto Core Funding ("ACF"). The ACF
ratio measures what percentage of our stable sources of long-term funding (generally customer deposits deemed to be "core" in
accordance with HSBC policy and debt with at least 12 months until maturity) are utilized in providing loans to customers. We
are required to maintain an ACF ratio below 120 percent. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our ACF ratio was 90
percent and 101 percent, respectively.

In 2009, the Basel Committee proposed two minimum liquidity metrics for limiting risk: the liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR"),
designed to be a short-term measure to ensure banks have sufficient high-quality liquid assetsto cover net stressed cash outflows
over the next 30 days, and the net stable funding ratio ("NSFR"), which is alonger term measure with a 12-month time horizon
to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities. The Basel Commiittee finalized the LCR in January 2013 with
phase-in beginning in 2015. The Basel Committee finalized the NSFR in October 2014.

In September 2014, the FRB, the OCC and the FDIC issued final regulations to implement the LCR in the U.S., applicable to
certainlargebankinginstitutions, including HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA. The LCR final ruleisgenerally consistent
with the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areasincluding the range of assetsthat will qualify as high-
quality liquid assets and the assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the final rule, U.S. institutions began the
LCR transition period on January 1, 2015 and are required to maintain a minimum LCR of 100 percent by January 1, 2017, two
years ahead of the Basel Committee's timeframe for compliance by January 1, 2019. At September 30, 2015, HSBC Bank USA's
LCRratio under thefina U.S. LCR rulewas 122 percent. HSBC Bank USA's L CRiscal culated based on our current interpretation
and understanding of the U.S. LCR rule and may differ in future periods depending on further implementation guidance from our
regulators. The LCR final rule does not address the NSFR requirement, which is currently in an international observation period.
Based on the results of the observation period, the Basel Committee and U.S. banking regul ators may make further changesto the
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NSFR. The U.S. regulators have not yet proposed rules to implement the NSFR for U.S. banks and bank holding companies but
are expected to do so well in advance of the NSFR's scheduled global implementation by January 1, 2018.

In the first quarter of 2014, the FRB issued rules pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which established enhanced
prudential standards for U.S. bank holding companies and foreign banking organizations with total global consolidated assets of
$50 hillion or more. The rules complement the LCR, capital planning, resolution planning, and stress testing reguirements that
have been finalized. The rules require bank holding companies, such as HSBC North America, to comply with various liquidity
risk management standards and to maintain aliquidity buffer of unencumbered highly liquid assets based on the results of internal
liquidity stress testing. Beginning January 1, 2015, bank holding companies are also required to meet heightened liquidity
requirements, whichinclude qualitativeliquidity standards, cash flow projections, internal liquidity stresstests, and liquidity buffer
requirements. HSBC North Americahasimplemented the standard and it does not have a significant impact to our business model.
Starting on July 1, 2016, HSBC North Americawill betreated asan IHC owned by aforeign banking organization. Thistransition
is not expected to have a significant impact on our U.S. operations or change our liquidity management policies.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changesto their liquidity profilesto support compliance with any
future final rules.

Our ahility to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at September
30, 2015:

Moody’s S&P Fitch pBrsY
HSBC USA:
Short-term BOrrOWINGS. ......cvoveerererrereees e P-1 A-1 Fl1+ R-1 (low)
Long-term/senior debt............coovviviiiiiiiiniiiiiii A2 A AA- A (high)
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term BOrrowWings. .......cccevveereereeeree e P-1 A-1+ F1+ R-1 (middle)
LONG-tErMY/SENIOr AEDL.........oveereeeceeiciesese e Aa3® AA- AA- A (high)

@ Dominion Bond Rating Service.
@ Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA was Aa2 at September 30, 2015.

In February 2015, S& P took various rating agency actions on certain European banks, including HSBC, following a review of
government support. As aresult of this review, the long-term debt rating of HSBC USA was downgraded to A and the long-term
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was put on negative watch. As part of this review, the short-term ratings of both HSBC USA and
HSBC Bank USA were re-affirmed.

In May 2015, Moody's took various rating agency actions on certain U.S. banks, including HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA,
following areview associated with the publication of its revised bank rating methodology. As a result of this review, the senior
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa3, the long-term deposit rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa2 and
the senior debt rating of HSBC USA was re-affirmed. As part of this review, Moody's issued new counterparty risk ratings which
are distinct from debt, deposit or issuer ratings in that they measure default probability rather than expected loss, and apply to
counterparty obligations and contractual commitmentsrather than debt or deposit instruments. The new ratings provide an opinion
on abank's counterparty risk related to its covered bonds, contractual performance obligations (e.g. servicing), derivatives (e.g.
swaps), letters of credit, certain guarantees and liquidity facilities. The short-term and long-term counterparty risk ratings issued
for HSBC Bank USA were P-1 and A1, respectively.

In September 2015, DBRS downgraded a number of banking groups in Europe, including HSBC, following a review of
developmentsin European regulation and legislation which provide less certainty about the likelihood of timely systemic support.
Asaresult of thisreview, the senior debt ratings of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, the subordinated debt ratings of both
HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA and the short-term instrument rating of HSBC USA were all downgraded by one notch to A
(high), A and R-1 (low), respectively. As part of thisreview, the short-term instrument rating of HSBC Bank USA wasre-affirmed.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and litigation matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions. Although we closely monitor and
strive to manage factorsinfluencing our credit ratings, thereis no assurance that our credit ratingswill not be changed in thefuture.
As of September 30, 2015, there were no pending actionsin terms of changesto ratings on the debt of HSBC USA or HSBC Bank
USA from any of the rating agencies.
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Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. Our approach to managing interest rate risk is summarized in
MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Management”. There have been no material changes to our approach
towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2014.

Present value of a basis point ("PVBP") isthe changein value of the balance sheet for aone basis point upward movement in all
interest rates. The following table reflects the PVBP position at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, December 31,
2015

2014

(in millions)
Institutional PVBP MOVEMENT lIMit........cccoeiieieieeeeeeeeteteee ettt ee sttt ese st reas e e tene s $ 80 $ 8.0
PVBP POSItioN @ PErO0 8NG........couiiiiiiiieiiieenie ettt st s b e st st s snene 2.1 4.8

Net interest income simulation modeling techniques are utilized to monitor anumber of interest rate scenarios for their impact on
projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under various scenarios, such
as rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points, as well as scenariosin
which rates rise or fall by as much as 200 basis points over a twelve month period. The following table reflects the impact on
projected net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

September 30, 2015  December 31, 2014
Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1 and January 1):

Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increasein theyield curve............cccccceeenneee. $ 259 10% $ 162 7%
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve.................c..c........ (217) 8) (234) 9)
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increasein theyield curve............ccccoceeeneneee. 472 18 283 11
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point decrease in theyield curve...............cccc..... (444) (@17) (4420 (18)
Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on October 1
and January 1):
Resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decreasein the yield curve' ................... (193)  (8) (216) (9)
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 386 15 247 10
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in theyield curve..................... (346)  (13) (381) (15
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 701 27 432 18
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in theyield curve..................... (544) (1) (627)  (25)

@ With the continued period of low interest rates, some of the above decrease scenarios have become less meaningful . We are adding a new scenario for an
immediate 50 basis point decrease in rates to reflect the impact of a potential sharp decline in interest rates to future income.

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonabl e estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.
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Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some
reported capital balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is recorded on atax effected
basisto accumulated other comprehensiveincome (loss). Thisvaluation mark isincluded in twoimportant accounting based capital
ratios: total shareholders equity to total assets and common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets. Under the final rule
adopting the Basel 111 regulatory capital reforms, the valuation mark is being phased into common equity Tier 1 capital over five
years beginning in 2014. As of September 30, 2015, we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio of approximately $35,937
million with a positive mark-to-market adjustment of $81 million. An increase of 25 basis pointsin interest rates of al maturities
would lower the mark-to-market by approximately $272 million to a net loss of $191 million with the following results on our
capital ratios:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Actual Proforma® Actual Proforma®
Total shareholders equity to total 8SSets...........cocoeevicciiinicciccce, 10.19% 10.12% 9.14% 9.10%
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets........ccccevveveeennenn. 12.05 11.98 10.33 10.27

@ Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, including foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices, interest rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios. Exposure
to market risk is separated into two portfolios:

»  Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of customer-derived positions.

* Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercia banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and hel d-to-maturity.

There have been no material changes to our approach towards market risk management since December 31, 2014. See “Risk
Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Value at Risk VaR isatechnique that estimates the potential 10sses on risk positions as aresult of movementsin market rates and
prices over a specified time horizon and to agiven level of confidence. VaR is calculated for all trading positions and non-trading
positions which are equally sensitive to market moves regardless of how we capitalize those exposures. VAR is calculated at a
99 percent confidence level for a one-day holding period.
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Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit derivatives, precious metals(i.e. gold, silver, platinum) in both
North America and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99% 1 day (in millions):

Trading VaR
0 4 v . . v , v ' ' -
Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15
The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:
Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)
At September 30, 2015........cccceveveeevivireeeiene $ 4 % 5 % 7 % 9 $ 7
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
AVEIAQE......oovei s 5 4 8 (10) 7
MaXIMUM......ooieiiricececeee e 6 10 15 10
MINIMUM oo 2 4 3
At December 31, 2014 ........cccooveereciiieiee e $ 5 $ 3 % 6 $ 3 $ 6

@ portfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic
market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individua risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number representsthe
benefit of portfolio diversification. Asthe maximum and minimum occur on different daysfor different risk types, it isnot meaningful to calculate aportfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ Thetotal VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading

portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Backtesting In the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we experienced two backtesting exceptions. The first loss exception
occurred in January when the Swiss Central Bank surprised the markets and lifted the Swiss Franc currency peg to the Euro. This
move of the currency pair was more extreme than any dates used in the historical VaR calculation. The second loss exception
occurred in August when losses were incurred due to extreme market volatility stemming out of Asia.

We daily validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that excludes non-
model ed items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactionsfrom the actual reported profit and loss. We would
expect on average to see two to three profits, and two to three losses, in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident level over aone-
year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to gauge how well the
models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it isimportant to note that profitsin
excess of VaR are only considered when backtesting the accuracy of models and are not used to cal culate the VaR numbers used
for risk management or capital purposes.
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Backtesting of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):

15

10

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-13 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15

= Hypothetical profit and loss VaR (99%) @ Backtesting exception

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management ("BSM™) and represents the
potential negative changesin the investment portfolio market value (which includes available for sale and held to maturity assets)
and associated hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasuries and U.S. agency mortgage
backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates, mortgage spreads, and asset swap spreads.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015 .......coiiiie $ 40 $ 31 % (20) ¢ 52
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

AVEIBOE .....vveetereietete ettt bbbt bbbttt 45 29 (22) 53
= T 110 o RS 65 37 65
MINEMUM et 30 24 38
At December 31, 2014 ........cociieeier e $ 47 % 26 $ 28) $ 45

@ Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR a so includestheinterest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transferred priced into BSM which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion on how interest
rate risk is managed, please refer to the “ Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Trading Portfolio MSRs Trading occursin mortgage banking operations as aresult of an economic hedging program intended to
offset changes in the value of mortgage servicing rights. Economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell
residential mortgages and derivative instruments used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit
float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are separately recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing
rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will decline as a result of actual and expected
acceleration of prepayment of the underlying loansin afalling interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset
changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number
of risk assessment techniques.

The following table reflects the modeling techniques, primarily rate shock analyses, used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios
for their impact on the economic value of net hedged M SRs:

135



HSBC USA Inc.

September 30, December 31,
2015

2014
(in millions)
Projected change in net market value of hedged M SRs portfolio (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1 and January 1):
Value of hedged M SRS POITFOII0.......couciiieiriiiriiese et $ 130 $ 159
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve:
Change limit (N0 WOrSE than)..........ccccviiiiiii e (10) (10)

Calculated change in Net Market VAIUE ........c..cueieieieice s — —
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (N0 WOrSE than).........cccovrucieiiiiiiciii s 4) (4

Calculated change in Net Market VaIUE ...........cooieiiiiie e — —
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve;

Change limit (N0 WOrSe than)..........cccciuiiiiiii e 6) (6)

Calculated change in Net Market VAIUE ...........cueieieieicece s 1 3

The economic value of the net hedged M SRs portfolio is monitored on adaily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic
value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/
or corrective actions are required.

Thefollowing table summarizes the frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of the M SR asset during the nine months
ended September 30, 2015. Thisincludes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of
the underlying hedging positions used to hedgethe asset. The changesin economic value are adjusted for changesin M SR valuation
assumptions that were made during the course of the year.

Below $(2) $0 $2 Over
Ranges of mortgage economic value from market risk-related activities $(2) to $0 to $2 to $4 $4

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading weeks market risk-related revenue was within
the StAEE FANJE........ecveeceeceee et — 9 30 — —

Fiduciary Risk To better position the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist to oversee fiduciary compliance across the fiduciary
businesses in a more consistent manner, the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist transitioned from reporting to the U.S. Head of
Operational Risk to reporting to the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance beginning in 2015. Further, the Fiduciary Risk
Management Committeeis now chaired by the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance. There have been no other material changes
to our approach toward fiduciary risk since December 31, 2014.

Operational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward operational risk since December 31, 2014.
Compliance Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward compliance risk since December 31, 2014.
Reputational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward reputational risk since December 31, 2014.
Strategic Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward strategic risk since December 31, 2014.

Security and Fraud Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward security and fraud risk since December
31, 2014.

Model Risk There have been no material changes to our approach to model risk since December 31, 2014.

Pension Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward pension risk since December 31, 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

Thefollowing table summarizes the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liahilities and shareholders' equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on ataxable
equivalent basis, which resulted in increasesto interest income on securities of $3 million and $9 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, and increasesto interest income on securities of $3 million and $12 million during
thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Net interest margin iscal culated by dividing net interest income
by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 included fees of $18 million and $51 million, respectively, compared with fees of $14 million and $48 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ...........cccooveerieeninieeseeenns . $ 3503 $ 23 26% $ 27435 $ 19 27%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 5,781 7 .45 1,488 3 .73
Trading SECUMTIES ...ttt 10,340 75 2.87 9,810 63 257
Securities 48,743 237 1.94 43,474 185 1.69
Loans:
COMMENCIB] ..ttt 64,318 356 2.20 53,982 304 223
Consumer:
Residential MOMQagES ........cerereeueeririeereeieie st 17,382 143 3.28 16,320 138 3.37
HOME eqUity MOMJAgES........covrveueererieereeieiee ettt 1,660 14 3.22 1,875 16 3.37
CrEAIL CAITS........ceceeeeceeteireeee bbb 681 18 10.73 679 18 10.44
OtNEr CONSUMES ......oviiirieieieie et 496 8 5.83 526 7 5.16
TOtEl CONSUME ...t 20,219 183 3.59 19,400 179 3.66
TOLAl TOBNS... ettt 84,537 539 2.53 73,382 483 2.61
OLNEY ...t 2,563 15 2.33 3,118 9 1.26
Total iNtErest @arNING GSSELS.......cccvueeirerriiecierieese sttt sssssessssseans 186,999 $ 896 1.90% 158,707 $ 762 1.91%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ... (644) (621)
Cash and due from DanKS ..........ccccieeiieicire e 843 938
OLNEN @SSELS......vueeeeieetetritiet ettt 13,719 19,932
TOLAI ASSELS ...ttt "$ 200,917 $ 178,956
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINGS AEPOSIES ......ovueeeieiicie ettt nnenas $ 49,079 $ 31 25% $ 42355 $ 13 .12%
TIME AEPOSITS....cvvueaeteereie bbb 28,619 43 .61 18,233 21 45
Other interest bearing dePOSItS. ........coreirririiree e 4,263 — — 4,170 1 A1
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dEPOSITS. ......c.coirururiririrererieiee e 7,056 2 .09 6,270 — .02
Other interest bearing dePOSItS. ........covriririreiree e 3,218 1 14 6,432 2 .10
Total interest DEAriNG dEPOSITS. ......c.cueeririeirerireiree e 92,235 77 .33 77,460 37 .19
ShOrt-term DOMTOWINGS .....c.cveririreeiee e 10,750 13 43 16,037 11 .28
LONG-OMM DL ...ttt 32,332 184 2.26 25,000 165 2.63
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ... 135,317 274 .80 118,497 213 71
Tax liabilities and OthEr ..........ocieeureeieeirc e 631 2 2.06 627 3 1.63
Total interest bearing li@bilities.........cccoveiirriire e 135,948 276 .81 119,124 216 .72
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 620 1.09% $ 546 1.19%
NONINtErest DEAIMNG QEPOSILS.........coervveereseeeeeeseeeseseseesesseeeseesseeseessseesseeseeeeens 3348 30653
Other [18DIITIES......cveieeeeerictee e 10,709 12,223
Total sharehOlders’ EUILY.........cerireruierrirereriree e 20,775 16,956
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity...........cccccevrerrrreenseeeeeeieens "$ 200,917 $ 178,956
Net interest Margin on average EarNiNg aSSELS ................vveeerereeererseeesseseesnne - 131% 1.37%
Net interest income to average total @SSELS.........coveererieeririrenesseesseee e T 122% T 121%
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With banks ............ccccvivrcicce $ 33689 $ 65 26% $ 25454 $ 51 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 3,626 13 .46 1,421 7 .68
Trading SECUMTIES ....cuuvevnierrciiecetic et 12,390 261 2.81 11,473 176 2.05
SECUMTIES ..ttt bbb 48,318 666 1.84 49,209 595 1.62
Loans:
COMMENCIBL ..ot 62,507 1,010 2.16 51,885 886 2.28
Consumer:
Residential MOMQAgES ........cuvveerieererreieirtie e 17,137 426 3.33 16,100 410 3.41
HOME EQUItY MOIgagES......cvrveeereririreeereeiereeree e see e ssesene s 1,703 42 3.29 1,924 49 3.39
CrEit CAITS.....o. vt 678 55 10.88 684 52 10.21
Other consumer ... . 512 22 5.69 542 21 5.20
TOLA CONSUMET ...ttt 20,030 545 3.64 19,250 532 3.70
TOLA 10BNS.....oveeete ettt 82,537 1,555 2.52 71,135 1,418 2.67
Other ..o . 2,840 44 2.05 3,329 31 124
Total iNtEreSt @arNING ASSELS......veureerreeereerrerireereeresereesesesssessesssssessesssssessesanens 183,400 $ 2,604 1.90% 162,021 $ 2278 1.88%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ........ovrirrerirerciere e (674) (590)
Cash and due from banks..... . 864 945
ONET BSSELS......oeeseeeetiese ettt 15,290 20,778
TOLAI ASSELS......cevreceereereeee e m m
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINGS AEPOSITS ... $ 45567 $ 66 19% $ 42800 $ 38 .12%
Time deposits.........coceveenenees . 27,506 101 49 17,217 60 46
Other interest bearing dePOSITS........c.cvurueieiririririeieeeiei e 4,421 3 .10 4,097 4 12
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dePOSIES.........covi e 6,894 3 .05 7,138 1 .03
Other interest bearing deposits 3,890 4 13 5,826 5 A1
Total interest bearing dePOSIES.........ovurvrererirrerirerereres s 88,278 177 .27 77,078 108 .19
Short-term borrowings . 14,861 35 .30 22,214 27 A7
LONG-EM AL ...t 31,036 524 2.26 23,422 487 2.78
Totdl interest bearing deposits and debt ...........cvveverereriririerieeeeeeee 134,175 736 .73 122,714 622 .68
Tax liahilitiesand other..........ccocvverneee . 718 10 1.88 952 (91) (12.87)
Total interest bearing liaDilitieS..........covvvverirrecrre s 134,893 746 74 123,666 531 .57
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 1,858 1.16% $ 1,747 1.31%
Noninterest bearing deposits 31907 — - 30188 ~—
Other @I lItIES.......cveeereceiiee s 12,371 12,466
Total shareh0lders’ EQUITY.........cvuvererereririrerirres et 19,709 16,834
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.... . m m
Net interest Margin on average €arning aSSELS ...............ovveeeereeesssresssseseeenne - 1.35% — 1.44%
Net interest income to average total assetS.........coovveverererenerenenerenissesessesesenenens T 1.5% T 128%

@ Rates are calculated on amounts that have not been rounded to the nearest million.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item isincluded within Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operationsin the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk" and "Market Risk".

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
ExchangeAct of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported on atimely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors,
provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by thisreport. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by thisreport so asto alert themin atimely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There has been no changein our interna control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2015 that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 19, “Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on page 75
for our legal proceedings disclosure, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
issuer registered with the SEC to discloseinitsannual or quarterly reportswhether it or any of itsaffiliateshave knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entitiestargeted by U.S. sanctions programsrelating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliatesin compliance with local laws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HSBC USA Inc. did not engage in any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r)
other than those activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described
under “Frozen Accounts and Transactions’ below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response
to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Finance division of the HSBC Group arranged or participated
in aportfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these |oans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies and have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, the HSBC
Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies and, in all cases,
with appropriate regulatory approvals. Details of these loans follow.

At September 30, 2015, the HSBC Group had 10 |oans outstanding to an I ranian petrochemical company. Theseloansare supported
by the following countries' official export credit agencies: the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands, South
Korea, and Japan. The HSBC Group continues to seek repayments from the Iranian company under the outstanding loans in
accordance with their original maturity profiles. All repayments made by the company have been received under a license or an
authorization from the relevant authorities.

Bank Méelli acted as a sub-participant in two of the aforementioned loans to the Iranian petrochemical company. No payments
have been made to Bank Mélli in the third quarter of 2015. One of the loans to the Iranian petrochemical company, supported by
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the Spanish Export Credit Agency, was fully repaid in the third quarter of 2015. Bank Saderat acted as a sub-participant on the
loanandthefinal repayment dueto thebank waspaidinto afrozen account. Therepayment wasmade under alicense or authorization
from the relevant competent authority.

Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group generated by the loans in repayment for the third quarter of 2015, which includes
interest and fees, was approximately $82,000, and net estimated profit was approximately $70,000. Whilethe HSBC Group intends
to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, all of which were entered into before the petrochemical sector of Iran was
atarget of U.S. sanctions, it does not intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guaranteesto anumber
of its non-lranian customersin Europe and the Middle East for various business activitiesin Iran. In anumber of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

The HSBC Group has worked with relevant regulatory authorities to obtain licenses where required and ensure compliance with
laws and regulations.

TheHSBC Groupreceived no measurablegrossrevenuefor thethird quarter of 2015 under thoseguaranteesand counter indemnities.
The HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit
measure. The HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities and does not intend to provide
any new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. One was canceled during the third quarter of 2015 and approximately
20 remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S. -sanctioned I ranian banks not covered el sawherein thisdisclosure
includes the following:

*  TheHSBC Groupmaintainsseveral frozenaccountsintheUnited Kingdomfor anIranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial
institution. InApril 2007, the U.K. government i ssued ali cense authorizing the HSBC Group to handl e certain transactions
(operational payments and settlement of pre-sanction transactions) for this institution. In December 2013, the U.K.
government issued anew license allowing the HSBC Group to deposit certain check payments. There was some licensed
activity in the third quarter of 2015. Estimated counter revenue to the HSBC Group in the third quarter of 2015 for this
financial ingtitution, which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately $(40,300). This customer relationship
has generated negative revenue to the HSBC Group, given the European Central Bank's negative interest rate. The HSBC
Group is currently paying the negative interest rate on behalf of thisinstitution. In the second quarter of 2015, the U.K.
governmentissued alicensetothe HSBC Groupto collect the negativeinterest ratefrom thisinstitutionand will commence
collecting the negative interest rate in the fourth quarter of 2015.

*  TheHSBC Group actsasthetrustee and administrator for apension schemeinvolving two employeesof aU.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of this scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the I ranian bank
each month and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the Iranian bank's employees. The HSBC Group runs
and operates this pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue to the
HSBC Group in the third quarter of 2015 generated by this pension scheme, which includes fees and/or commissions,
was approximately $710.

For thelranian bank rel ated-activity discussed in thissection, theHSBC Group doesnot all ocatedirect coststofeesand commissions
and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The HSBC Group intends to continue to wind down this activity,
to the extent legally permissible, and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 TheHSBC Group maintainsafrozen personal account for anindividual sanctioned
under Executive Order 13224, and by the United Kingdom and the U.N. Security Council. Activity on this account in the third
quarter of 2015 was permitted by alicense issued by the U.K. government. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit
generated in the third quarter of 2015.

Other activity The HSBC Group holds alease of branch premisesin London which it entered into in 2005 and is due to expirein
2020. Thelandlord of the premisesis owned by the Iranian government and isaspecially designated national under U.S. sanctions
programs. The HSBC Group has exercised a break clause in the lease and is in the process of exiting the property. The HSBC
Group closed the branch in the third quarter of 2014 and will terminate the rel ationship with the lessor in 2015. There was no gross
revenue or net profit to HSBC in the third quarter of 2015.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA maintain several accounts that are frozen under
relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the third
quarter of 2015. In the third quarter of 2015, the HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA a so froze payments where required under
relevant sanctions programs. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group or HSBC Bank USA.
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Item 6. Exhibits
3(1))  Articlesof Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3
(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3 to
HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits 3.2
and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).
3(ii)  Bylawsof HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).
12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred
Stock Dividends.
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS xBRL Instance Document®
101.SCH xBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document®
101.CAL xBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®
101.DEF  xBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®
101.LAB xBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document™”
101.PRE xBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document™®

@

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Index

Assets:
by business segment 45
consolidated average balances 137
fair value measurements 57
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 116
trading 10, 87
Asset-backed commercia paper conduits 50
Asset-backed securities 11, 61, 73, 128
Balance sheet:
consolidated 5
consolidated average balances 137
review 84
Basel | 121
Basel Il 121
Basel 111 48,121
Basis of reporting 83
Business:
consolidated performance review 80
Capital:
2015 funding strategy 123
common equity movements 120
consolidated statement of changes 7
regulatory capital 47
selected capital ratios 48, 81, 121, 133
Cash flow (consolidated) 8
Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements 78
Collateral — pledged assets 55
Collateralized debt obligations 68, 73, 128
Commercial banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 104
Compliancerisk 129, 136
Controls and procedures 139
Credit card fees 93
Credit quality 111
Credit risk:
adjustment 57
component of fair value option 38
concentration 26, 117
exposure 129
management 129
related contingent features 35
related arrangements 51
Current environment 80
Deferred tax assets 101
Deposits 88, 120
Derivatives:
cash flow hedges 33
fair value hedges 32
notional value 36
trading and other 34
Equity:
consolidated statement of changes 7
ratios 48, 81, 121, 133

Equity securities available-for-sale 11
Estimates and assumptions 9
Executive overview 80

Fair value measurements:

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on arecurring basis 61

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis 70

control over valuation process 126
financial instruments 59

hierarchy 57, 126

transfersinto/out of level one and two 63
transfersinto/out of level two and three 63
valuation techniques 71

Fiduciary risk 129, 136
Financial assets:

designated at fair value 36
reclassification under IFRSs 46, 83

Financial highlights metrics 80
Financial liabilities:

designated at fair value 36
fair value of financial liabilities 59

Forward looking statements 78
Funding 123

Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 38
Gains (losses) from securities 15, 93

Global Banking and Markets 46, 105
Geographic concentration of receivables 118
Goodwill 30

Guarantee arrangements 51

Impairment:

available-for-sale securities 14
credit losses 27, 91

nonperforming loans 19, 24, 26, 116
impaired loans 20, 23

Income (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value, net 38

Income tax expenses 3, 101
Intangible assets 29

Interest rate risk 129, 132
Internal control 139

Key performance indicators 80
Legal proceedings 139
Liabilities:

commitments, lines of credit 124

deposits 88, 120

financial liabilities designated at fair value 36
trading 10, 87

long-term debt 37, 42, 88, 120

short-term borrowings 42, 88, 120

Liquidity and capital resources 119

Liquidity risk 129, 130
Litigation and regulatory matters 75
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Loans:
by category 17, 85
by charge-off (net) 27, 115
by delinquency 25, 114
criticized assets 24
geographic concentration 118
held for sale 28
impaired 20
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 116
overal review 84
risk concentration 26, 117
troubled debt restructures 20

Loan impairment charges — see Provision for credit losses

Loan-to-deposits ratio 81
Loantovaue (LTV) 85
Market risk 129, 133
Market turmoil:
exposures 133
impact on liquidity risk 119
Monolineinsurers 15, 127
Mortgage lending products 17, 85
Mortgage servicing rights 29
Net interest income 89
New accounting pronouncements 77
Off balance sheet arrangements 124
Operating expenses 98
Operational risk 129, 136
Other revenue 93
Other segment results (IFRSs) 46, 109
Pension and other postretirement benefits 41
Performance, developments and trends 80
Pledged assets 55
Private banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 108
Profit (loss) before tax:
by segment — IFRSs 46
consolidated 3
Provision for credit losses 27, 91
Ratios:
capital 48, 81, 121, 133
charge-off (net) 80, 112
credit loss reserve related 112
delinquency 114
earnings to fixed charges — Exhibit 12
efficiency 80, 99
Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP resultsto IFRSs 83
Refreshed loan-to-value 85
Regulation 47, 121, 139
Related party transactions 42

Reputational risk 129, 136
Results of operations 89
Residential Mortgage Revenue 97

Retail banking and wealth management segment results (IFRSs) 46, 102

Risk elements in the loan portfolio 117
Risk management:
credit 129
compliance 129, 136
fiduciary 129, 136
interest rate 129, 132
liquidity 129, 130
market 129, 133
model 129, 136
operational 129, 136
pension 129, 136
reputational 129, 136
security and fraud risk 129, 136
strategic129, 136
Securities:
amortized cost 11
fair value 11
impairment 14
maturity analysis 16
Segment results - IFRSs basis:
retail banking and wealth management 46, 102
commercial banking 46, 104
global banking and markets 46, 105
private banking 46, 108
other 46, 109
overall summary 46, 102
Selected financial data 80
Sensitivity:
projected net interest income 132
Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 7
Statement of changes in comprehensiveincome 4
Statement of income 3
Strategic risk 129, 136
Stresstesting 122
Table of contents 2
Tax expense 3, 101
Trading:
assets 10, 87
derivatives 10, 87
liabilities 10, 87
portfolios 10
Trading revenue (net) 95
Troubled debt restructures 20
Value at risk 133
Variableinterest entities 49
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 2, 2015

HSBC USA INC.

By: /s MARK ZAESKE
Mark Zaeske
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financia Officer
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Exhibit Index
3(i) Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3
to HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits
3.2 and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC
USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).
3(ii) Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).
12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and
Preferred Stock Dividends.
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document”
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document”
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document”
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document™®
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

@ Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EXHIBIT 12

HSBC USA INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
Ratios excluding interest on deposits:

INcome from CONtINUING OPEraLiONS........coveuirieierieerieirieest ettt st se et sb ettt b e e b seebe e $ 455 % 284
INcome taX eXPENSE (DENEFIL) ......oirciieer ettt st ebe e 285 (86)
Fixed charges:
Interest on:
ShOFt-TErM DOMTOWINGS ...ttt bbb st se et e e e eae e ene 35 27
LONG-LEIN AEDL.......cveeec et 524 487
ONEISZ ...t en e 10 (91)
One third of rents, net of iINCOME fromM SUDIEASES .........cueeeviiiiecee sttt 22 22
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dEPOSITS. ... ....couereereeiriireeerere e e 591 445
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges.........ccocoovevevecnecnccnccnne $ 1331 $ 643
Ratio Of €arNiNGSt0 fIXEH CHAIGES ........c.veeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeseeeeses s sssss s sses s ssessssessssnsessnsens T 225 144
Preferred StOCK GiVIENAS™...........rreveermrreeesseeeessssses st $ 8l $ 92
Fixed charges, including preferred Stock dividends............ccveeiirinisce s $ 672 $ 535
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends...............ov.erveerrereerreeiesenneens T 198 120

Ratios including interest on deposits:

Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dePOSITS.. ..o e $ 501 $ 445
Add: INLErESE ON EPOSITS ... .cvieevieeeiietereet et r e nnne 177 108
Total fixed charges, including interest N dePOSIES..........ccvveirriireinere e $ 768 $ 553
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed Charges..............coo..oeveeeereeeererereeesssennnens $ 1331 $ 643
Add: INLErESt ON EPOSITS .....cviveiiiriirieiere bbbt b et 177 108
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, including interest on deposits... $ 1,508 $ 751
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest 0N dePOSILS.............cvvveeeereereereeeeseereesreesessneeens T 19 136
Fixed charges, including preferred Stock QiViENdS ............c...eveeereeereeeceseneeeseeeeeseseesseeesssseesssseesenens $ 672 $ 535
Add: INLErESt ON AEPOSITS .....cviviriiiriirieierieer bbbt bbbt 177 108
Fixed charges, including interest on deposits and the preferred stock dividend factor ... $ 849 $ 643
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits and preferred stock dividends......... 178 117

@ Preferred stock dividends are grossed up to their pretax equivalents.

@ During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and local tax audits resulting in the settlement of significant uncertain tax positions covering
anumber of years. As aresult, we released tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and issues under review. In addition, we released
our accrued interest associated with the tax reserves released which resulted in a $120 million benefit to interest expense in 2014.



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financia statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure control s and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financia reporting.

Date: November 2, 2015

/9 PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financia reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financia reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controlsand procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialy affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financia reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financia reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2015

/s MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2015 asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 2, 2015

/s PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2015 asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 2, 2015

/94 MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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